Christian Langner, Beate Pfau, Ronny Bakowskie, Clara Arranz und Axel Kwet

Evaluation of the Captive Breeding Potential of selected Reptile Taxa included in Appendices I and II at CITES CoP17





BfN-Skripten 609



2021

Evaluation of the Captive Breeding Potential of selected Reptile Taxa included in Appendices I and II at CITES CoP17

Christian Langner Beate Pfau Ronny Bakowskie Clara Arranz Axel Kwet



Cover picture: Shinisaurus crocodilurus (Photo: Axel Kwet)

Authors' addresses:

German Society for Herpetology and Herpetoculture e.V. (DGHT) Head International Centre for Turtle Conservation (IZS) Christian Langner Allwetterzoo Münster Altätte 23, 48727 Billerbeck E-Mail: Langner@allwetterzoo.de Dr. Beate Pfau Rathenaustrasse 14, 65326 Aarbergen E-Mail: Beate.Pfau@gmx.net **Ronny Bakowskie** Täubchenweg 12, 04317 Leipzig E-Mail: Bakowskie@web.de Ludwig-Herr-Strasse 49, 79713 Bad Säckingen Dr. Clara Arranz E-Mail: clara.arranz.10@gmail.com Dr. Axel Kwet (Geschäftsführer DGHT) DGHT-office Vogelsang 27, 31020 Salzhemmendorf E-Mail: kwet@dght.de Scientific Supervision at BfN:

Dr. Mona van Schingen-Khan

Division II 1.1 "Wildlife Conservation"

This study was funded by the German Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety as Research & Development project (no. FKZ 35 1853 2011).

This publication is included in the literature database "DNL-online" (www.dnl-online.de)

BfN-Skripten are not available in book trade. A pdf version can be downloaded from the internet at: http://www.bfn.de/skripten.html.

Publisher: Bundesamt für Naturschutz (BfN) Federal Agency for Nature Conservation Konstantinstrasse 110 53179 Bonn, Germany URL: http://www.bfn.de

The publisher takes no guarantee for correctness, details and completeness of statements and views in this report as well as no guarantee for respecting private rights of third parties. Views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the publisher.



This series is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons License Attribution – No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY - ND 4.0) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nd/4.0/deed.en).

Printed by the printing office of the Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety

Printed on 100% recycled paper.

ISBN 978-3-89624-370-6

DOI 10.19217/skr609

Bonn, Germany 2021

Contents

Preface	6
Aims of the Project	7
Methods	8
Target Species	9
Glossary	10
Symbols Evaluating the Captive Breeding Potential	10
Relevant CITES Source Codes	10
Abbreviations and Technical Terms	10
Glossary References	13
Lizards – Anguidae	14
Abronia anzuetoi CAMPBELL & FROST, 1993	14
Abronia aurita (COPE, 1869)	16
Abronia bogerti TIHEN, 1954	20
Abronia campbelli BRODIE & SAVAGE, 1993	22
Abronia chiszari Sмітн & Sмітн, 1981	25
Abronia cuetzpali CAMPBELL, SOLANO-ZALAVETA, FLORES-VILLELA, CAVIEDES-SOLIS & FROST, 2016	s 27
Abronia deppii (WIEGMANN, 1828)	29
Abronia fimbriata (COPE, 1885)	32
Abronia frosti CAMPBELL, SASA, ACEDO & MENDELSON, 1998	35
Abronia fuscolabialis (Тінел, 1944)	37
Abronia gaiophantasma CAMPBELL & FROST, 1993	39
Abronia graminea (COPE, 1864)	41
Abronia leurolepis CAMPBELL & FROST, 1993	45
Abronia lythrochila SMITH & ALVAREZ DEL TORO, 1963	47
Abronia martindelcampoi FLORES-VILLELA & SANCHEZ 2003	51
Abronia matudai (Hartweg & Tihen, 1946)	55
Abronia meledona CAMPBELL & BRODIE, 1999	57
Abronia mitchelli CAMPBELL, 1982	59
Abronia mixteca Bogert & Porter, 1967	61
Abronia montecristoi HIDALGO, 1983	64
Abronia oaxacae (Günther, 1885)	66
Abronia ochoterenai (MARTIN DEL CAMPO, 1939)	70

Abronia ornelasi CAMPBELL, 1984	72
Abronia ramirezi CAMPBELL, 1994	74
Abronia reidi Werler & Shannon, 1961	76
Abronia salvadorensis HIDALGO, 1983	78
Abronia smithi CAMPBELL & FROST, 1993	80
Abronia taeniata (WIEGMANN, 1828)	83
Abronia vasconcelosii (BOCOURT, 1872)	86
Chamaeleonidae	90
Rhampholeon acuminatus MARIAUX & TILBURY, 2006	90
Rhampholeon beraduccii MARIAUX & TILBURY, 2006	93
Rhampholeon boulengeri STEINDACHNER, 1911	95
Rhampholeon bruessoworum BRANCH, BAYLISS & TOLLEY, 2014	
Rhampholeon chapmanorum TILBURY, 1992	100
Rhampholeon gorongosae BROADLEY, 1971	103
Rhampholeon hattinghi TILBURY & TOLLEY, 2015	105
Rhampholeon marshalli BOULENGER, 1906	107
Rhampholeon maspictus BRANCH, BAYLISS & TOLLEY, 2014	110
Rhampholeon moyeri MENEGON, SALVIDIO & TILBURY, 2002	112
Rhampholeon nchisiensis (LOVERIDGE, 1953)	116
Rhampholeon nebulauctor BRANCH, BAYLISS & TOLLEY, 2014	119
Rhampholeon platyceps GÜNTHER, 1893	121
Rhampholeon spectrum (BUCHHOLZ, 1874)	124
Rhampholeon spinosus (MATSCHIE, 1892)	128
Rhampholeon temporalis (MATSCHIE, 1892)	132
Rhampholeon tilburyi BRANCH, BAYLISS & TOLLEY, 2014	136
Rhampholeon uluguruensis TILBURY & EMMRICH, 1996	139
Rhampholeon viridis MARIAUX & TILBURY, 2006	142
Rieppeleon brachyurus (GÜNTHER, 1893)	145
Rieppeleon brevicaudatus (MATSCHIE, 1892)	149
<i>Rieppeleon kerstenii</i> (PETERS, 1868)	153
Gekkonidae	157
Cnemaspis psychedelica GRISMER, NGO & GRISMER, 2010	157
Lygodactylus williamsi Loveridge, 1952	161
Paroedura masobe NUSSBAUM & RAXWORTHY, 1994	165
Lanthanotidae	

Lanthanotus borneensis (STEINDACHNER, 1878)	169
Shinisauridae	174
Shinisaurus crocodilurus AHL, 1930	174
Snakes – Viperidae	180
Atheris desaixi ASHE, 1968	180
Bitis worthingtoni Parker, 1932	183
Turtles – Trionychidae	187
Cyclanorbis elegans (GRAY, 1869)	187
Cyclanorbis senegalensis (DUMÉRIL & BIBRON, 1835)	190
Cycloderma aubryi (DUMÉRIL, 1856)	193
Cycloderma frenatum PETERS, 1854	196
Rafetus euphraticus (DAUDIN, 1801)	199
<i>Trionyx triunguis</i> (Forskål, 1775)	202
Testudo horsfieldii GRAY, 1844	205
Appendix	212
Bibliography on <i>Shinisaurus crocodilurus</i>	212
Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for Cyclanorbis elegans	219
Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for Cyclanorbis senegalensis	221
Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for Cycloderma aubryi	223
Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for Cycloderma frenatum	225
Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for <i>Rafetus euphraticus</i>	226
Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for <i>Trionyx triunguis</i>	230
Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for Testudo horsfieldii	236

Preface

The European Union (EU) is one of the global major importers of living reptiles, as well as their parts and products (such as leather). The Convention of International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES) regulates the international trade in species listed in the Appendices of the convention.

Since several years, a shift of the international reptile trade from wild specimens towards specimens bred in captivity is recognized. About 83% of traded reptiles are claimed not to be of "wild" source. However, these source codes are in some cases highly questionable. As such, the verification of the captive breeding of specimens poses an increasing challenge to national and international CITES authorities and became of increasing significance for the work of international bodies of the convention.

Comprehensive information on the reproduction and husbandry requirements of traded species are crucial for making plausibility findings of captive breeding data. However, especially for species that are rarely kept in captivity, newly described or poorly studied, the relevant data is lacking or not accessible.

As Germany further is a main transit country in the reptile trade within the EU, the country has a high responsibility for the conservation of traded species. Therefore, the present guidance for CITES authorities has been developed to improve the plausibility finding of the captive breeding of selected species.

There are several specialist keepers in Germany, who have great experience in keeping and breeding of rare reptile taxa, however in many cases these data remain unpublished.

The German Society of Herpetology and Herpetoculture (DGHT) has thus been commissioned to requested relevant reproduction data from private keepers and zoological institutions, to carry out a literature survey and together with their own expertise develop the current guidance. The selection of species for which these data were collected included those reptile taxa, which were included or uplisted in the CITES Appendices I and II at the previous CITES CoP17. This contribution should assist CITES authorities in carrying out the plausibility check for the captive breeding and should improve the implementation of the CITES convention.

Prof. Dr. Beate Jessel

President of the Federal Agency for Nature Conservation

Aims of the Project

Germany ranks amongst the major importers of live reptiles for the pet industry both within the EU and on a global scale. One particular problem here is the trade in wild-caught specimens that are furnished with fake certificates of origin and are declared as captive-bred (e.g., "farmed") stocks, as this effectively thwarts in part the aims of CITES (Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora) intended to protect certain species by keeping wild-caught specimens of these out of the commercial trade or at least requiring that strict preconditions be met (Appendix I, A), or to facilitate only their sustainable, controlled trade (Appendix II, B). National and international CITES authorities and scientific institutions within Germany and the EU are thus faced to an ever-increasing extent with questions related to the verification and validation of allegedly captive-bred specimens of CITES listed reptile species.

The DGHT has, in the framework of its Project "Evaluation of the captive breeding potential of selected Reptile Taxa included in Appendices I and II at CITES CoP17 (FKZ 3518 53 2011)", conducted a pilot project on the concrete evaluation of this situation in the CITES-relevant reptile species mentioned below. The project goal here has been to compile all available data and information on the reproduction biology and breeding ability of the species listed in the CITES Appendices I and II at CoP17 in 2016.

The sources of information on each species, which were compiled fort he first time in this comprehensiveness for the first time within this project, are meant to provide scientists and the representatives of authorities with a basis upon which they may evaluate the plausibility of alleged captive-bred specimens from questionable sources and uncover misrepresented specimens in the future. To this end, fact sheets on each species have been authored in both German and English, and corresponding ID photographs have been made available as JPEGs. A simple traffic light labelling system furthermore facilitates an evaluation of the degree of difficulty and frequency of successful captive breeding of these species in captivity and/or the quantities of captive offspring obtainable under various husbandry conditions.

Methods

As a first step, a questionnaire on breeding characteristics, provided by the BfN has been amended to the three relevant taxonomic groups of reptiles, i.e., lizards, snakes, and chelonians, obtaining consent from the BfN on a coordination meeting in November of 2018, and then mailing these sheets to private breeders and zoological gardens. In addition, numerous breeders in Germany, Europe and North America were contacted personally (by E-mail or phone), because the return rate of completed questionnaires was rather poor.

A close cooperation with the different DGHT Work Groups was essential in order to identify relevant persons, which could aid to create reproducible data pools. Amongst their members, experts can be found who focus in particular on the taxa that are to be evaluated (especially in the Work Groups Chelonians, Snakes, Lizards, and Chameleons). These work groups consist of numerous interested, specialist and experienced keepers, who party have been focusing on the captive breeding and husbandry of certain species for decades. As such, these breeders tend to be firmly embedded in partly far-reaching networks within the private "breeder scene". The DGHT Work Groups benefit from comprehensive sources of information, such as experiences in the successful captive breeding and research on certain taxa for decades. For example, the Work Group Chelonians has been gathering data and consolidating these in captive breeding statistics for more than fourty years.

Being the largest herpetological society in the world, the DGHT with its scientific flagship journal "Salamandra" is furthermore renowned for its excellent cooperation and networking on an international scale. Many DGHT members in fact participate in an active manner in international captive-breeding projects, one example being *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*, within the framework of the European Studbook Foundation.

Based on questionnaires returned as well as numerous E-mails and information obtained via phone, the second stage consisted of incorporating information obtained from subject literature (following extensive literature research), and pooling everything in species-specific accounts that now contain all presently available data on reproduction-related parameters. Each species-specific account includes a photograph, data on its natural habitat and distribution, threat status, all relevant and available information on its reproduction both in the wild and in human care, and a species-specific list of references (a complete list was added as an appendix for some species).

Target Species

CITES Appendix I (A: The commercial trade in individuals taken from nature is by default illegal, but the trade in captive-bred specimens and for non-commercial purposes may be sanctioned in exceptional instances, necessitating both export and import permits, is subject to strict controls, and is only permissible if such will conform to national legislation and not compromise the continued existence of the respective species in the wild) lists the following reptile species (as of CITES CoP17):

- Abronia anzuetoi, A. campbelli, A. fimbriata, A. frosti, A. meledona,
- Cnemaspis psychedelica,
- Shinisaurus crocodilurus (from CITES Appendix II to Appendix I),
- Lygodactylus williamsi.

CITES Appendix II (B: Sustainable use and controlled commercial trade are permissible if such will not compromise the continued existence of the respective species in the wild, necessitating export permits from the exporting country, monitoring measures, and clearance certification) lists the following reptile species (as of CITES CoP17):

- all other species of Abronia (actually 24 taxa) if not listed in Appendix I,
- Paroedura masobe,
- all species in the genus Rhampholeon (18 taxa) and genus Rieppeleon (3 taxa),
- Lanthanotus borneensis,
- Atheris desaixi,
- Bitis worthingtoni,
- six species of softshell turtles from Africa and Asia, Cyclanorbis elegans, C. senegalensis, Cycloderma aubryi, Cycloderma frenatum, Trionyx triunguis, Rafetus euphraticus.

In addition, a further fact sheet has been produced for the highly trade-relevant *Testudo horsfieldii* of the family Testudinidae.

Glossary

Symbols Evaluating the Captive Breeding Potential



This species is easily maintained and bred in captivity, but not necessarily a species for beginners.



This species is easy to maintain and breed by an expertised keeper, if the required conditions are given. Not for beginners or laity persons.



The species can be kept and bred in captivity, but its requirements are solely achievable by specialized and experienced keepers. The species is estimated as impossible to be bred commercially in large numbers.

X As far as known, no keeping and breeding experience for the species is established.

Relevant CITES Source Codes

С	CITES Source code "captive bred" (use i.e. in CITES Trade database); specimens, which were born or hatched under controlled settings and comply with the requirements for the origin "C" according to the ITES Res. Conf. 10.16. This labeling should not get mixed up with the German term NZ (Nachzucht)
F	CITES Source code "Captive born"; specimens born or hatched under controlled settings, which do meet the requirements for "C" (vid. sup.) according CITES Res. Conf. 10.16.
I	CITES Source code for confiscated or seized specimens
0	CITES Source code for pre-convention; the specimen was obtained before CITES listing of the species
R	CITES Source code "ranched"; eggs larvae or juveniles were taken from the wild and were raised under controlled captive conditions. Usually some part of the raised adults is exposed back to the wilderness
W	CITES Source code for wild caught animals

Abbreviations and Technical Terms

ರೆ; ರೆರೆ	One male; several males
२; २२	One female; several females
1.2.3	Group composition; first position: number of males, second position: number of females, third position: number of juveniles of unknown sex
Adult; Adultus	Full grown resp. sexually mature specimen(s)

Aquatic	Living in water (semi-aquatic: spending parts of their time or life-cycle in water)
Arboricol	Arboreal; living in trees
Autopsy	An autopsy or post-mortem examination is a surgical procedure that consists of a thorough examination of a corpse by dissection to determine the cause, mode and manner of death or to evaluate any disease or injury that may be present for research or educational purposes
Captive breeding	(Continuous) reproduction of a species in captivity
Carapax	Carapace of turtles and tortoises
СВ	Captive bred
CL	Carapace length (length of turtles and tortoises)
Cloaca	A cloaca is the posterior orifice that serves as the only opening for the digestive, reproductive, and urinary tracts of many vertebrate animals (all amphibians and reptiles); opening at the vent
Dorsal	Anatomical term of location referring to the back or upper side of an organism
Endoscopy	The endoscopy procedure uses an endoscope to examine the interior of a hollow organ or cavity of the body with the help of an optical probe head
Epiphyte	An epiphyte is an organism that grows on the surface of a plant and derives its moisture and nutrients from the air and rain or from debris accumulating around it
F1, F2	First or second offspring generation (= filial generation)
Frontline®	Treatment agent for snake mites <i>Ophionyssus natricis</i> . Active substance is Fipronil; discuss treatment with a vet or experienced keepers
Gestation	Pregnancy
Gular fold	A transverse running fold across the throat of some lizards
Habitat preference	The habitat most likely to be chosen by a species
Hatchling	Freshly hatched juvenile
Helmet	The helmet is an attribute all chameleons possess at the back of the head
Hemipenis	A hemipenis (plural hemipenes) is one of a pair of intromittent sexual organ of male squamates (snakes, lizards) exhibit
Humidity	Relative atmospheric humidity. Important for the incubation of reptile eggs
Invasive	"Penetrating" surgical intervention through the skin
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature

Lecithotrophy	A form of development in which the embryo receives no nutrition other than the yolk originally contained within its egg. Some reptile species give birth to live offspring, which were not provided with nutrients via a placenta but via the egg yolk. Offspring hatches out of the permeable egg at birth
Mimesis	The ability of a species to camouflage in its surroundings in coloration or body shape
Monotypical	A taxon, which includes just a single subordinated taxon, i.e., a genus with just one species or a species with just one subspecies
Osteoderms; Osteodermal scales	Ossified dermal scales
Ovarian follicle	An ovarian follicle is a roughly spheroid cellular aggregation set found in the ovaries
Oviparous	Egg laying
Oxytocin	Hormone (or hormone preparation). Oxytocin is used as a medication to facilitate birth
Pressure immobilisation technique	The pressure immobilisation technique is a first aid treatment used for treating spider bites, snake bites, or bee, wasp and ant stings in allergic individuals, blue ringed Octopus stings, cone shell stings, etc. The object of pressure immobilisation is to contain venom within a bitten limb and prevent it from moving through the lymphatic system to the vital organs. This therapy has two components: pressure to prevent lymphatic drainage, and immobilisation of the bitten limb to prevent the pumping action of the skeletal muscles. This method is not undisputed
Probing	Sexing method for squamates with a special needle sonde. Only recommended for experienced keepers
Rearing	To care for young animals under captive conditions until they reach maturity (rearing cannot be equated with captive breeding; see there)
Saxicolous	Stone dwelling; living or growing among rocks
Sexual dichromatism	Special form of sexual dimorphism where coloration of sexes is different
SD	Sex Determination; TSD: Temperate dependent Sex Determination
Siena	The clay soil near Siena, Italy, shows a yellowish to red brown coloration called raw siena
Sperm storage (Amphigonia retardata)	"Amphigonia retardata" is a term synonymous with "delayed fertilization" involving the storage of viable sperm by a female. More specifically, it may be defined as the union of egg and sperm after the male gametes have been retained in the

	genital tract for a considerable period after copulation. It occurs in testudines and squamates
Squamata	Squamata is the largest order of reptiles, comprising lizards and snakes, which are known as squamates or scaled reptiles. With over 10.350 recognized species
Subadult	Half grown. Sex is sometimes determinable in this stage of development
Sublabialia	Scales of bottom lips in reptiles
Supplementation	Complementation of vitamins and minerals to the food. Insects, for example, are dusted with a vitamin/mineral powder to upgrade the nutritional value
Supra-auricular scales	Spinelike scales above the auricular opening. The scale patterns of the genus <i>Abronia</i> are explained in CAMPBELL & FROST (1993), the English denomination is found in the identification guide of SÁNCHEZ-HERRERA et al. (2017)
SVL	Snout-vent length
Taxon	In biology, a taxon is a group of one or more populations of an organism or organisms seen by taxonomists to form a unit. Plural: taxa
TL	Total length
Trigger	Stimulation
Tubercle scales	Thornlike scales
Typus/type	Individual in biological nomenclature that serves to define the features of a particular taxon
Type locality	The place where a type specimen was found
Ventral	Anatomical term of location referring to the venter or lower surface of an organism
Viviparous	Live bearing
WC	Wild caught

Glossary References

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

PIEAU, C. (1996): Temperature variation and sex determination in reptiles. BioEssays 18(1): 19-26.

SÁNCHEZ- HERRERA, O., I. SOLANO-ZAVALETA, & E. RIVERA-TÉLLEZ (2017): Identification Guide for Dragons (Arboreal alligator lizards, *Abronia* spp.) regulated by CITES. Conabio, Mexico. https://cites.org/sites/default/files/eng/prog/id_material/2018-CONABIO-Abronia-EN.pdf.

Lizards – Anguidae

Abronia anzuetoi CAMPBELL & FROST, 1993

Anzueto's Arboreal Alligator Lizard

German: Anzuetos Baumschleiche

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 135 mm.

The dorsal coloration of *Abronia anzuetoi* is emerald green with individual yellowish-green dorsolateral scales. It has a yellowish eye ring, and the iris is yellow. The ventral side is also bright yellow. The scales along the ventrolateral fold are blue green in color. The characteristic yellow, spinelike supra-auricular scales classifies it into the subgenus *Aculabronia*.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Southern Central Guatemala at 1219 - 2286 m asl.

Type locality: Cloud forest at 1219 m asl on the southern slope of the volcano de Agua, Finca Rosario Vista Hermosa, District of Escuintla, Guatemala. Linear distance 12 km north-northeast of Escuintla, ca. 14° 25' N, 90° 44' W.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix I since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 25).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: s.

IUCN- Red List status: VU – Vulnerable D2 (assessed 6 May 2012).

The current status of the species is completely unknown. The IUCN assessment states that the forest where it occurs may be converted to coffee plantations if the price of coffee continues rising. With respect to this threat, there appear to be fewer than five locations.

A survey is urgently required to evaluate the real threats to this rare species, whose distribution is most likely fragmented in small areas.

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and killing by locals pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen by locals.

Reproduction

No data available.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

According to records, Abronia anzuetoi has not been kept in captivity.

Given that the species is not yet extinct, an *ex situ* breeding project is urgently recommended.

References

ARIANO-SANCHEZ, D., M. ACEVEDO & J. JOHNSON (2014): *Abronia anzuetoi*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T203012A2758569

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

KÖHLER, G. (2000): Reptilien und Amphibien Mittelamerikas, Bd. 1: Krokodile, Schildkröten, Echsen. Herpeton Verlag, Offenbach, 158 pp.

KÖHLER, G. (2008): Reptiles of Central America. 2nd Ed., Herpeton-Verlag, 400 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

Author: Christian Langner

27.07.2019

Abronia aurita (COPE, 1869)

Cope's Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Dragoncito de la Cordillera de Verapaz German: Ohrenbaumschleiche



Abronia aurita

Photo Credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 125 cm.

The dorsal coloration of *Abronia aurita* varies from green, yellowish-green to turquoise. Some of the dorsal scales possess pigmented areas. The head scales show fine pigmentation. Males head scales have commonly visible orange coloration on the pointing end. The orange coloration at the scale end can also occur along the dorsal scales, making this arboreal alligator lizard one of the most colorful species of its genus. The rostral, infralabial, ocular and supra-auricular scales are bright yellow.

The supra-auricular scales (above the auricular opening) are spinelike and classify *Abronia aurita* as one representative of the subgenus *Aculabronia*. The venter is yellowish or cream to greenish- white. The overall ground color of juveniles is light brown. They possess 8 to 10 crossbands along the dorsum. In juveniles, the spinelike ends of the supra-auricular scales are not yet developed.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Abronia aurita is found in the central plateau of Guatemala. Besides the department of Alta Verapaz in Guatemala. South east of Mexico is also listed in the Reptile Database as a possible distribution area. Yet this last locality is guestioned and to date no information sources about this locality are given. In the past Abronia vasconselosii was misallocated to A. aurita (CAMPBELL & FROST 1993). This leads to considerable misperceptions of the distribution ranges of both species, which evidently overlap and are, to date, still unclear. Meanwhile, both species are considered distinct species.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 25).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List status: EN - Endangered B1ab(iii) (assessed 6 Mai 2012).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction	
Secondary sexual traits	ହହ more slender than ଟଟ; head of ଟଟ wider and more prominent
Sexual maturity	With about 2 years
Reproduction	Viviparous
Mating season	End of summer / autumn. The copula can take several hours and even days
Birth season	March /April
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	7 - 16
Gestation period	Up to 8 months
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size / weight	3 cm / 1 g
Sperm storage	Unknown

. .

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for Reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Annual changes in temperature, illumination and watering. During the hibernation period night temperatures should be between 12 and 8 °C and day temperatures between 12 and 16 °C. An UV-radiation spot with temperatures between 25 and 30 °C should be provided. Daily water spraying during summer and every second day during hibernation is needed. It is not possible to keep several males together due to their aggressive behavior, especially during the mating season. It is recommended to generelly keep individuals separately and only keep pairs together during the mating season
Keeping difficulty	Not difficult if the above mentioned conditions are ensured. A rich diet with a variety of insects supplemented with minerals and vitamins, especially for the juveniles, is important
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	During frost-free season, individuals should be kept in vegetation rich, outdoor mesh terrariums with a minimum size of 60 x 60 x 80 cm (L x W x H). This is mandatory for all <i>Abronia</i> species. During wintertime, these enclosures should be placed in a temperate cool, but frost-protected room indoors. An UV-Spot with max. temperatures of 25-30 °C under the spot at day and nighttime cooling to temperatures below 10 °C is necessary while keeping indoors. Juveniles are kept and handled similar to adults. Due to the potential aggressive behavior, it is not recommended to keep more than three juveniles together. As soon as freezing temperatures are not expectable any more, the enclosures should be placed outdoors. Keeping of the species is only recommended for advanced and experienced keepers. Indoors keeping through the whole year is not appropriate. Typical lizard diseases such as worms and protozoans, can occur in these arboreal alligator lizards. High parasite infestation is sign of a potential illegal wild catch. Captive bred generations should be minimally infested or completely parasite free. Infestation with the snake mite Ophionyssus natricis can rapidly end fatal and should therefore be immediately treated. Frontline® has been proven to be an appropriate treatment
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (institution/private/scientist s/commercial breeder)	2

The species is kept in captivity mostly in the USA and occasionally in Europe since 2003.

References

ACEVEDO, M., D. ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ & J. JOHNSON (2013): *Abronia aurita*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013: e.T203013A2758576.

ACEVEDO, M., L.D. WILSON, E.B. CANO & C. VÁSQUEZ-ALMAZÁN (2010): Diversity and conservation status of the Guatemalan Herpetofauna. Pg. 406–435. In: WILSON, L.D., J.H. TOWNSEND & J.D. JOHNSON (Eds.): Conservation of Mesoamerican Amphibians and Reptiles. Eagle Mountain, Utah (Eagle Mountain Publishing LC.).

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CENTENERO-ALCALÁ, E., V.H. JIMÉNEZ-ARCOS, A. ESCALONA-LÓPEZ & S.S. CRUZ-PADILLA (2009): Geographic Distribution. *Abronia deppei* (Deppe's Arboreal Alligator Lizard). Herpetological Review **40**(4): 450

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Herpetologische Beobachtungen im Lebensraum von *Abronia deppii* im Valle de Bravo, Estado de México, Mexiko. Terraria-Elaphe **2014(**2): 46-55.

RAMÍREZ-BAUTISTA, A., U. HERNÁNDEZ-SALINAS, U.O. GARCÍA-VÁZQUEZ, A. LEYTE-MANRIQUE & L. CANSECO-MÁRQUEZ (2009): Herpetofauna del Valle de México: diversidad y conservación. Pachuca, Hidalgo, México (Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Hidalgo y Comisión Nacional para el Conocimiento y Uso de la Biodiversidad): 213 pp.

SCHMIDT-BALLARDO, W., I. SOLANO-ZAVALETA & A.G. CLAUSE (2015): *Abronia deppii*. Reproduction. Mesoamerican Herpetology **2**(2): 192-194.

Autor: Christian Langner

27.07.2019

Abronia bogerti TIHEN, 1954

Bogert's Arboreal Alligator Lizard German: Bogerts Baumschleiche Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Bogert



Abronia bogerti

Photo Credit: Peter Heimes

Morphology

Snout-vent length 94 mm.

The dorsal ground color of the holotype is described as greenish but the ground color of following specimens found were cream and yellowish. It has 10 to 11 brown crossbands across the dorsal. The venter is homogeneous in color but sometimes shows a faint line made of pigmented scales between the rows of scales.

Abronia bogerti is one of the three species belonging to the subgenus Scopaeabronia (CAMPBELL & FROST 1993). All three species of this subgenus, *A. bogerti, A. chiszari* and *A. ramirezi*, have an elongated body and 10 to 11 dark crossbands and have a relative short body size as indicated by the name of the subgenus (skoppaios, dwarf) (CAMPBELL & FROST 1993). A further characteristic of the species belonging to Scopaeabronia is that they occur at relative low altitudes for an Abronia, between 650 and 1500 m asl (CLAUSE *et al.* 2016).

Geographic distribution, Habitat

East of Oaxaca, border to Chiapas, Mexico. Up to date only known from Cerro Baul mountain rain forests and low cloud forests at 760 - 1500 m asl. Type locality: Sierra Atravesada, north from Niltepec, between Cerro Atravesada and Sierra Madre, Oaxaca, Mexico.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List status: DD - Data Deficient (assessed 1 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

Unknown.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No data on keeping available/ no keeping of the species is known.

References

CAMPBELL, J.A. (1982): A new species of *Abronia* (Sauria, Anguidae) from the Sierra Juarez, Oaxaca, Mexico. Herpetologica **38**(3): 355-361.

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CLAUSE, A.G., W. SCHMIDT-BALLARDO, I. SOLANO-ZAVALETA, G. JIMÉNEZ-VALÁQUEZ & P. HEIMES (2016): Morphological variation and natural history in the enigmatic lizard clade *Scopaeabronia* (Squamata: Anguidae: *Abronia*) Herpetological Review **47**(4): 536-543.

FLORES-VILLELA, O. & R.C. VOGT (1992): *Abronia chiszari* (Reptilia, Anguidae), a second specimen from the "Los Tuxtlas" region, Veracruz, Mexico. Herpetological Review **23**(2):41-42.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe **2014**(1): 14-26.

MURPHY, J.B. & H.M. SMITH (2013): Obituary: In Memoriam: David Alfred Chiszar (1944-2013), with reflections from colleagues and friends. Herpetological Review **44**(2): 186-195.

PÉREZ-HIGAREDA, G., M.A. LÓPEZ-LUNA, D. CHISZAR & H.M. SMITH (2002): Additions to and Notes on the Herpetofauna of Veracruz, Mexico. Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society **37**(4):67-68.

SMITH, H.M & R.B. SMITH (1981): Another epiphytic alligator lizard (*Abronia*) from Mexico. Bulletin of the Maryland Herpetological Society **17**(2): 51-60.

Author: Christian Langner

15.08.2019

Abronia campbelli BRODIE & SAVAGE, 1993

Campbell's Alligator Lizard German: Campbells Baumschleiche



Abronia campbelli

Photo Credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 127 mm.

The dorsal ground color is grey-brown with a yellow or yellow-green sheen. It has irregular dark dots and bands on the dorsum of the body and tail. It has a pale yellow ring around the eye. The supra-auricular scales and the venter are cream.

Abronia campbelli belongs to the subgenus Auriculabronia.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Abronia campbelli occurs east of Guatemala and up to date is only known from the Terra typica. It inhabits the isolated remnants of what it was an oak forest on an extinct volcano. Abronia campbelli live on oak trees heavily covered with epiphytes such as *Tilandsia usneoides*, which is their main microhabitat. Campbell's Alligator Lizard habitat is the driest of all arboreal alligator lizards.

Type locality: Cerro Tablón de las Minas near La Pastoría, Jalapa, Guatemala.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix I since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 25).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: CR – Critically Endangered B1ab(iii) (assessed 6 May 2012).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting from rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

The Critically Endangered *Abronia campbelli* was thought to be extinct until it was found in 2010 again. The remaining habitat should be protected and an *ex situ* breeding program is urgently needed.

Secondary sexual traits	ହହ more slender than ♂♂; head of ♂♂ wider and more prominent
Sexual maturity	With 2 - 3 years
Reproduction	Viviparous
Mating season	End of summer / autumn. The copula can take several hours and even days
Birth season	Мау
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	4 - 6
Gestation period	Ca. 8 months
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size / weight	4 cm
Sperm storage	Unknown

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Annual changes in temperature, illumination and watering. During the hibernation period, night temperatures should be between 12 and 8 °C, and day temperatures between 12 and 16 °C. An UV-radiation spot with temperatures between 25 and 30 °C should be provided. Daily water spraying during summer and every second day during hibernation is needed. It is not possible to keep several males together due to their aggressive behavior, especially during the mating season. It is recommended to keep animals separately and only during
	the mating season together

Keeping difficulty	Not difficult if the above mentioned conditions are ensured. A rich diet with a variety of insects supplemented with minerals and vitamins, especially for the juveniles, is important
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	During frost free season should be kept in vegetation rich, outdoor mesh terrariums with a minimum size of 60 x 60 x 80 cm (L x W x H). For all <i>Abronia</i> species the keeping outdoors in mesh terrarium during the frost-free season and in a cool, frost-free terrarium with daily UV-Spot place during hibernation is mandatory. Juveniles are kept and handled similar to adults. Due to the potential aggressive behavior, is not recommended to keep more than three juveniles together. As soon as outdoor temperatures are good, animals should be kept outdoors. Husbandry is only recommended for advanced keepers. Indoor keeping through the whole year is not appropriate. Typical lizard diseases such as worms and protozoans, can occur in these arboreal alligator lizards. High parasite infestation is sign of a potential illegal wild catch. New bred generations should be minimally infested or completely parasite free. Infestation with the snake mite <i>Ophionyssus natricis</i> can rapidly end fatal and should therefore be immediately treated. Frontline® has been proven to be an appropriate treatment
Number of evaluated questionnaires	3

Abronia campbelli is rarely kept and bred in Europe and USA.

References

ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ, D., J. JOHNSON & M. ACEVEDO (2013): *Abronia campbelli*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013: e.T203014A2758583.

ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ, D. & L. MELENDEZ (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung *Abronia* in Guatemala. Terraria-Elaphe **2014** (3): 44-48.

ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ, D. & M. TORRES-ALMAZÁN (2010): Rediscovery of *Abronia campbelli* (Sauria: Anguidae) from a pine-oak forest in Southeastern Guatemala: Habitat characterization, natural history, and the conservation status. Herpetological Review **41** (3): 290-292.

BRODIE E. D. & R.F. SAVAGE (1993): A new species of *Abronia* (Squamata: Anguidae) from a dry oak forest in eastern Guatemala. Herpetologica **49** (4): 420-427.

GOOD, D.A. (1988): Phylogenetic relationships among gerrhonotine lizards; an analysis of external morphology. University of California Publications in Zoology **121**: 139 pp.

KÖHLER, G. (2000): Reptilien und Amphibien Mittelamerikas, Band 1: Krokodile, Schildkröten, Echsen. Herpeton Verlag, Offenbach, 158 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe **2014**(1): 14-26.

LOCK, B. & M. TORRES (2016): Projekt zum Schutz der vom Aussterben bedrohten Baumschleiche *Abronia campbelli* im Osten Guatemalas. Terraria-Elaphe **2016**(6): 72-79.

Author: Christian Langner

27.07.2019

Abronia chiszari Smith & Smith, 1981

Chiszar's Arboreal Alligator Lizard German: Chiszars Baumschleiche Spanisch: Escorpión Arborícola de Chiszar



Abronia chiszari

Photo Credit: Peter Heimes

Morphology

Snout-vent length 147 mm.

The holotype, a subadult female, is 40.5 mm SVL. The dorsal crossbands are dark brown. The dark areas are 3 scales wide, and are interrupted by one and a half row of scales of bright color. The venter is cream white and the head is dark brown. Two specimens were found in 2002 which helped to describe the color in life. Yellow flecking on the head and body was described in those two specimens. The iris is yellow.

Abronia chiszari is one of the three species belonging to the subgenus Scopaeabronia (CAMPBELL & FROST 1993). All three species of this subgenus, *A. bogerti, A. chiszari* and *A. ramirezi*, have an elongated body and 10 to 11 dark crossbands and have a relative short body as indicated by the name of the subgenus (skoppaios, dwarf) (CAMPBELL & FROST 1993). A further characteristic of the species belonging to Scopaeabronia is that they occur at relative low altitudes for an Abronia, between 650 and 1500 m asl (CLAUSE *et al.* 2016).

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Only known in the surroundings of Catemaco by the volcano Santa Marta, in Sierra de los Tuxtlas, Veracruz, Mexico, between 360 to 800 m asl.

Type locality: 2.5 Miles east of Cuetzalapan, Veracruz, Mexico at 360 m asl. CAMPBELL (1982) doubts that this is the exact origin, because the specimen was found on a bumper of a vehicle and could have come from a higher location.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List status: EN – Endangered B1ab(iii) (assessed 1 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

Unknown.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No data on keeping available/ no keeping of the species is known.

References

CAMPBELL, J.A. (1982): A new species of *Abronia* (Sauria, Anguidae) from the Sierra Juarez, Oaxaca, Mexico. Herpetologica **38**(3) 1982: 355-361

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CLAUSE, A.G., W. SCHMIDT-BALLARDO, I. SOLANO-ZAVALETA, G. JIMÉNEZ-VALÁQUEZ & P. HEIMES (2016): Morphological variation and natural history in the enigmatic lizard clade *Scopaeabronia* (Squamata: Anguidae: *Abronia*) Herpetological Review **47**(4): 536-543.

FLORES-VILLELA, O. & R.C. VOGT (1992): *Abronia chiszari* (Reptilia, Anguidae), a second specimen from the "Los Tuxtlas" region, Veracruz, Mexico. Herpetological Review **23**(2):41-42.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

LOPEZ-LUNA, M.A., O. FLORES-VILLELA & D.R. FROST (2007): *Abronia chiszari*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63675A12706244.

MURPHY, J.B. & H.M. SMITH (2013): Obituary: In Memoriam: David Alfred Chiszar (1944-2013), with reflections from colleagues and friends. Herpetological Review **44**(2): 186-195.

PÉREZ-HIGAREDA, G., M.A. LÓPEZ-LUNA, D. CHISZAR & H.M. SMITH (2002): Additions to and Notes on the Herpetofauna of Veracruz, Mexico. Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society **37**(4):67-68.

SMITH, H.M & R.B. SMITH (1981): Another epiphytic alligator lizard (*Abronia*) from Mexico. Bulletin of the Maryland Herpetological Society **17**(2): 51-60.

Author: Christian Langner

15.08.2019

Abronia cuetzpali CAMPBELL, SOLANO-ZALAVETA, FLORES-VILLELA, CAVIEDES-SOLIS & FROST, 2016

Cuetzpal's Arboreal Alligator Lizard German: Cuetzpals Baumschleiche Spanisch: Escorpión Arborícola de Cuetzpal



Abronia cuetzpali

Photo Credit: Israel Solano

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 115 mm.

The ground color of the dorsum is brown with seven crossbands heavily flecked with black. Some of the head scales are green-yellow. The venter is white. The iris is white with a slight yellowish-green sheen up to silver-white. The snout is grey with 15 slightly irregular blacked flecked crossbands. Within the subgenus *Abronia*, it belongs to the *Abronia deppii* group.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Up to date, only known from Sierra Madre del Sur, Oaxaca de Santa Catarina Juquila to San Miguel Suchixtepec. At elevations between 1711 - 2150 m asl in pine-oak mixed forests.

Type locality: Near San Miguel Suchixtepec, Sierra de MiahuatlEan, ca. 2 km west from Rio Molino, Sierra Madre del Sur, Oaxaca, Mexico, at 2150 m asl (16.08439°N, 96.49042°W).

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN – Red List status: No classification available.

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

Unknown.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No keeping known.

References

CAMPBELL, J.A., I. SOLANO-ZAVALETA, O. FLORES-VILLELA, I.W. CAVIEDES-SOLIS & D.R. FROST (2016): A New Species of *Abronia* (Squamata: Anguidae) from the Sierra Madre del Sur of Oaxaca, Mexico. Journal of Herpetology **50** (1): 149-156.

SÁNCHEZ-HERRERA, O. & W.C. LÓPEZ-FORMENT (1980). The lizard *Abronia deppei* (Sauria; Anguidae) in the state of Mexico, with the restriction of its type locality. Bulletin of the Maryland Herpetological Society **16**(3): 83-87.

Author: Christian Langner

13.08.2019

Abronia deppii (WIEGMANN, 1828)

Deppe's Arboreal Alligator Lizard German: Deppes Baumschleiche Spanisch: Escorpión Arborícola de Deppe



Abronia deppii

Photo Credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 115 mm.

The dorsal ground color is black and white, rarely brown flecked. Strong sexual dichromatism. The venter of males is bright orange-red, especially during the mating season. Some dorsal scales can also be orange. The venter of females is cream. Juveniles have accentuated white and black crossbands. A specimen with grey head is known from Michoacán.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

North of Guerrero, Department in Mexico, north Morelos, Michoacán. Oak-pine mixed forests and cloud forest up to 2450 m asl.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN – Endangered B1ab(iii) (assessed 01 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Secondary sexual traits	୧୨ more slender than ଟଟ; head of ଟଟ wider and more prominent; sexual dichromatism (see above)
Sexual maturity	After ca. 2 years of age
Reproduction	Viviparous. The copula can take several hours and even days
Mating season	End of summer / autumn
Birth season	March / April
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	2 - 8
Gestation period	6 - 8 months
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size / weight	3 cm / 1 g
Mortality	Fluctuating, between 0 % und 100 %
Sperm storage	Unknown

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Annual changes in temperature, illumination and watering. During the hibernation period night temperatures should be between 12 and 8 °C and day temperatures between 12 and 16 °C. An UV-radiation spot with temperatures between 25 and 30 °C should be provided. Daily water spraying during summer and every second day during hibernation is needed. It is not possible to keep several males together due to their aggressive behavior, especially during the mating season. 1.1 or small groups of 1.2 are preferable and can easily kept together year-round
Keeping difficulty	Not difficult if the above mentioned conditions are ensured. A rich diet with a variety of insects supplemented with minerals and vitamins, especially for the juveniles, is important
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	During frost-free season, individuals should be kept in vegetation rich, outdoor mesh terrariums with a minimum size of 60 x 60 x 80 cm (L x W x H). This is mandatory for all <i>Abronia</i> species. During wintertime, these enclosures should be placed in a temperate cool but frost-protected room indoors. An UV-spot with max. temperatures of 25 - 30 °C

	under the spot at day and nighttime cooling to temperatures below 10 °C is necessary while keeping indoors. Juveniles are kept and handled similar to adults. Due to the potential aggressive behavior, it is not recommended to keep more than three juveniles together. As soon as freezing temperatures are not expectable any more, the enclosures should be placed outdoors. Keeping of the species is only recommended for advanced and experienced keepers. Indoor keeping through the whole year is not appropriate. Typical lizard diseases such as worms and protozoans, can occur in these arboreal alligator lizards. High parasite infestation is sign of a potential illegal wild catch. Captive bred generations should be minimally infested or completely parasite free. Infestation with the snake mite <i>Ophionyssus</i> <i>natricis</i> can rapidly end fatal and should therefore be immediately treated. Frontline® has been proven to be an appropriate treatment
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (institution/private/scientist s/commercial breeder)	6 (private)

The species is kept and bred in Europe and USA.

References

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CENTENERO-ALCALÁ, E., V.H. JIMÉNEZ-ARCOS, A. ESCALONA-LÓPEZ & S.S. CRUZ-PADILLA (2009): Geographic Distribution. *Abronia deppei* (Deppe's Arboreal Alligator Lizard). Herpetological Review **40**(4): 450.

FLORES-VILLELA, O. & G. SANTOS-BARRERA (2007): *Abronia deppii*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63676A12706337.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe **2014**(1): 14-26.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Herpetologische Beobachtungen im Lebensraum von *Abronia deppii* im Valle de Bravo, Estado de México, Mexiko. Terraria-Elaphe **2014(**2): 46-55.

RAMÍREZ-BAUTISTA, A., U. HERNÁNDEZ-SALINAS, U.O. GARCÍA-VÁZQUEZ, A. LEYTE-MANRIQUE & L. CANSECO-MÁRQUEZ (2009): Herpetofauna del Valle de México: diversidad y conservación. Pachuca, Hidalgo, México (Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Hidalgo y Comisión Nacional para el Conocimiento y Uso de la Biodiversidad): 213 pp.

SCHMIDT-BALLARDO, W., I. SOLANO-ZAVALETA & A.G. CLAUSE 2015. *Abronia deppii*. Reproduction. Mesoamerican Herpetology **2**(2): 192-194.

Author: Christian Langner

27.07.2019

Abronia fimbriata (COPE, 1885)

Fimbriated Arboreal Alligator Lizard German: Fransen-Baumschleiche Spanish: Dragoncito de Guatemala central



Abronia fimbriata

Foto: Vojtěch Víta

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 130 mm.

The dorsum ground color is brown-grey. The venter of the body is cream-white. The head is steel-grey. The spinelike supra-auriculars are white. The venter of the body is cream-colored. The sublabial scales are orange. Juveniles are brown with a usually discontinuous dark brown line along the backbone. This species belongs to the subgenus *Auriculabronia* due to their pronounced supra-auricular scales (CAMPBELL & FROST 1993).

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Northeast highlands of Guatemala; found in cloud forests west from Sierra de las Minas, Department Baja Verapaz, between 1500 and 2100 m asl and in Sierra de Xucaneb (Montaña Ulpán), Department of Alta Verapaz, between 1400 m and 2000 m. Both localities are situated in the region around Quecchian and Sierra de las Minas, CAMPBELL & VANNINI (1989).

Type locality: surroundings of Cáquipec, Alta Verapaz, Guatemala.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix I since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 25).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: A.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: s.

IUCN- Red List status: EN - Endangered B1ab(iii) (assessed 6 May 2012).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction	
Secondary sexual traits	ହହ more slender than ଟଟ; head of ଟଟ wider and more prominent
Sexual maturity	At or after ca. 2 years of age
Reproduction	Viviparous
Mating season	Unknown
Birth season	October
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	8
Gestation period	13.5 months
F2 Generation bred	No
Offspring size / weight	_
Mortality	_
Sperm storage	Unknown

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Annual changes in temperature, illumination and watering. During the hibernation period night temperatures should be between 12 and 8 °C, and day temperatures between 12 and 16 °C. An UV-radiation spot with temperatures between 25 and 30 °C should be provided. Daily water spraying during summer and every second day during hibernation is needed. It is not possible to keep several males together due to their aggressive behavior, especially during the mating season. 1.1 or small groups of 1.2 are preferable and can easily kept together year-round
Keeping difficulty	Not difficult if the above mentioned conditions are ensured. A rich diet with a variety of insects supplemented with minerals and vitamins, especially for the juveniles, is important

General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	During frost-free season, individuals should be kept in vegetation rich, outdoor mesh terrariums with a minimum size of 60 x 60 x 80 cm (L x W x H). This is mandatory for all <i>Abronia</i> species. During wintertime, these enclosures should be placed in a temperate cool but frost-protected room indoors. An UV-Spot with max. temperatures of 25 - 30 °C under the spot at day and nighttime cooling to temperatures below 10 °C is necessary while keeping indoors. Juveniles are kept and handled similar to adults. Due to the potential aggressive behavior, it is not recommended to keep more than three juveniles together. As soon as freezing temperatures are not expectable any more, the enclosures should be placed outdoors. Keeping of the species is only recommended for advanced and experienced keepers. Indoor keeping through the whole year is not appropriate. Typical lizard diseases such as worms and protozoans, can occur in these arboreal alligator lizards. High parasite infestation is sign of a potential illegal wild catch. Captive bred generations should be minimally infested or completely parasite free. Infestation with the snake mite <i>Ophionyssus natricis</i> can rapidly end fatal and should therefore be immediately treated. Frontline® has been proven to be an appropriate treatment
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (institution/private/scientist s/commercial breeder)	1 (private)

Very few individuals are kept and bred in Europe and USA.

References

ACEVEDO, M., D. ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ & J. JOHNSON (2014): *Abronia fimbriata*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T203015A2758590.

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CAMPBELL, J.A., & J.P. VANNINI (1989): Distribution of amphibians and reptiles in Guatemala and Belize. Western Foundation of Vertebrate Zoology, Los Angeles, Proc. **4(**1): 21 pp.

KÖHLER, G. (2000): Reptilien und Amphibien Mittelamerikas, Bd. 1: Krokodile, Schildkröten, Echsen. Herpeton Verlag, Offenbach, 158 pp.

KÖHLER, G. (2008): Reptiles of Central America. 2nd Ed., Herpeton-Verlag, 400 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

Author: Christian Langner

27.07.2019

Abronia frosti CAMPBELL, SASA, ACEDO & MENDELSON, 1998

Frost's Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Frost German: Frosts Baumschleiche



Abronia frosti

Photo credit: Anonymus/Archive Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 101 mm.

The dorsal ground color is black with 7-8 white or yellow crossbands. The dorsal crossbands can be formed either as a single band or as a row of dots which sometimes can be strongly reduced. These crossbands sometimes extend to the dorsum of the tail. The gular region is whitish. The venter of the body is black or dark brown. *Abronia frosti* is the only arboreal alligator lizard of Guatemala without spinelike supra-auricular scales.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Northwest of Guatemala (Sierra de los Cuchumatanes), in 2835 m asl. Mountainous rainforest with hardwood trees up to 30 m high.

Type locality: Along road to Patalcal, 5.9 km (by road) Northwest national highway 9N near San Mateo Ixtatán, Guatemala in 2835 m.
Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix I since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 25).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: A.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: s.

IUCN-Red List status: CR - Critically Endangered B1ab(iii) (assessed 6 March 2012).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting from rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

Nothing is known.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

Occasionally kept and bred in USA. More precise information is not available.

References

ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ, D., M. ACEVEDO & J. JOHNSON (2013): *Abronia frosti*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013: e.T29479A2790394.

ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ, D. & L. MELENDEZ (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung *Abronia* in Guatemala. Terraria-Elaphe **2014**(3): 44-48.

ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ, D., M. TORRES-ALMAZÁN & A. URBINA-AGUILAR (2011): Rediscovery of *Abronia frosti* (Sauria: Anguidae) from a cloud forest in Cuchumatanes highlands in northwestern Guatemala: Habitat characterization and conservation status. Herpetological Review **42**(2): 196-198.

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CAMPBELL, J.A., M. SASA, M. ACEVEDO & J.R. MENDELSON (1998): A new species of *Abronia* (Squamata: Anguidae) from the High Cuchumatanes of Guatemala. Herpetologica **54** (2): 221-234.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia fuscolabialis (TIHEN, 1944)

Mount Zempoaltepec Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola del Zempoaltepec German: Mount-Zempoaltepec-Baumschleiche



Abronia fuscolabialis

Photo Credit: Peter Heimes

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 118 mm.

One of the most colorful arboreal alligator lizards. Blue, yellow, black, white and green-yellow are irregularly present in the dorsum.

It belongs to the nominate subgenus Abronia.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Oaxaca, Mexico.

Type locality: Mount Zempoaltepec, Oaxaca, Mexico.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN (Endangered B1ab(iii) – assessed 01 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

To date unknown.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No data on keeping or breeding are available.

References

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CAMPBELL, J.A., M. SASA, M. ACEVEDO & J.R. MENDELSON (1998): A new species of *Abronia* (Squamata: Anguidae) from the High Cuchumatanes of Guatemala. Herpetologica **54** (2): 221-234.

CAMPBELL, J.A. (2007): *Abronia fuscolabialis*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63677A12706446.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

MATA-SILVA, V., J.D. JOHNSON, L.D. WILSON & E. GARCÍA-PADILLA (2015): The herpetofauna of Oaxaca, Mexico: composition, physiographic distribution, and conservation status. Mesoamerican Herpetology **2**(1): 6–62.

TIHEN, J. A. (1944): A new *Gerrhonotus* from Oaxaca. Copeia **1944**(2): 112-115.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia gaiophantasma CAMPBELL & FROST, 1993

Brilliant Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Dragoncito de la Sierra de las Minas German: Erdgeist-Baumschleiche

No photo available

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 110 mm.

The dorsum ground color is red- brown or pale grey-brown. It has 7 to 9 dark brown crossbands in the dorsum, which can extend to the tail. The crossbands tend to disappear in adults. The venter of the head and neck is white. The venter of the body is blue-grey. The spinelike supraauricular scales classify *A. gaiophantasma* in the subgenus *Auriculabronia* (CAMPBELL & FROST 1993).

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Northeast Guatemala (Sierra de los Cuchumatanes), in 600 - 2350 m asl. Two specimens were found in the surroundings of Chikaknab, 23 km east from Cobán, Sierra de Yalijux, Alta Verapaz, Guatemala (FRANZEN & HAFT 1999). Pine and cloud forest. Is sympatric to *Abronia fimbriata* in Sierra de las Minas.

Type locality: cloud forest at 1600 m asl at the west slopes of Cerro Verde in the vicinity of La Unión Barrios, Baja Verapaz, Guatemala (approximately 15°11' N, 90° 12' W).

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 25).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN - Endangered B1ab(iii) (assessed 6 March 2012).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and harassment by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly poisonous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

No data available.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No data are available on keeping or breeding.

ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ, D. & L. MELENDEZ (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung *Abronia* in Guatemala. Terraria-Elaphe **2014**(3): 44-48.

ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ, D., M. ACEVEDO & J. JOHNSON (2014): *Abronia gaiophantasma*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T203016A2758597.

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

FRANZEN, M. & J. HAFT (1999): Range Extension and Morphological Variation in *Abronia gaiophantasma* CAMPBELL & FROST (Sauria: Anguidae). Caribbean Journal of Science **35**(1-2): 151-153.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

Author: Christian Langner

13.08.2019

Abronia graminea (COPE, 1864)

Sierra de Tehuacan Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Tehuacá German: Grüne Baumschleiche



Abronia graminea

Photo Credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 125 mm; total length: 305 mm.

The ground color is very variable but predominantly green. These green arboreal alligator lizards are able to physiologically change their ground color to a certain extent. The coloration is temperature and stimuli dependent. Animals can turn from bright green to olive or dark green. Contrary to chameleons, the change in coloration takes longer. If specimens are exposed to cooler conditions for a longer period, their ground color typically darkens, which is thought to be an adaptation of thermoregulation.

The ground color of wild individuals is bright green. The venter is yellow. A yellow colored ring is present around the eyes. Noticeable is the tendency to become more turquoise bluish in captivity.

Abronia graminea shows sexual dichromatism. Whereas males are always green or turquoise, females can also show different shades of grey to brown-green flecking or even have crossbands. The juveniles differ from adults in their ground color and are flecked brown and black with a ground color from bright to beige brown. The color change occurs with 6 to 9 months.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Abronia graminea occurs in Central Veracruz, East-Puebla and Oaxaca, Mexico.

Type locality: Orizaba, Mexico.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN - Endangered B1ab(iii) (assessed 1 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction		
Secondary sexual traits	ହହ more slender than ଟଟ; head of ଟଟ wider and more prominent	
Sexual maturity	With 2 - 3 years, 17 - 20 cm TL	
Reproduction	Viviparous	
Mating season	Late summer/ autumn; the copula can take several hours and even days	
Birth season	March / April	
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	2 - 12	
Gestation period	7 - 9 months	
F2 Generation bred	Up to F3 generations have been bred in captivity	
Offspring size / weight	SVL 44 mm; TL 108 mm	
Sperm storage	Unknown	

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Annual changes in temperature, illumination and watering. During the hibernation period, night temperatures should be between 12 and 8 °C, and day temperatures between 12 and 16 °C. An UV-radiation spot with temperatures between 25 - 30 °C should be provided. Daily water spraying during summer and every second day during hibernation is needed. It is not possible to keep several males together due to their aggressive behavior, especially during the mating season. 1.1 or small groups of 1.2 are preferable and can easily kept together year-round
Keeping difficulty	Not difficult if the above mentioned conditions are ensured. A rich diet with a variety of insects supplemented with minerals and vitamins, especially for the juveniles, is important
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	During frost-free season, individuals should be kept in vegetation rich, outdoor mesh terrariums with a minimum size of 60 x 60 x 80 cm (L x W x H). This is mandatory for all <i>Abronia</i> species. During wintertime, these enclosures should be placed in a temperate cool but frost-protected room indoors. An UV-spot with max. temperatures of 25 -30 °C under the spot at day and nighttime cooling to temperatures below 10 °C is necessary while keeping indoors. Juveniles are kept and handled similar to adults. Due to the potential aggressive behavior, it is not recommended to keep more than three juveniles together. As soon as freezing temperatures are not expectable any more, the enclosures should be placed outdoors. Keeping of the species is only recommended for advanced and experienced keepers. Indoor keeping through the whole year is not appropriate. Typical lizard diseases such as worms and protozoans, can occur in these arboreal alligator lizards. High parasite infestation is sign of a potential illegal wild catch. Captive bred generations should be minimally infested or completely parasite free. Infestation with the snake mite <i>Ophionyssus natricis</i> can rapidly end fatal and should therefore be immediately treated. Frontline® has been proven to be an appropriate treatment
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (institution/private/scientist s/commercial breeder)	6 (private) 1 (institution)

Abronia graminea is regulary kept and bred in Europe and USA.

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CLAUSE, A. G., G. JIMÉNEZ-VELÁZQUEZ & H.A. PÉREZ-MENDOZA (2016): Nature Notes. *Abronia graminea* (COPE, 1864). Color variant. Mesoamerican Herpetology **3**(1): 142-145.

CLAUSE, A.G., I. SOLANO-ZAVALETA & L.F. VÁZQUEZ-VEGA (2016): Captive reproduction and neonate variation in *Abronia graminea* (Squamata: Anguidae). Herpetological Review **47**(2): 231-234.

CLAUSE, A G., I. SOLANO-ZAVALETA, K. A. SOTO-HUERTA, R. DE LA A. PÉREZ Y SOTO & C.A. HERNÁNDEZ-JIMÉNEZ (2018): Morphological Similarity in a Zone of Sympatry Between Two *Abronia* (Squamata: Anguidae), with Comments on Ecology and Conservation. Herpetological Conservation and Biology **13**(1): 183–193.

COPE, E.D. (1864): Contributions to the herpetology of tropical America. Proceedings of the Academy of Natural Sciences Philadelphia **16**: 166-181.

FLORES-VILLELA, O. & G. SANTOS-BARRERA (2007): *Abronia graminea*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63678A12695490.

GOOD, D.A. (1988): Phylogenetic relationships among gerrhonotine lizards; an analysis of external morphology. University of California Publications in Zoology **121**: 139 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2007): Haltung und Vermehrung der Grünen Baumschleiche *Abronia graminea* (COPE, 1864). Sauria **29**(4): 5-18.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

SCHMIDT, B.W. (1991): *Abronia graminea* (Sauria, Anguidae) en la Sierra Mazateca, Oaxaca, Mexico. Boletín de la Sociedad Herpetológica Mexicana **3**(1): 11-12.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia leurolepis CAMPBELL & FROST, 1993

Flat-scaled Arboreal Alligator Lizard, Smoothback arboreal alligator lizard

Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Escamas Planas

German: Flachrückenbaumschleiche

No photo available

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 105 mm.

The dorsal ground color is olive-grey with irregular crossbands. The tail has round dark dots along the middle. The venter is pale with dark colors on the edge of the scales. The spinelike supra-auricular scales classify it into the subgenus *Auriculabronia* (CAMPBELL & FROST 1993).

Geographic distribution, Habitat

East Chiapas, Mexico. Cloud forest.

Type locality: Santa Rosa, near Comitán, E Chiapas, Mexico (1800 - 2300 m).

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List status: DD (Data Deficient - assessed 01 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and harassment by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

Up to date unknown.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No data on keeping or breeding are available.

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CAMPBELL, J.A. & A. MUÑOZ-ALONSO (2007): *Abronia leurolepis*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63679A12695716.

JOHNSON, J.D., V. MATA-SILVA, E.G. PADILLA & L.D. WILSON (2015): The Herpetofauna of Chiapas, Mexico: composition, distribution, and conservation. Mesoamerican Herpetology **2**(3): 272–329.

KÖHLER, G. (2000): Reptilien und Amphibien Mittelamerikas, Bd. 1: Krokodile, Schildkröten, Echsen. Herpeton Verlag, Offenbach, 158 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

Author: Christian Langner

13.08.2019

Abronia lythrochila SMITH & ALVAREZ DEL TORO, 1963

Red-lipped Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Labios Rojos German: Rotlippenbaumschleiche



Abronia lythrochila

Photo Credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 138 mm.

The dorsal ground color can vary from completely grey, predominantly beige brown, mottled black and white or yellow and white, as well as bright red to rust red in different color combinations. The sub-labial scales are bright orange-red, which is characteristic of this species. As one representative of the genus *Auriculabronia* it has the distinctive spinelike supra-auricular scales.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Chiapas, Mexico. According to TORRES *et al.* (2013) *Abronia lythrochila* also occurs in Guatemala. Oak-pine mixed forest at 2000 - 3000 m.

Type locality: Nachij, road from Tuxtla to Las Casas, Chiapas, Mexico.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: s.

IUCN- Red List status: LC – Least Concern (assessed 01 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction		
Secondary sexual traits	ହହ more slender than ଟଟ; head of ଟଟ wider and more prominent; ଟଟ usually more colorful	
Sexual maturity	With 2 years, at 17 - 20 cm total length	
Reproduction	Viviparous	
Mating season	Late summer/ autumn; copula can take up to 41 hours	
Birth season	March / April	
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	10 - 16	
Gestation period	6 - 8 months	
F2 Generation bred	Yes	
Offspring size / weight	3 cm / 1 g	
Sperm storage	Unknown	
Mortality	Highly fluctuating, between 0 % and 100 %	
% of offspring that achieve maturity	Highly fluctuating, between 0 % and 100 %. Fatalities are often reported for this species but no reason has been identified yet	

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Annual changes in temperature, illumination and watering. During the hibernation period, night temperatures should be between 12 and 8 °C and day temperatures between 12 and 16 °C. An UV-radiation spot with temperatures between 25 and 30 °C should be provided. Daily water spraying during summer and every second day during hibernation is needed. It is not possible to keep several males together due to their aggressive behavior, especially during the mating season. 1 1 or small groups of 1.2 are preferable and can easily kept
	1.1 or small groups of 1.2 are preferable and can easily kept together year-round

Keeping difficulty	Not difficult if the above mentioned conditions are ensured. A rich diet with a variety of insects supplemented with minerals and vitamins, especially for the juveniles, is important
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	During frost-free season, individuals should be kept in vegetation rich, outdoor mesh terrariums with a minimum size of 60 x 60 x 80 cm (L x W x H). This is mandatory for all <i>Abronia</i> species. During wintertime, these enclosures should be placed in a temperate cool but frost-protected room indoors. An UV-Spot with max. temperatures of 25 - 30 °C under the spot at day and nighttime cooling to temperatures below 10 °C is necessary while keeping indoors. Juveniles are kept and handled similar to adults. Due to the potential aggressive behavior, it is not recommended to keep more than three juveniles together. As soon as freezing temperatures are not expectable any more, the enclosures should be placed outdoors. Keeping of the species is only recommended for advanced and experienced keepers. Indoors keeping through the whole year is not appropriate. Typical lizard diseases such as worms and protozoans, can occur in these arboreal alligator lizards. High parasite infestation is sign of a potential illegal wild catch. Captive bred generations should be minimally infested or completely parasite free. Infestation with the snake mite <i>Ophionyssus natricis</i> can rapidly end fatal and should therefore be immediately treated. Frontline® has been proven to be an appropriate treatment
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (institution/private/scientist s/commercial breeder)	5 (private)

Abronia lythrochila is regularly kept and bred in Europe and USA.

References

ACEVEDO, M., L.D. WILSON, E.B. CANO & C. VÁSQUEZ-ALMAZÁN (2010): Diversity and conservation status of the Guatemalan Herpetofauna. Pg. 406–435. In: Wilson, L.D., J.H. Townsend & J.D. Johnson (Eds.): Conservation of Mesoamerican Amphibians and Reptiles. Eagle Mountain, Utah (Eagle Mountain Publishing LC.).

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus Abronia: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 216: 1-121.

CAMPBELL, J.A. & A. MUÑOZ-ALONSO (2007): *Abronia lythrochila*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63680A12695909.

CENTENERO-ALCALÁ, E., V.H. JIMÉNEZ-ARCOS, A. ESCALONA-LÓPEZ & S.S. CRUZ-PADILLA (2009): Geographic Distribution. *Abronia deppei* (Deppe's Arboreal Alligator Lizard). Herpetological Review **40**(4): 450

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Herpetologische Beobachtungen im Lebensraum von *Abronia deppii* im Valle de Bravo, Estado de México, Mexiko. Terraria-Elaphe **2014(**2): 46-55.

RAMÍREZ-BAUTISTA, A., U. HERNÁNDEZ-SALINAS, U.O. GARCÍA-VÁZQUEZ, A. LEYTE-MANRIQUE & L. CANSECO-MÁRQUEZ (2009): Herpetofauna del Valle de México: diversidad y conservación. Pachuca, Hidalgo, México (Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Hidalgo y Comisión Nacional para el Conocimiento y Uso de la Biodiversidad): 213 pp.

SCHMIDT-BALLARDO, W., I. SOLANO-ZAVALETA & A.G. CLAUSE (2015): *Abronia deppii*. Reproduction. Mesoamerican Herpetology **2**(2): 192-194.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia martindelcampoi FLORES-VILLELA & SANCHEZ 2003

Martín del Campo's Arboreal Alligator Lizard German: Martin del Campos Baumschleiche Spanisch: Escorpión Arboricola de Martin del Campo



Abronia martindelcampoi

Photo credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 115 cm.

The coloration of head and body is light grey to cream-white. Black dots or irregular bands spread over the body. Egg-yolk to orange colored dots appear mainly in the upper parts of dorsal scales. Even the labial-scales cloud be bright orange colored. The ventral side is cream white.

Abronia martindelcampoi is a member of the subgenus Abronia. The viper Ophryacus undulates is known as a predator.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Abronia martindelcampoi is known from the Mexican state Guerrero. The habitat is pine-oak forest.

Type Locality: Chilpancingo, Omiltemi, Orilla Norte, Guerrero, Mexico, in oak-forrest in 2250 m a.s.l.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List status: EN – (Endangered B1ab(iii) assessed 01 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threat. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Kepieddellen		
Secondary sexual traits	ହହ more slender than ଟଟ; head of ଟଟ wider and more prominent	
Sexual maturity	With 2 - 3 years and 17 - 20 cm total length	
Reproduction	Viviparous	
Mating season	End of summer / autumn. The copula can take several hours or even days	
Birth season	March / April	
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	2 - 11	
Gestation period	8 - 9 months	
F2 Generation bred	Yes	
Offspring size	Ca. 5 cm	
Sperm storage	Unknown	

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Annual changes in temperature, illumination and watering. During the hibernation period, night temperatures should be between 12 and 8 °C and day temperatures between 12 and 16 °C. An UV-radiation spot with temperatures between 25 - 30 °C should be provided. Daily water spraying during summer and every second day during hibernation is needed. It is not possible to keep several males together due to their aggressive behavior, especially during the mating season. 1.1 or small groups of 1.2 are preferable and can easily kept together year-round
Keeping difficulty	Not difficult if the above-mentioned conditions are ensured. A rich diet with a variety of insects supplemented with minerals and vitamins, especially for the juveniles, is important
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	During frost-free season, individuals should be kept in vegetation rich, outdoor mesh terrariums with a minimum size of 60 x 60 x 80 cm (L x W x H). This is mandatory for all <i>Abronia</i> species. During wintertime, these enclosures should be placed in a temperate cool but frost-protected room indoors. An UV-Spot with max. temperatures of 25 - 30 °C under the spot at day and nighttime cooling to temperatures below 10 °C is necessary while keeping indoors. Juveniles are kept and handled similar to adults. Due to the potential aggressive behavior, it is not recommended to keep more than three juveniles together. As soon as freezing temperatures are not expectable any more, the enclosures should be placed outdoors. Keeping of the species is only recommended for advanced and experienced keepers. Indoors keeping through the whole year is not appropriate. Typical lizard diseases such as worms and protozoans, can occur in these arboreal alligator lizards. High parasite infestation is sign of a potential illegal wild catch. Captive bred generations should be minimally infested or completely parasite free. Infestation with the snake mite <i>Ophionyssus natricis</i> can rapidly end fatal and should therefore be immediately treated. Frontline® has been proven to be an appropriate treatment
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (institution/private/scientist s/commercial breeder)	1 (private)

The species is kept and bred in captivity occasionally in Europe and the USA.

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CANSECO-MÁRQUEZ, L., J.A. CAMPBELL, P. PONCE-CAMPOS, A. MUÑOZ-ALONSO & A. GARCÍA AGUAYO (2007): *Abronia martindelcampoi*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63681A12696144.

DAVIS, W.B. & J.R. DIXON (1961): Reptiles (exclusive of snakes) of the Chilpancingo Region, Mexico. Proceedings of the Biological Society Washington **74**: 37-56.

FLORES-VILLELA, O. & H.-O. SÁNCHEZ (2003): A new species of *Abronia* (Squamata: Anguidae) from the Sierra Madre del Sur of Guerrero, Mexico, with comments on *Abronia deppii*. Herpetologica **59**(4): 524-531.

GOOD, D.A. (1988): Phylogenetic relationships among gerrhonotine lizards; an analysis of external morphology. University of California Publications in Zoology **121**: 139 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe **2014**(1): 14-26.

PALACIOS-AGUILAR, R. & O. FLORES-VILLELA (2018): An updated checklist of the herpetofauna from Guerrero, Mexico. Zootaxa **4422**(1): 1-24.

TIHEN, J. A. (1954): Gerrhonotine lizards recently added to the American Museum collection, with further revisions of the genus *Abronia*. American Museum Novitates **1687**: 1-26

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia matudai (HARTWEG & TIHEN, 1946)

Matuda's Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Matuda German: Matuda's Baumschleiche

No photo available

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 96 mm.

The dorsum is bright green with several dark, sometimes only subtle crossbands. The venter is pale grey, blue-grey or slight brown with scattered black dots.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Southwest of Guatemala and southeast Chiapas, Mexico. In Guatemala only known from two localities in the surroundings of San Marcos in 2300 - 2630 m asl. The habitats in these localities are pine-oak mixed forests and pine-cypress mixed forest. In Mexico is only known from cloud forest on the slopes of the volcano Tacaná, above the village of Colonia Talaquian, between 1950 und 2000 m asl.

Type locality: Volcano Tacaná, Chiapas, 2000 m asl.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II (since 2016, CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN – Endangered B1ab(iii) (assessed 6 March 2012).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

Up to date unknown.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

Obviously not kept in captivity.

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CAMPBELL, J.A. & A. MUÑOZ-ALONSO (2013): *Abronia matudai*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013: e.T63682A3128085

HARTWEG, N., & J-E. TIHEN (1946): Lizards of the genus *Gerrhonotus* from Chiapas, México. Occasional Papers of the Musum of Zoology, University of Michigan **497**: 1-5.

JOHNSON, J.D., V. MATA-SILVA, E.G. PADILLA & L.D. WILSON (2015): The Herpetofauna of Chiapas, Mexico: composition, distribution, and conservation. Mesoamerican Herpetology **2**(3): 272–329.

KÖHLER, G. (2000): Reptilien und Amphibien Mittelamerikas, Bd. 1: Krokodile, Schildkröten, Echsen. Herpeton Verlag, Offenbach, 158 pp.

KÖHLER, G. (2008): Reptiles of Central America. 2nd Ed., Herpeton-Verlag, 400 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

TIHEN, J.A. (1949): The genera of gerrhonotine lizards. American Midland Naturalist **41**(3): 579-601

TIHEN, J.A. (1954); Gerrhonotine lizards recently added to the American Museum collection, with further revisions of the genus *Abronia*. American Museum Novitates **1687**: 1-26.

Author: Christian Langner

13.08.2019

Abronia meledona CAMPBELL & BRODIE, 1999

Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Dragoncito de Soledad Grande German: Meledona-Baumschleiche

No photo available

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 105 mm.

The dorsal ground color is pink-cream grading to pale green on the flanks. On the dorsum of the head and body black dots can form crossbands. The region around the eye and the supraauricular spinelike scales is bright yellow. The spinelike supra-auricular scales classify *A. meledona* in the subgenus *Auriculabronia* (CAMPBELL & FROST 1993).

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Southeast Guatemala (Jalapa). Hardwood forest with old oak trees in 2200 - 2660 m asl.

Type locality: near Torre de Guatel, near Soledad Grande, Jalapa, Guatemala, 2660 m asl (14° 31' N, 90° 09' W). The locality is 4 km airline east-southeast of Mataquescuintla on the lower slope of the catchment area of Rio Tapalapa.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix I since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: A.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: s.

IUCN-Red List status: EN (Endangered B1ab(iii) – assessed 06 March 2012).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and harassment from rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

No data available.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

There are no data on keeping or breeding available.

ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ, D., M. ACEVEDO & J. JOHNSON (2013): *Abronia meledona*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013: e.T203017A2758604.

ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ, D. & L. MELENDEZ (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung *Abronia* in Guatemala. Terraria-Elaphe **2014**(3): 44-48.

CAMPBELL, J.A. & E.D. BRODIE (1999): A new species of *Abronia* (Squamata: Anguidae) from the southeastern highlands of Guatemala. Herpetologica **55**(2): 161-174.

KÖHLER, G. (2000): Reptilien und Amphibien Mittelamerikas, Bd. 1: Krokodile, Schildkröten, Echsen. Herpeton Verlag, Offenbach, 158 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia mitchelli CAMPBELL, 1982

Mitchells's Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Mitchell

German: Mitchellss Baumschleiche

No photo available

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 105 mm.

The dorsal ground color is grey-green flecked with black. Is the only species belonging to the subgenus *Aenigmabronia*. Up to date is only known from a single specimen.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Sierra Juarez, Oaxaca Mexico.

Type locality: Cerro Pelón, Northern slope of the Sierra Juárez, Oaxaca, Mexico. Cloud forest at 2750 m asl.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: DD - Data Deficient (assessed 1 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

No data available.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No data on keeping or breeding available.

CAMPBELL, J.A. (1982): A new species of *Abronia* (Sauria, Anguidae) from the Sierra Juarez, Oaxaca, Mexico. Herpetologica **38**(3) 1982: 355-361.

CAMPBELL, J.A. (2007): *Abronia mitchelli*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63683A12696624

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

Author: Christian Langner

13.08.2019

Abronia mixteca BOGERT & PORTER, 1967

Mixtecan Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola Mixteco German: Mixteca-Baumschleiche



Abronia mixteca

Photo Credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 103 mm; total length 245 mm.

The ground color of the head and dorsum is bright grey or green. It has irregular yellow and black flecking on the body. The venter is white cream. The surrounding of the eye is yellow. Sometimes it has crossbands along the body and tail.

Abronia mixteca belongs to the nominate subgenus Abronia.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Abronia mixteca occurs in montane pine-oak forests with trees heavily covered with epiphytes such as bromeliads and orchids in the Mexican states of Guerrero and Oaxaca.

Type locality: near Tejocotes, Oaxaca, Mexico at ca. 2400 m asl (17° 14' N, 96° 59' W).

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: VU - Vulnerable B1ab(iii) (assessed 1 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction	
Secondary sexual traits	ହହ more slender than ଟଟ; head of ଟଟ wider and more prominent
Sexual maturity	With 2 - 3 years, 17 - 20 cm total length
Reproduction	Viviparous
Mating season	Late summer / autumn; the copula can take several hours and up to several days
Birth season	March / April
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	6 - 11
Gestation period	8 - 9 months
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size / weight	Ca. 5 cm
Sperm storage	Unknown

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Annual changes in temperature, illumination and watering. During the hibernation period, night temperatures should be between 12 and 8 °C and day temperatures between 12 and 16 °C. An UV-radiation spot with temperatures between 25 - 30 °C should be provided. Daily water spraying during summer and every second day during hibernation is needed. It is not possible to keep several males together due to their aggressive behavior, especially during the mating season. 1.1 or small groups of 1.2 are preferable and can easily kept together year-round
Keeping difficulty	Not difficult if the above mentioned conditions are ensured. A rich diet with a variety of insects supplemented with minerals and vitamins, especially for the juveniles, is important

General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	During frost-free season, individuals should be kept in vegetation rich, outdoor mesh terrariums with a minimum size of 60 x 60 x 80 cm (L x W x H). This is mandatory for all <i>Abronia</i> species. During wintertime, these enclosures should be placed in a temperate cool but frost-protected room indoors. An UV-Spot with max. temperatures of 25 - 30 °C under the spot at day and nighttime cooling to temperatures below 10 °C is necessary while keeping indoors. Juveniles are kept and handled similar to adults. Due to the potential aggressive behavior, it is not recommended to keep more than three juveniles together. As soon as freezing temperatures are not expectable any more, the enclosures should be placed outdoors. Keeping of the species is only recommended for advanced and experienced keepers. Indoor keeping through the whole year is not appropriate. Typical lizard diseases such as worms and protozoans, can occur in these arboreal alligator lizards. High parasite infestation is sign of a potential illegal wild catch. Captive bred generations should be minimally infested or completely parasite free. Infestation with the snake mite <i>Ophionyssus natricis</i> can rapidly end fatal and should therefore be immediately treated. Frontline® has been proven to be an appropriate treatment
Number of evaluated questionnaires	2 (private)

Abronia mixteca is occasionally kept and bred in Europa and USA.

References

ALDAPE-LÓPEZ, C.T. & A. SANTOS-MORENO (2018): *Abronia mixteca* (Mixtecan Arboreal Alligator Lizard) Mating behavior. Herpetological Review **49**(1): 114.

BOGERT, C.M. & A.P. PORTER (1967): A new species of *Abronia* (Sauria, Anguidae) from the Sierra Madre del Sur of Oaxaca, Mexico. American Museum Novitates **2279**: 1-21.

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST 1993. Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

GARCÍA-PADILLA, E., C. RODRÍGUEZ-PÉREZ & D. G. LOPE-ALZINA (2016): Distribution Notes. *Abronia mixteca* Bogert and Porter, 1967. Mesoamerican Herpetology **3**(1): 176–177.

GOOD, D.A. (1988): Phylogenetic relationships among gerrhonotine lizards; an analysis of external morphology. University of California Publications in Zoology **121**: 139 pp.

IBARRA-CONTRERAS, C.A. & E. GARCÍA-PADILLA (2016): Distribution Notes. *Abronia mixteca* Bogert and Porter, 1967. Mesoamerican Herpetology **3**(1): 177–178.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia montecristoi HIDALGO, 1983

Monte Cristo Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Dragoncito de Montecristo Metapán German: Monte-Cristo-Baumschleiche

No photo available

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 90 mm.

The dorsum is dark blue. The head and nuchal region are darker than the body. It has brown marks and crossbands on the flanks. The venter is bright grey. MCCRANIE & WILSON (1999) described one of the living specimen's color as antic-brown with small bright cinnamon crossbands.

Abronia montecristoi belongs to the subgenus Abaculabronia.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

In El Salvador near the border triangle El Salvador-Honduras-Guatemala. In the west of Honduras near Quebrada Grande. Cloud forest between 1370 – 2250 m asl.

Type locality: Hacienda Montecristo, Metapán, Santa Ana, El Salvador, 2250 m.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II (since 2016 CoP17 Proposal 25).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN - Endangered B1ab(iii) (assessed May 2012).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

No data available.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No data available.

ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ, C. & L. MELENDEZ (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung *Abronia* in Guatemala. Terraria-Elaphe **2014**(3): 44-48.

CAMPBELL, J.A. & E.D. BRODIE (1999): A new species of *Abronia* (Squamata: Anguidae) from the southeastern highlands of Guatemala. Herpetologica **55**(2): 161-174.

KÖHLER, G. (1996): Notes on a collection of reptiles from El Salvador collected between 1951 and 1956. Senckenbergiana biologica **76**(1/2): 29-38.

KÖHLER, G. (2000): Reptilien und Amphibien Mittelamerikas, Bd. 1: Krokodile, Schildkröten, Echsen. Herpeton Verlag, Offenbach, 158 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

MCCRANIE, J.R. (2015): A checklist of the amphibians and reptiles of Honduras, with additions, comments on taxonomy, some recent taxonomic decisions, and areas of further studies needed. Zootaxa **3931** (3): 352–386.

MCCRANIE, J.R. (2018): The Lizards, Crocodiles, and Turtles of Honduras. Systematics, Distribution, and Conservation. Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology Special Publication Series **2**: 672 pp.

MCCRANIE, J.R. & L.D. WILSON (1999): Status of the anguid lizard *Abronia montecristoi* HIDALGO. Journal of Herpetology **33**(1): 127-128.

SOLÍS, J.M., L.D. WILSON & J.H. TOWNSEND (2014): An updated list of the amphibians and reptiles of Honduras, with comments on their nomenclature. Mesoamerican Herpetology **1**(1): 123–144.

TOWNSEND, J.H. & G. KÖHLER (2013): Abronia montecristoi. The IUCN Red List of Threatened

Species 2013: e.T20A2774433

WILSON, L.D. & J.R. MCCRANIE (2003): The conservation status of the herpetofauna of Honduras. Amphibian & Reptile Conservation **3**(1): 6-33.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia oaxacae (Günther, 1885)

Oaxacan Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanisch: Escorpión Arborícola de Oaxaca German: Oaxaca-Baumschleiche



Abronia oaxacae

Photo Credit: Anonymus/Archive Ch. Langner

Morphology

The ground color is usually bright to dark grey. Some individuals can be predominantly brown. It sometimes has black flecking or crossbands along the body. The venter is bright grey.

Abronia oaxacae belongs to the nominate subgenus Abronia.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Abronia oaxacae occurs in Tehuantepec, Oaxaca, Mexico, in pine-oak mixed forests between 2100 and 2743 m asl.

Type locality: Oaxaca, Mexico.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: VU - Vulnerable B1ab(iii) (assessed 1 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction		
Secondary sexual traits	ହହ more slender than ଟଟ; head of ଟଟ wider and more prominent	
Sexual Maturity	14 months	
Reproduction	Viviparous	
Mating season	Unknown	
Birth season	Spring	
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	8 - 12	
Gestation period	9 - 12 months	
Offspring size / weight	Unknown	
Sperm storage	Unknown	

Abronia oaxacae has been rarely found and very few is known about this species.

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Annual changes in temperature, illumination and watering. During the hibernation period, night temperatures should be between 12 and 8 °C and day temperatures between 12 and 16 °C. An UV-radiation spot with temperatures between 25 - 30 °C should be provided. Daily water spraying during summer and every second day during hibernation is needed. It is not possible to keep several males together due to their aggressive behavior, especially during the mating season. 1.1 or small groups of 1.2 are preferable and can easily kept together year-round
Keeping difficulty	Not difficult if the above-mentioned conditions are ensured. A rich diet with a variety of insects supplemented with minerals and vitamins, especially for the juveniles, is important
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	During frost-free season, individuals should be kept in vegetation rich, outdoor mesh terrariums with a minimum size of 60 x 60 x 80 cm (L x W x H). This is mandatory for all <i>Abronia</i> species. During wintertime, these enclosures should be placed in a temperate cool but frost-protected room indoors. UV-Spot with max. temperatures of 25 - 30 °C under the spot at day and nighttime cooling to temperatures below 10 °C is necessary while keeping indoors. Juveniles are kept and handled similar to adults. Due to the potential aggressive behavior, it is not recommended to keep more than three juveniles together. As soon as freezing temperatures are not expectable any more, the enclosures should be placed outdoors. Keeping of the species is only recommended for advanced and experienced keepers. Indoor keeping through the whole year is not appropriate. Typical lizard diseases such as worms and protozoans, can occur in these arboreal alligator lizards. High parasite infestation is sign of a potential illegal wild catch. Captive bred generations should be minimally infested or completely parasite free. Infestation with the snake mite <i>Ophionyssus natricis</i> can rapidly end fatal and should therefore be immediately treated. Frontline® has been proven to be an appropriate treatment
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (institution/private/scientist s/commercial breeder)	1 (private)

Abronia oaxacaea is very rarely kept and bred in Europe and USA.

CAMPBELL, J.A. (2007): *Abronia oaxacae*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63685A12697055

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

GÜNTHER, A.C.L.G. (1885): Reptilia and Batrachia. Biologia Centrali-Américana. Taylor, & Francis, London, 326 pp. (*Gerrhonotus oaxacae* p. 36).

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

MATA-SILVA, V., J.D. JOHNSON, L. D. WILSON AND E. GARCÍA-PADILLA (2015): The herpetofauna of Oaxaca, Mexico: composition, physiographic distribution, and conservation status. Mesoamerican Herpetology **2**(1): 6–62.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia ochoterenai (MARTIN DEL CAMPO, 1939)

Ochoterena's Arboreal Alligator Lizard, Northern Chiapas Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Ochoterena German: Ochoterenas Baumschleiche



Abronia ochoterenai

Photo Credit: Peter Heimes

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 97 mm.

In preservative, the color of the dorsum of the holotype is grey, and the venter is horn colored. On the internet (Herp. MX, Facebook 2016) an orange coloration of the dorsum has been reported. *Abronia ochoterenai* belongs to the subgenus *Abaculabronia*.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Chiapas, Mexico, according to Acevedo et al. 2010 also in Guatemala. Cloud forest in 1800 - 2300 m asl.

Type locality: Santa Rosa, Comitán, Chiapas, Mexico.

Abronia ochoterenai was considered lost for 76 years, since the type locality could not be identified. There are 16 localities with the name "Santa Rosa" near Comitán, Chiapas. In 2016 some specimens were found by a team of Mexican researchers (Herp. MX, Facebook 2016).

ACEVEDO et al. (2010) list the species without any specific information on the type locality.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II (since 2016, CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: DD - Data Deficient (assessed 6 May 2012).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

No data available.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No data available.

References

ACEVEDO, M., L.D. WILSON, E.B. CANO & C. VÁSQUEZ-ALMAZÁN (2010): Diversity and conservation status of the Guatemalan Herpetofauna. Pg. 406–435. In: WILSON, L.D., J.H. TOWNSEND & J.D. JOHNSON (Eds.): Conservation of Mesoamerican Amphibians and Reptiles. Eagle Mountain, Utah (Eagle Mountain Publishing LC.).

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CAMPBELL, J.A. & A. MUÑOZ-ALONSO (2013): *Abronia ochoterenai*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013: e.T63686A3128159

GOOD, D.A. (1988): Phylogenetic relationships among gerrhonotine lizards; an analysis of external morphology. University of California Publications in Zoology **121**: 139 pp.

HEIMES, P. (2002): Abronia: Baumschleichen in Bedrängnis. DATZ 55(11): 16–20.

JOHNSON, J.D., V. MATA-SILVA, E.G. PADILLA & L.D. WILSON (2015): The Herpetofauna of Chiapas, Mexico: composition, distribution, and conservation. Mesoamerican Herpetology **2**(3): 272–329.

KÖHLER, G. (2000): Reptilien und Amphibien Mittelamerikas, Bd. 1: Krokodile, Schildkröten, Echsen. Herpeton Verlag, Offenbach, 158 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

MARTÍN DEL CAMPO Y SÁNCHEZ, R. (1939): Contribución al conocimiento de los gerrhonoti mexicanos con la presentación de una nueva forma. Anales del Instituto de Biología de la Universidad Nacional de México **10**: 353-361.

Author: Christian Langner
Abronia ornelasi CAMPBELL, 1984

Ornelas's Arboreal Alligator Lizard, Cerro Baul Alligator Lizard

Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Ornelas

German: Cerro-Baul-Baumschleiche

No photo available

Morphology

Snout- vent length up to 96 mm.

The color of the dorsum is brown with a slight green sheen. The sides of the head, body and limbs can be pink or red. The venter is pale grey-green.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Border region between Oaxaca and Chiapas, Mexico in 1500 - 1600 m asl.

Type locality: Cerro Baul, border Oaxaca-Chiapas, Mexico, 2000 m asl.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II (since 2016, CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: DD – Data Deficient (assessed March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

No data available.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No data available.

References

CAMPBELL, J.A. (2007): *Abronia ornelasi*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63687A12697494.

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CASAS-ANDREU, G., F.R. MÉNDEZ-DE LA CRUZ & X. AGUILAR-MIGUEL (2004): Anfibios y Reptiles; pp. 375–390 *in:* GARCÍA-MENDOZA, A.J.M., J. ORDOÑEZ & M. BRIONES-SALAS (eds.):

Biodiversidad de Oaxaca. Instituto de Biología, UNAM-Fondo Oaxaqueño para la Conservación de la Naturaleza-World Wildlife Fund, México, 605 pp.

GOOD, D.A. (1988): Phylogenetic relationships among gerrhonotine lizards; an analysis of external morphology. University of California Publications in Zoology **121**: 139 pp.

KÖHLER, G. (2000): Reptilien und Amphibien Mittelamerikas, Bd. 1: Krokodile, Schildkröten, Echsen. Herpeton Verlag, Offenbach, 158 pp.

KÖHLER, G. (2008): Reptiles of Central America. 2nd Ed., Herpeton-Verlag, 400 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

MATA-SILVA, V., J.D. JOHNSON, L.D. WILSON & E. GARCÍA-PADILLA (2015): The herpetofauna of Oaxaca, Mexico: composition, physiographic distribution, and conservation status. Mesoamerican Herpetology **2**(1): 6–62.

Author: Christian Langner

27.07.2019

Abronia ramirezi CAMPBELL, 1994

Ramirez's Alligator Lizard German: Ramirez-Baumschleiche Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Ramirez

No photo available

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 93 mm.

The dorsal ground color is grey with yellow flecking. It has 10 irregular dark brown crossbands from the nuchal region to the beginning of the tail. The venter is cream and the venter of the hindlimbs is bright yellow.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

West of Chiapas, Mexico, at 1350 m asl. Their habitat is semi-evergreen tropical forests with some montane vegetation.

Type locality: Rancho El Recuerdo, Cerro La Vela, Sierra Madre de Chiapas, Municipio de Jiquipilas, Chiapas, Mexico, 1350 m.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List status: DD - Data Deficient (assessed 1 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

No data available.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No data on keeping/breeding are available.

References

CAMPBELL J.A. (1994): A new species of elongate *Abronia* (Squamata: Anguidae) from Chiapas, Mexico. Herpetologica **50**(1): 1-7

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CAMPBELL, J.A. & A. MUÑOZ-ALONSO (2007): *Abronia ramirezi*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63688A12697720

JOHNSON, J.D., V. MATA-SILVA, E.G. PADILLA & L.D. WILSON (2015): The Herpetofauna of Chiapas, Mexico: composition, distribution, and conservation. Mesoamerican Herpetology **2**(3): 272–329.

KÖHLER, G. (2000): Reptilien und Amphibien Mittelamerikas, Bd. 1: Krokodile, Schildkröten, Echsen. Herpeton Verlag, Offenbach, 158 pp.

KÖHLER, G. (2008): Reptiles of Central America. 2nd Ed., Herpeton-Verlag, 400 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia reidi WERLER & SHANNON, 1961

Reid's Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Reid German: Reids Baumschleiche



Abronia reidi

Photo Credit: Peter Heimes

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 91 mm.

The dorsal ground color is dark olive-green. The edge of the scales of the dorsum can be pale yellow. The venter is brighter and has more yellow content than the dorsum. HEIMES (2002) reports a specimen kept in captivity, which showed a physiological color change. The characteristic olive-green ground color turned to dark brown.

Abronia reidi belongs to the subgenus Abaculabronia.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Volcanoes San Martin and Santa Marta, Sierra de los Tuxtlas, Veracruz, Mexico, in 1000 - 1635 m asl.

Type locality: crater of volcano San Martin, Veracruz, Mexico.

CITES Appendix II (since 2016, CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: DD - Data Deficient (assessed 7 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

No data available.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

A few individuals were kept in a lab in Mexico (THESING *et al.* 2017).

References

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

Flores-Villela, O. & M.A. Lopez-Luna (200): *Abronia reidi*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63689A12697921

GOOD, D.A. (1988): Phylogenetic relationships among gerrhonotine lizards; an analysis of external morphology. University of California Publications in Zoology **121**: 139 pp.

HEIMES, P. (2002): Abronia: Baumschleichen in Bedrängnis. DATZ 55(11): 16-20.

KÖHLER, G. (2000): Reptilien und Amphibien Mittelamerikas, Bd. 1: Krokodile, Schildkröten, Echsen. Herpeton Verlag, Offenbach, 158 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

MARTÍN DEL CAMPO Y SÁNCHEZ, R. (1939): Contribución al conocimiento de los gerrhonoti mexicanos con la presentación de una nueva forma. Anales del Instituto de Biología de la Universidad Nacional de México **10**: 353-361.

THESING, B.J., P. HEIMES & A.G. CLAUSE (2017): Morphological variation in *Abronia reidi* (Squamata: Anguidae) with comments on distribution. Mesoamerican Herpetology **4**(1): 211–215.

WERLER, J.E. & F.A. Shannon (1961): Two new lizards (genera *Abronia* and *Xenosaurus*) from the Los Tuxtlas Range of Veracruz, Mexico. Transactions of the Kansas Academy of Science **64**(2): 123-132.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia salvadorensis HIDALGO, 1983

Salvador Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Dragoncito de la Sierra de Morazán German: El-Salvador-Baumschleiche

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 94 mm.

The dorsum has five dark, fishbone shaped crossbands. The crossbands are separated with cream colored scales. The color of the head is cream or greyish. The tail has four dark brown crossbands. The color of the venter is cream.

Abronia salvadorensis is the only representative of the subgenus Lissabronia.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Sierra de Montecillos and Sierra de Opalaca in Honduras and the surrounding area in El Salvador. Cloud forests in 1900 - 2250m asl.

Type locality: Palo Blanco, 10 km northeast of Perquin, Corrdillera de Nahuaterique Departmento de Morazan, at 1900 m asl.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II (since2016, CoP17 Proposal 25).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: DD – Data Deficient B1ab(iii) (assessed 6 Mai 2012).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction

No data available.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No data available.

References

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

HEIMES, P. (2002): Abronia: Baumschleichen in Bedrängnis DATZ 55(11): 16-20.

HIDALGO, H. (1983): Two new species of *Abronia* (Sauria: Anguidae) from the cloud forests of El Salvador. Occasional Papers of the Museum of Natural History University of Kansas **105**: 1-11.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe **2014**(1): 14-26.

MCCRANIE, J.R. (2015): A checklist of the amphibians and reptiles of Honduras, with additions, comments on taxonomy, some recent taxonomic decisions, and areas of further studies needed. Zootaxa **3931** (3): 352–386.

MCCRANIE, J.R. (2018): The Lizards, Crocodiles, and Turtles of Honduras. Systematics, Distribution, and Conservation. Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology Special Publication Series **2**: 672 pp.

SOLÍS, J.M., L.D. WILSON & J.H. TOWNSEND (2014): An updated list of the amphibians and reptiles of Honduras, with comments on their nomenclature. Mesoamerican Herpetology **1**(1): 123–144.

WILSON, L.D. & J.R. MCCRANIE (2003): The conservation status of the herpetofauna of Honduras. Amphibian & Reptile Conservation 3(1): 6-33.

WILSON, L.D., J.H. TOWNSEND & I. LUQUE (2013): *Abronia salvadorensis*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013: e.T203018A2758611.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia smithi CAMPBELL & FROST, 1993

Smith's Arboreal Alligator Lizard German: Smiths Baumschleiche Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Smith



Abronia smithi

Photo Credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 103 mm.

Strong sexual dichromatism. The ground color of males is yellow-green with most of the dorsal scales mottled with black. The region around the eye is pale yellow. The supra-auricular spinelike scales are usually pale green or yellowish. The venter is usually bright green. In females, the ground color is more intense and colorful with more black contents than in males. The supra-auricular spinelike scales classify this species in the subgenus *Auriculabronia* (CAMPBELL & FROST 1993).

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Cloud forest in Sierra Madre de Chiapas, southeast Chiapas, Mexico from 1800 - 2800 m asl.

Type locality: Southeast slope of Cerro el Triúnfo, Sierra Madre de Chiapas, Mexico, 13.1 km (airline) NNE of Mapastepec at 15° 40'N, 92° 48' W. Elevation: 2020 m.

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 26).

Regulation (EU) 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: LC - Least Concern (assessment 1 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction	
Secondary sexual traits	ହହ more slender than ଟଟ; head of ଟଟ wider and more prominent; sexual dichromatism (see above)
Sexual maturity	After ca. 2 years
Reproduction	Viviparous
Mating season	End of summer / autumn
Birth season	March / April
Litter size	7 - 12
Gestation period	7 - 9 months
F2 Generation bred	Not yet
Offspring size / weight	< 5 cm
Sperm storage	Unknown

nraduation

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Annual changes in temperature, illumination and watering. During the hibernation period, night temperatures should be between 12 and 8 °C and day temperatures between 12 and 16 °C. An UV-radiation spot with temperatures between 25 - 30 °C should be provided. Daily water spraying during summer and every second day during hibernation is needed. It is not possible to keep several males together due to their aggressive behavior, especially during the mating season. 1.1 or small groups of 1.2 are preferable and can easily kept together year-round
Keeping difficulty	Not difficult if the above mentioned conditions are ensured. A rich diet with a variety of insects supplemented with minerals and vitamins, especially for the juveniles, is important

General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	During frost-free season, individuals should be kept in vegetation rich, outdoor mesh terrariums with a minimum size of 60 x 60 x 80 cm (L x W x H). This is mandatory for all <i>Abronia</i> species. During wintertime, these enclosures should be placed in a temperate cool but frost-protected room indoors. An UV-Spot with max. temperatures of 25 - 30 °C under the spot at day and nighttime cooling to temperatures below 10 °C is necessary while keeping indoors. Juveniles are kept and handled similar to adults. Due to the potential aggressive behavior, it is not recommended to keep more than three juveniles together. As soon as freezing temperatures are not expectable any more, the enclosures should be placed outdoors. Keeping of the species is only recommended for advanced and experienced keepers. Indoor keeping through the whole year is not appropriate. Typical lizard diseases such as worms and protozoans, can occur in these arboreal alligator lizards. High parasite infestation is sign of a potential illegal wild catch. Captive bred generations should be minimally infested or completely parasite free. Infestation with the snake mite <i>Ophionyssus natricis</i> can rapidly end fatal and should therefore be immediately treated. Frontline® has been proven to be an appropriate treatment
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (institution/private/scientist s/commercial breeder)	2 (private)

Occasionally kept and bred in Europe and USA.

References

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CAMPBELL, J.A. & A. MUÑOZ-ALONSO (2007): *Abronia smithi*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63690A12698131.

JOHNSON, J.D., V. MATA-SILVA, E.G. PADILLA & L.D. WILSON (2015): The Herpetofauna of Chiapas, Mexico: composition, distribution, and conservation. Mesoamerican Herpetology **2**(3): 272–329.

KÖHLER, G. (2000): Reptilien und Amphibien Mittelamerikas, Bd. 1: Krokodile, Schildkröten, Echsen. Herpeton Verlag, Offenbach, 158 pp.

KÖHLER, G. (2008): Reptiles of Central America. 2nd Ed., Herpeton-Verlag, 400 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia taeniata (WIEGMANN, 1828)

Banded Arboreal Alligator Lizard, Bromeliad Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Escorpión Arborícola de Bandas German: Gebänderte Baumschleiche



Abronia taeniata

Photo Credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 115 mm.

The dorsum has six to eight black and white or black and yellow contrasting crossbands. The crossbands have sometimes dark brown, olive-green or blue parts. The dorsal crossbands extend to the tail sometimes the crossbands are not present. The ventral color is cream.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

East Mexico; there is evidence that it occurs in the following Mexican localities: Tamaulipas, San Luis Potosi, Hidalgo, Puebla and Quéretaro.

Type locality: El Chico, Hidalgo, Mexico (SMITH & TAYLOR 1950).

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II (since 2016, CoP17 Proposal 26).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: VU – Vulnerable B1ab(iii) (assessed 01 March 2007).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting by rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Secondary sexual traits	ହହ more slender than ଟଟ; head of ଟଟ wider and more prominent; ଟଟ have usually more intense coloration
Sexual maturity	After ca. 2 years, at 16 - 18 cm total length
Reproduction	Viviparous. The copula can take several hours or even days
Mating season	End of summer / autumn
Birth season	March / April
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	2 - 8
Gestation period	6 - 8 months
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size / weight	4 cm / 1 g
Mortality	< 10 %
Sperm storage	Unknown
% of offspring that achieves sexual maturity	> 90 %
Lifespan in captivity	> 10 years

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Annual changes in temperature, illumination and watering. During the hibernation period, night temperatures should be between 12 and 8 °C and day temperatures between 12 and 16 °C. An UV-radiation spot with temperatures between 25 - 30 °C should be provided. Daily water spraying during summer and every second day during hibernation is needed. It is not possible to keep several males together due to their aggressive behavior, especially during the mating season. 1.1 or small groups of 1.2 are preferable and can easily kept together year-round
Keeping difficulty	Not difficult if the above mentioned conditions are ensured. A rich diet with a variety of insects supplemented with minerals and vitamins, especially for the juveniles, is important
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	During frost-free season, individuals should be kept in vegetation rich, outdoor mesh terrariums with a minimum size of $60 \times 60 \times 80$ cm (L x W x H). This is mandatory for all <i>Abronia</i> species. During wintertime, these enclosures should

	be placed in a temperate cool but frost-protected room indoors. An UV-Spot with max. temperatures of 25 - 30 °C under the spot at day and nighttime cooling to temperatures below 10 °C is necessary while keeping indoors. Juveniles are kept and handled similar to adults. Due to the potential aggressive behavior, it is not recommended to keep more than three juveniles together. As soon as freezing temperatures are not expectable any more, the enclosures should be placed outdoors. Keeping of the species is only recommended for advanced and experienced keepers. Indoor keeping through the whole year is not appropriate. Typical lizard diseases such as worms and protozoans, can occur in these arboreal alligator lizards. High parasite infestation is sign of a potential illegal wild catch. Captive bred generations should be minimally infested or completely parasite free. Infestation with the snake mite <i>Ophionyssus</i> <i>natricis</i> can rapidly end fatal and should therefore be immediately treated. Frontline® has been proven to be an appropriate treatment
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (institution/private/scientist s/commercial breeder)	5 (private)

In Europe and the US the species is kept and bred regularly.

References

CAMPBELL J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CANSECO-MÁRQUEZ, L. & F. MENDOZA-QUIJANO (2007): *Abronia taeniata*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2007: e.T63691A12698332.

CLAUSE, A G., I. SOLANO-ZAVALETA, K. A. SOTO-HUERTA, R. DE LA A. PÉREZ Y SOTO & C.A. HERNÁNDEZ-JIMÉNEZ (2018): Morphological Similarity in a Zone of Sympatry Between Two *Abronia* (Squamata: Anguidae), with Comments on Ecology and Conservation. Herpetological Conservation and Biology **13**(1): 183–193.

GOOD, D.A. (1988): Phylogenetic relationships among gerrhonotine lizards; an analysis of external morphology. University of California Publications in Zoology **121**: 139 pp.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe 2014(1): 14-26.

WIEGMANN, A.F.A. (1828): Beyträge zur Amphibienkunde. Isis von Oken **21**(4): 364-383.

Author: Christian Langner

Abronia vasconcelosii (BOCOURT, 1872)

Bocourt's Arboreal Alligator Lizard Spanish: Dragoncito de la meseta de Guatemala German: Guatemala-Baumschleiche



Abronia vasconcelosii

Photo Credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length up to 123 mm.

The dorsal ground color is green, yellow-green up to slight turquoise, with pigmented dorsal scales. The head scales are accentuated with black vermiculations. The region around the eye, the rostral and sub-labial scales as well as the spinelike supra-auricular scales are bright to pale yellow. The spinelike supra-auricular scales classify *Abronia vasconselosii* in the subgenus *Aculabronia*. The venter and flanks are slightly yellow, cream or green-white. The juveniles are bright green.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The species occurs on the Guatemalan plateau in cloud forests between 2000 and 2200 m asl. *Abronia vasconselosii* had been classified as a junior synonym of *A. aurita* (CAMPBELL & FROST 1993). This leads to considerable misperceptions of the distribution range of both taxa which is still unclear. Meanwhile they are considered to be separate species.

Type locality: Arguetta [= Argueta], Guatémala, above 2000 m asl.

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 25).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: s.

IUCN- Red List status: VU – Vulnerable B1ab(iii) (assessed May 2012).

The main threat for all arboreal alligator lizards is the massive habitat destruction. Cloud forests of Central America are one of the most endangered habitats worldwide. Illegal collection for the pet trade and hunting from rural people pose further threats. Arboreal alligator lizards are thought to be highly venomous and killed when seen.

Reproduction	
Secondary sexual traits	ହହ more slender than ଟଟ; head of ଟଟ wider and more prominent; ଟଟ more colorful
Sexual maturity	With about 2 years
Reproduction	Viviparous. The copula can take several hours or even days
Mating season	Late summer/ autumn; copula can take several hours up to days
Birth season	March / April
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	4 - 16
Gestation period	Up to 8 months
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size / weight	3 cm / 1 g
Sperm storage	Unknown

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction Annual changes in temperature, illumination and watering. (e.g. technical equipment, During the hibernation period, night temperatures should be care, social and climatic between 12 and 8 °C and day temperatures between 12 and 16 °C. An UV-radiation spot with temperatures between 25 conditions) 30 °C should be provided. Daily water spraying during summer and every second day during hibernation is needed. It is not possible to keep several males together due to their aggressive behavior, especially during the mating season. 1.1 or small groups of 1.2 are preferable and can easily kept together year-round Keeping difficulty Not difficult if the above mentioned conditions are ensured. A rich diet with a variety of insects supplemented with minerals and vitamins, especially for the juveniles, is important

General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	During frost-free season, individuals should be kept in vegetation rich, outdoor mesh terrariums with a minimum size of 60 x 60 x 80 cm (L x W x H). This is mandatory for all <i>Abronia</i> species. During wintertime, these enclosures should be placed in a temperate cool but frost-protected room indoors. An UV-Spot with max. temperatures of 25 - 30 °C under the spot at day and nighttime cooling to temperatures below 10 °C is necessary while keeping indoors. Juveniles are kept and handled similar to adults. Due to the potential aggressive behavior, it is not recommended to keep more than three juveniles together. As soon as freezing temperatures are not expectable any more, the enclosures should be placed outdoors. Keeping of the species is only recommended for advanced and experienced keepers. Indoor keeping through the whole year is not appropriate. Typical lizard diseases such as worms and protozoans, can occur in these arboreal alligator lizards. High parasite infestation is sign of a potential illegal wild catch. Captive bred generations should be minimally infested or completely parasite free. Infestation with the snake mite <i>Ophionyssus natricis</i> can rapidly end fatal and should therefore be immediately treated. Frontline® has been proven to be an appropriate treatment
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (institution/private/scientist s/commercial breeder)	4 (private)

Kept and bred occasionally in Europe and USA.

References

ACEVEDO, M., D. ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ & J. JOHNSON (2013): *Abronia vasconcelosii*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013: e.T203019A2758618

ACEVEDO, M., L.D. WILSON, E.B. CANO & C. VÁSQUEZ-ALMAZÁN (2010): Diversity and conservation status of the Guatemalan Herpetofauna. Pg. 406–435. In: WILSON, L.D., J.H. TOWNSEND & J.D. JOHNSON (Eds.): Conservation of Mesoamerican Amphibians and Reptiles. Eagle Mountain, Utah (Eagle Mountain Publishing LC.).

BOCOURT, M.F. (1872): Description de quelques Gerronotes nouveaux provenant du Mexique et de l'Afrique Centrale. Nouvelles Archives du Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle de Paris **7**(4): 101-108 [1871].

CAMPBELL, J.A & D.R. FROST (1993): Anguid lizards of the genus *Abronia*: revisionary notes, descriptions of four new species, a phylogenetic analysis, and key. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **216**: 1-121.

CENTENERO-ALCALÁ, E., V.H. JIMÉNEZ-ARCOS, A. ESCALONA-LÓPEZ & S.S. CRUZ-PADILLA (2009): Geographic Distribution. *Abronia deppei* (Deppe's Arboreal Alligator Lizard). Herpetological Review **40**(4): 450

LANGNER, C. (2014): Baumschleichen der Gattung Abronia. Terraria-Elaphe **2014**(1): 14-26.

LANGNER, C. (2014): Herpetologische Beobachtungen im Lebensraum von Abronia deppii im Valle de Bravo, Estado de México, Mexiko. Terraria-Elaphe **2014(**2): 46-55.

RAMÍREZ-BAUTISTA, A., U. HERNÁNDEZ-SALINAS, U.O. GARCÍA-VÁZQUEZ, A. LEYTE-MANRIQUE & L. CANSECO-MÁRQUEZ (2009): Herpetofauna del Valle de México: diversidad y conservación. Pachuca, Hidalgo, México (Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Hidalgo y Comisión Nacional para el Conocimiento y Uso de la Biodiversidad): 213 pp.

SCHMIDT-BALLARDO, W., I. SOLANO-ZAVALETA & A.G. CLAUSE (2015): *Abronia deppii*. Reproduction. Mesoamerican Herpetology **2**(2): 192-194.

STUART, L.C. (1951): The herpetofauna of the Guatemalan Plateau, with special reference to its distribution on the Southwestern Highlands. Contributions from the Laboratory of Vertebrate Biology, University of Michigan **49**: 1-71.

Author: Christian Langner

Chamaeleonidae

Rhampholeon acuminatus MARIAUX & TILBURY, 2006

Nguru pygmy chameleon German: Nguru-Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon acuminatus

Photo Credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 47-57 mm; total length: 82 mm.

Rhampholeon acuminatus has a leaflike body shape as most of the Rhampholeon species.

Nguru pygmy chameleons possess a wide round rostral appendage and a conspicuous stripe between the eyes. It has spiny scales on the head and along the dorsal crest. The ground color is variable; it can range from shades of green to light brown. The helmet and shoulder could have blue dots. The surrounding of the eye sometimes exhibits yellow or orange flecking. The venter of the body is usually of lighter color.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Nguru Mountains, Tanzania.

Type locality: Morogoro Region, Nguru Mountains, south of Komkore Forest, above the villages of Ubili, Tanzania (6°2'29" S; 37°30'40.5" E), at 1500 - 1600 m asl.

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: CR – Critically endangered B1ab(iii,v) (assessed 21 August 2013).

Secondary sexual traits	Tail of ♂♂ slightly longer than of ♀♀; ♀♀ are less rugose
Sexual maturity	After 12 months
Reproduction	Oviparous
Mating season	Late summer/ autumn
Birth season	March / April
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	5 - 9
Clutch/ year	2
Incubation period	Temperature dependent, between 60 and 90 days
Incubation temperature	18 to 20 °C
Hatching rate	> 90 %
Maturity reaching rate	Ca. 80 %
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size / weight	No data
Sperm storage	Yes
Sex ratio at hatching	Incubation at room temperature 1:1. No evidence of TSD

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding igstacleph

Trigger for reproduction	Difficult to assess in terrarium. Likely due to changing the dry and rainy season. It does not hibernate
Keeping difficulty	They can be kept in a vegetation rich, humid terrarium with daily temperature of maximum 21 °C and significant night setback. Terrarium should be misted daily. Feeding every two days with invertebrates supplemented with vitamins and minerals. Neon tubes for lightening and daily UV radiation should be used
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	They can be kept in pairs, as long as the terrarium size is 30 x 40 x 40 cm, or in groups of 1:2 (males are incompatible)

Care of the young, technical and time effort	Easily maintained in small groups in small moist terrariums. For lightening neon tubes with UV radiation, regulated with a timer, should be used for 1 h daily. Additionally, daily work includes feeding and misting
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Rather difficult, due to the requirements
Frequency of breeding in captivity	Rather infrequent
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	1 (private)

References

FISSEA, M., J. MARIAUX & M. MENEGON (2013): The "*Rhampholeon uluguruensis* complex" (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae) and the taxonomic status of the pygmy chameleons in Tanzania. Zootaxa **3746**(3): 439-453.

MARIAUX, J. & C.R. TILBURY (2006): The pygmy chameleons of the eastern Arc range (Tanzania): Evolutionary relationships and the description of three new species of *Rhampholeon* (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Herpetological Journal **16**(3): 315-331.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K., M. MENEGON & A. PLUMPTRE (2014): *Rhampholeon acuminatus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T172524A1344202.

Author: Christian Langner

Rhampholeon beraduccii MARIAUX & TILBURY, 2006

Beraducci's Pygmy Chameleon, Mahenge Pygmy Chameleon German: Beraduccis Zwergchamäleon

No photo available

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 28 mm; total length: 36 mm.

Rhampholeon beraduccii is the smallest species of the genus. The ground color is yellowish to light brown with several dark flecking. Sometimes it shows two thin diagonal bands along the flanks. It has a conspicuous rostral appendage.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Mahenge Mountains, Tanzania.

Type locality: Morogoro Region, Mahenge Mountains, Sali FR (8°57'57.4" S, 36°41'17.9"E), at 1000 m asl.

Beraducci's pygmy chameleons have been found in open landscapes in bushes and shrubs, few centimeters above the ground.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: VU – Vulnerable D2 (assessed 21 August 2013).

Reproduction

Unknown.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No keeping of this species is currently known.

References

FISSEA, M., J. MARIAUX & M. MENEGON (2013): The "*Rhampholeon uluguruensis* complex" (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae) and the taxonomic status of the pygmy chameleons in Tanzania. Zootaxa **3746**(3): 439-453.

MARIAUX, J. & C.R. TILBURY (2006): The pygmy chameleons of the eastern Arc range (Tanzania): Evolutionary relationships and the description of three new species of *Rhampholeon* (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Herpetological Journal **16**(3): 315-331.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K., M. MENEGON & A. PLUMPTRE (2014): *Rhampholeon beraduccii*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T172549A1345047.

Author: Christian Langner

Rhampholeon boulengeri Steindachner, 1911

Boulenger's pygmy chameleon German: Boulengers Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon boulengeri

Photo Credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: max. 60 mm; total length: 80 mm.

Rhampholeon boulengeri has a leaflike body shape as most of the *Rhampholeon* species. The ground color is light brown or grey with one or two dark diagonal crossbands in the flanks. The chameleon has a conic small rostral appendage.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The species occurs in Burundi, Kenya, Rwanda, Uganda, Tanzania and northeast of the Democratic Republic of the Congo.

Type locality: Hill northwest of Tanganyika, Democratic Republic of the Congo.

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: LC – Least Concern (assessed 20 August 2013).

Reproduction

Secondary sexual traits	Tail of ♂♂ slightly longer than of ♀
Reproduction	Oviparous
Litter size (Min. – Max.):	2
Incubation period	184 days
Incubation temperature	20 - 23 °C (daytime), 16 - 20 °C (night)

Very few data is available on this species. One gravid female laid a clutch, from which only one hatchling hatched and died after 120 days for an unknown reason (NECAS & SCHMIDT 2004).

Husbandry and captive breeding ightarrow

Keeping difficulty	They can be kept in a vegetation rich, slightly moist terrarium with daily temperature of 21 - 25 °C and lower temperatures at night. A thick ground leaf layer and dense vegetation is needed. Enclosure should be misted daily. Lizards should be fed every two days with supplemented vertebrates. Neon tubes and daily UV radiation should be used for lightening
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	1 (private)

References

BÖHME, W. & E. FISCHER (2000): Ein Bodenchamäleon (*Rhampholeon spectrum*) mit Pflanzenbewuchs: zweiter Nachweis von Moosen auf einem lebenden Wirbeltier. Herpetofauna **22**(129): 5-10.

FISSEA, M., J. MARIAUX & M. MENEGON (2013): The "*Rhampholeon uluguruensis* complex" (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae) and the taxonomic status of the pygmy chameleons in Tanzania. Zootaxa **3746**(3): 439–453.

HUGHES, D.F., K.A. TOLLEY, M. BEHANGANA, W. LUKWAGO, M. MENEGON, J.M. DEHLING, J. STIPALA, C.R. TILBURY, A.M. KHAN, C. KUSAMBA & E. GREENBAUM (2017): Cryptic diversity in *Rhampholeon boulengeri* (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae), a pygmy chameleon from the Albertine Rift biodiversity hotspot. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution **122**: 125-141.

MARIAUX, J. & C.R. TILBURY (2006): The pygmy chameleons of the eastern Arc range (Tanzania): Evolutionary relationships and the description of three new species of *Rhampholeon* (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Herpetological Journal **16** (3): 315-331.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

NECAS, P. & SCHMIDT, W. 2004. Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) 9 (48): 18-27

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanz-Chamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) **9**(48): 18-27.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Mysterious Mini-Dragons: the stump-tailed chameleons *Brookesia* and *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (GB) **35**: 10-21

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stummelschwanzchamäleons – Miniaturdrachen des Regenwalds. Die Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 255 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

STEINDACHNER, F. (1911): Vorläufiger Bericht über drei neue Arten aus der Familie Chamaeleontidae. Anzeiger der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien **10**: 177-179.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K. & A. PLUMPTRE (2014): *Rhampholeon boulengeri*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T172523A1344185.

Author: Christian Langner

27.07.2019

Rhampholeon bruessoworum BRANCH, BAYLISS & TOLLEY, 2014

Mount Inago Pygmy Chameleon German: Bruessows Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon bruessoworum

Photo Credit: Werner Conradie

Morphology

Snout-vent length: max. 47.5 mm; total length: max. 63 mm.

Small, spine-like scales are running along dorsal crest of the species. The flat helmet-shaped head is spineless. Nasal appendix is not very distinct.

The ground color of *Rhampholeon bruessoworum* contains a brown marbling with red-brown diagonal slashes on the flanks.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Mount Inago, Zambézia Province, Mozambique. It occurs in tropical rain forest at the base of the Granit island mountain Inago, Zambézia Province, Mozambique.

Type locality: rain forest on the base of the granite inselberg Mount Inago, Zambézia Province, Mozambique (15°04'51" S, 37°23'37" E), at ca. 1478 m asl.

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: CR – Critically Endangered B1ab(i,ii,iii)+2ab(i,ii,iii) (assessed 13 August 2014).

Reproduction

Oviparous, both females of the type series contained eggs in their oviducts in September.

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No information about keeping available.

References

BRANCH, W.R., J. BAYLISS & K.A. TOLLEY (2014): Pygmy chameleons of the *Rhampholeon platyceps* complex (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae): Description of four new species from isolated 'sky islands' of northern Mozambique. Zootaxa **3814**(1): 1–36.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K. & J. BAYLISS (2014): *Rhampholeon bruessoworum*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T61366030A61366047.

Author: Christian Langner

08.07.2019

Rhampholeon chapmanorum TILBURY, 1992

Chapman's Pygmy Chameleon German: Chapmans Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon chapmanorum

Photo credit: Colin Tilbury

Morphology

Snout-vent length: max. 51 mm; total length: 63 mm.

Rhampholeon chapmanorum has a leaf like body shape as most of the *Rhampholeon* species. The ground color is light brown and has dark, sometimes black, crossbands on the flanks. It also shows some white or yellowish flecking on the flanks. It has six sienna brown dots along the dorsum. The iris is red.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The species is endemic to "Natundu Hills" region in Malawi.

Type locality: evergreen forests above Chididi Police Station, in the summit of Malawi Hills, Natundu Hills Region, Malawi, at 940 m asl.

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: CR– Critically Endangered (Possibly Extinct) B1ab(iii)+2ab(iii) (assessed 20 August 2013).

Rhampholeon chapmanorum is considered the rarest chameleon worldwide (HANCE 2014).

In the original habitat is thought to be nearly extinct since the forest is completely destroyed. Luckily, in 1998 a small number of individuals were translocated to a private natural reserve where they could be established and successfully reproduced. In 2016, TIBURY (2018) found some individuals in a small patch of its original habitat.

Reproduction

Reproduction	Oviparous
Litter size	An autopsied female was gravid with 6 undeveloped eggs

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No keeping of the species is known.

References

HANCE, J. (2014): Meet the world's rarest chameleon: Chapman's pygmy. Mongabay. https://news.mongabay.com/2014/11/meet-the-worlds-rarest-chameleon-chapmans-pygmy/ (Zugriff am 26.08.2016)

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) **9**(48): 18-27.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Mysterious Mini-Dragons: the stump-tailed chameleons *Brookesia* and *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (GB) **35**: 10-21

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stummelschwanzchamäleons – Miniaturdrachen des Regenwalds. Die Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 255 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

STEINDACHNER, F. (1911): Vorläufiger Bericht über drei neue Arten aus der Familie Chamaeleontidae. Anzeiger der Kaiserlichen Akademie der Wissenschaften, Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Classe, Wien 10: 177-179.

TILBURY, C.R. (1992): A new dwarf forest chameleon (Sauria: *Rhampholeon* GUNTHER 1874) from Malawi, central Africa. Tropical Zoology **5**(1): 1-9

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K., M. MENEGON & A. PLUMPTRE (2014): *Rhampholeon chapmanorum*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T172568A1345654.

Author: Christian Langner

27.07.2019

Rhampholeon gorongosae BROADLEY, 1971

Gorongoso Pygmy Chameleon German: Gorongoso-Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon gorongosae

Photo credit: Colin Tilbury

Morphology

Snout-vent length: max 71 mm; total length: 105 mm.

Rhampholeon gorongosae differs, like *R. marshalli*, from the typically leaf mimicking body shape that most of the *Rhampholeon* species exhibit. Its body shape reminds that of a typical chameleon in miniature. With a total length of over 10 cm, it is one of the biggest species in its genus. A further, very atypical characteristic trait for the genus is the long prehensile tail.

The ground color is very variable. Males showing different grey to green colorations. A light brown line is running across the flanks from the corner of the lower jaw to the end of the tail. Males are smaller than females reaching less than the half of females' total body length. In males, the rostral appendix is much more prominent than in females.

Rhampholeon gorongosae was initially described as a subspecies of Rhampholeon marshalli.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The species is endemic to Mozambique and occurs in sub-montane evergreen forests at 1050 - 1800 m asl.

Type locality: Gorongoso Mts., Manica and Sofale District, Mozambique, at 1200 m asl.

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: LC – Least Concern (assessed 21 August 2013).

Reproduction

Reproduction	Oviparous
Litter size (Min. – Max.):	A female carried 11 eggs in November

Husbandry and captive breeding X

Up to date there is no data on keeping of the species.

References

BROADLEY, D.G. (1971): A review of *Rhampholeon marshalli* BOULENGER, with the description of a new subspecies from Mozambique (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Arnoldia **5**(10): 1-6.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) **9**(48): 18-27.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Mysterious Mini-Dragons: the stump-tailed chameleons *Brookesia* and *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (GB) **35**: 10-21

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stummelschwanzchamäleons – Miniaturdrachen des Regenwalds. Die Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 255 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K., M. MENEGON & A. PLUMPTRE (2014): *Rhampholeon gorongosae*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T42760243A42760252.

Author: Christian Langner

27.07.2019

Rhampholeon hattinghi TILBURY & TOLLEY, 2015

Nzawa Pygmy Chameleon German: Mount-Nzawa-Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon hattinghi

Photo credit: Colin Tilbury

Morphology

Snout-vent length: max. 56 mm; total length: max. 67 mm.

The ground color of *Rhampholeon hattinghi* is bright brown with olive-green flecking. It has two thin diagonal dark brown or dark green lines across the flanks. The color of the head is dark brown and usually blotched. It has five dark dots below the crest up to the tail region. The venter of the head is cream. The internal side of the forelimbs is pale orange. Males have a slightly longer tails than females.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The species has only been found in Mount Nzawa, Democratic Republic of the Congo.

Type locality: path edge vegetation in Mount Nzawa, Moba District, Katanga Province, Democratic Republic of the Congo (6° 51.07' S; 29° 35.87' E) at 1700m asl.

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

Oviparous

IUCN- Red List status: CR– Critically Endangered B1ab (i, ii, iii, v) +2ab (i, ii, iii, v) (assessed 2 June 2015).

The only habitat known for this species is a small forest patch of 2 km². The forest is under strong anthropogenic impact and has been reduced to the half from 2008 to 2014. The species is nearly extinct. The forest it inhabits is not protected and it is thought *R. hattinghi* could be extinct in less than a decade (TILBURY 2018).

Reproduction

Litter size (Min. – Max.):

Reproduction

The type female had 2 eggs in its oviduct

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No keeping of the species known.

References

BRANCH, W.R., J. BAYLISS & K.A. TOLLEY (2014): Pygmy chameleons of the *Rhampholeon platyceps* complex (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae): Description of four new species from isolated 'sky islands' of northern Mozambigue. Zootaxa **3814**(1): 001–036.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TILBURY, C.R. & K.A. TOLLEY (2015): Contributions to the herpetofauna of the Albertine Rift: Two new species of chameleon (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae) from an isolated montane forest, south eastern Democratic Republic of Congo. Zootaxa **3905**(3): 345-364.

TOLLEY, K. & C. TILBURY (2015): *Rhampholeon hattinghi*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2015: e.T75976755A75976771.

Author: Christian Langner

27.07.2019

Rhampholeon marshalli BOULENGER, 1906

Marshall's Stumptail Chameleon German: Marshalls Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon marshalli

Photo Credit: Colin Tilbury

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 73 mm max.; total length: 118 - 130 mm.

Rhampholeon marshalli has a body shape that differs from the typical form of the genus. It is not leaf-shaped, but more like the miniaturization of a typical chameleon. With over 10 cm total length it is one of the largest species in the genus. It has a long and prehensile tail, *which* is atypical in *Rhampholeon*.

The ground color is very variable. Males have different brown, grey, and olive color shapes, sometimes a turquoise and black flecking occurs. The ground color of females is lighter and tends to be more olive-green. Females are larger than males. The rostral appendage is more prominent in males. In males, the post cloacal region is distinctively swollen.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The species occurs in southeastern Mashonaland in the east of Zimbabwe. It inhabits moderately humid montane forests at higher altitudes.

Type Locality: Chirinda forest, southeastern Mashonaland, Zimbabwe at 1371 m asl.
CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: VU - Vulnerable B1ab(ii,iii)+2ab(ii,iii) (assessed 26 August 2013).

Reproduction

Reproduction	Oviparous
Clutch size	14 eggs

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No data of keeping is available. A female was observed laying 14 eggs in the wild. When the nest was checked after 35 days, all eggs had hatched except for one that hatched that same day. Therefore, the incubation period is estimated to be of approximately 35 days.

References

BOULENGER, G.A. (1906): Description of a new Chameleon genus *Rhampholeon* from Mashonaland. Annals and Magazine of Natural History 18 (7): 346-347.

BROADLEY, D.G. (1971): A rewiew of *Rhampholeon marshalli* BOULENGER, with the description of a new subspecies from Mozambique (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Arnoldia **5**(10): 1-6.

BROADLEY, D.G. (1962): Notes on *Chamaeleo marshalli*. Journal of the Herpetological Association of Rhodesia 20(1): 28.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) **9**(48): 18-27.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Mysterious Mini-Dragons: the stump-tailed chameleons *Brookesia* and *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (GB) **35**: 10-21

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stummelschwanzchamäleons – Miniaturdrachen des Regenwalds. Die Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 255 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K. (2014): *Rhampholeon marshalli*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T176321A47651599.

Author: Christian Langner

Rhampholeon maspictus BRANCH, BAYLISS & TOLLEY, 2014

Mount Mabu Pygmy Chameleon German: Mount-Mabu-Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon maspictus

Photo credit: Werner Conradie

Morphology

Snout-vent length: max. 65.2 mm; total length: max. 85.3 mm.

Rhampholeon maspictus is an unusually colorful species. The body, tail and limbs are leafgreen. The crest is marked with flecking and is slightly darker at all. On the lateral body parts, conspicuous light blue colored pattern elements exist, interspersed with two narrow diagonal yellow-green bands. The blue coloration extends to the head where it becomes more intense. The snout and gular region is dirt yellow. It has a bright yellow ring around the eye. The rostral appendage and tubercular scales are not very pronounced. There is a strong sexual dichromatism as its name (*maspictus* = colored male) indicates. Females are much less colorful; they are predominantly brownish.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Mount Inago, Zambézia Province, Mozambique.

Type locality: surrounding of Forest Base camp in Mount Mabu, Zambézia Province, Mozambique, (16°17'10.1"S, 36°24'02.2"E), at 967 m asl.

This species inhabits the remnants of rainforest in Monte Mabu. Most likely, the individuals sit on the understory vegetation and occasionally descend to the ground, as many *Rhampholeon* species do.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: NT – Near Threatened (assessed august 2014).

Mount Mabu is a protected area, therefore no acute threat is known. However, the area could be under threat, due to uncontrolled logging as occurs in northern parts of Mozambique.

Reproduction

Reproduction	Oviparous
Litter size	7 round eggs (3 in the right oviduct and 4 in the left one) were detected in an allotype female

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No keeping of the species is known.

References

BRANCH, W.R., J. BAYLISS & K.A. TOLLEY (2014): Pygmy chameleons of the *Rhampholeon platyceps* complex (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae): Description of four new species from isolated 'sky islands' of northern Mozambique. Zootaxa **3814**(1): 1–36.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018). Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K. & J. BAYLISS (2014): *Rhampholeon maspictus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T61364057A61365036.

Author: Christian Langner

Rhampholeon moyeri MENEGON, SALVIDIO & TILBURY, 2002

Moyer's pygmy chameleon, Udzungwa pygmy chameleon German: Moyers Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon moyeri

Photo Credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 64 mm max.; total length: 62 mm.

Rhampholeon moyeri has the characteristic leaf body shape of the genus. The ground color is brown to light brown, often with two dark crossbands. Few individuals are light yellowish or pale green. The helmet is rather flat with an inconspicuous crest. The most characteristic morphological trait is the rostral appendage that is curved slightly downwards.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The species occurs in Udzungwa Mountains in Tanzania.

Type Locality: steep slopes in Udzungwa protected forest (Luhega), Kihanga Valley, Udzungwa Mountains, Southeast Tanzania.

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: LC – Least Concern (assessed 28 August 2013).

Secondary sexual traits In do the post cloacal region is visibly swollen. do are slightly smaller than 99 **Oviparous** Reproduction Life expectancy in captivity Less than a year. They die after laying the clutch (both in terrarium and in the wild) Clutch size (Min. - Max.) 8 - 23 Clutch/ year 1 Temperature dependent, ca. 90 days Incubation period 18 - 21 °C Incubation temperature Hatching rate > 90 % Maturity reaching rate Few individuals that will not reproduce. Probably due to the lack of stimulus No F2 Generation bred Offspring size / weight Ca. 2 cm Sperm storage Yes Sex ratio at hatching Incubation at room temperature: ca. 1:1. No evidence of TSD

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	The species has a similar life cycle as <i>Furcifer labordi</i> . The females lay their clutch during the dry season, and hatchlings hatch in the rainy season
Keeping difficulty	They can be kept in a vegetation semi humid terrarium with daily temperatures between 18 and 22 °C and lower temperature at night. Terrarium should be misted daily. Feeding every two days with invertebrates, supplemented with vitamins and minerals. Neon tubes and daily UV radiation should be used for lightening

General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	They can be kept in pairs, as long as the terrarium size is 30 x 40 x 40 cm. Males and sometimes females are not compatible to each other
Care of the young, technical and time effort	It is possible to keep youngs of the same clutch together in a relatively moist terrarium. For lightening neon tubes with UV radiation regulated with a timer should be used for 1 h daily. Additionally, daily works includes feeding and misting
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Very difficult
Frequency of breeding in captivity	Rarely
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	1 (private)

References

BUSCH, A. & D. GRABER (2005): Zur Haltung und Zucht von *Rhampholeon moyeri*, MENEGON, SALVIDO & TILBURY 2002. CHAMAELEO **15**(1): 28-30.

HILDENHAGEN, T. (2005): Zur Biologie und Verbreitung tansanischer Stummelschwanzchamäleons der neuen Untergattung *Rhinodigitum* MATTHEE, TILBURY & TOWNSEND 2004 mit Bemerkungen zur Haltung und Vermehrung. Elaphe **13**(4): 31-42.

LYAKURWA, J. V. (2017): The Reptiles of the Uzungwa Scarp Forest Reserve (USFR): An Updated Checklist with Notes on Dagger-Tooth Vine Snake *Xyelodontophis uluguruensis*. Journal of East African Natural History **106**(2): 57-65.

MAKDA F., J. MARIAUX & M. MENEGON (2013): The "*Rhampholeon uluguruensis* complex" (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae) and the taxonomic status of the pygmy chameleons in Tanzania. Zootaxa **3746**(3): 439–453.

MARIAUX, J. & C.R. TILBURY (2006): The pygmy chameleons of the eastern Arc range (Tanzania): Evolutionary relationships and the description of three new species of *Rhampholeon* (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Herpetological Journal **16** (3): 315-331.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

MENEGON, M., S. SALVIDIO & C. TILBURY (2002): A new dwarf chamaeleon from the Udzungwa Mountains of Tanzania, East Africa (Squamata: *Rhampholeon* GÜNTHER 1874). Journal of Herpetology **36**(1): 51-57.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) **9**(48): 18-27.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Mysterious Mini-Dragons: the stump-tailed chameleons *Brookesia* and *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (GB) **35**: 10-21

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stummelschwanzchamäleons – Miniaturdrachen des Regenwalds. Die Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 255 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004: Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

Tolley, K. & M. Menegon (2014): *Rhampholeon moyeri*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T172550A1345066.

Author: Christian Langner

Rhampholeon nchisiensis (LOVERIDGE, 1953)

South African Stumptail Chameleon, Nchisi Pygmy Chameleon, Pitless Pygmy-Chameleon German: Nchisi-Mountain-Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon nchisiensis

Photo Credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: max. 43 mm; total length: max. 85 mm.

Like all other *Rhampholeon* species, it has the characteristic leaf body shape of the genus. The ground color ranges from slate grey to pale lemon yellow. The region around the eye can be mottled intensely blue. A prominent spiny superciliary crest and a small rostral appendix are present.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The species occurs in Malawi at 1500 m and in Tanzania at 1800 m asl.

Type locality: Nchisi Mountains, Malawi, at 1524 m asl.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: LC - Least Concern (assessed 26 August 2013).

Reproduction	
Secondary sexual traits	The tail is longer in ਰਾਰਾ in than in ♀♀; ♀♀ are larger than ਰਾਰਾ; ਰਾਰਾ appear more rugose
Sexual maturity	with 9 months
Reproduction	Oviparous
Longevity in captivity	1 - 3 years
Hatching season	March / April
Clutch size (Min. – Max.)	6 - 18
Clutch / year	3 - 5
Incubation period	Temperature dependent, between 50 and 90 days
Incubation temperature	18 - 21 °C
Hatching rate	> 90 %
Maturity reaching rate	Ca. 80 %
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size / weight	2 cm
Sperm storage	Yes
Sex ratio at hatching	Incubation at room temperature: ca. 1:1. No evidence of TSD

Husbandry and captive breeding igtrianglequinequilibrium

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Difficult to assess in terrarium. Likely due to changing the dry and rainy season. It does not hibernate
Keeping difficulty	They can be kept in a vegetation rich humid terrarium with daily temperature of maximum 21 °C and significant night setback. Terrarium should be misted daily. Feeding every two days with invertebrates, supplemented with vitamins and minerals. Neon tubes and daily UV radiation should be used for lightening
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	They can be kept in pairs, as long as the terrarium size is 30 x 40 x 40 cm. Also keeping of 1.2 is possible. Males are not compatible together
Care of the young, technical and time effort	Easily maintained in small groups in small moist terrariums. For lightening, neon tubes with UV radiation regulated with a timer should be used for 1 h daily. Additionally, daily works includes feeding and misting

Breeding difficulty evaluation	Intermediate, in comparison with other species of the genus
Frequency of breeding in captivity	Rather infrequent
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	1 (private)

References

LOVERIDGE, A. (1953): Zoological results of a fifth expedition to East Africa. III. Reptiles from Nyasaland and Tete. Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology Harvard **110**(3): 142-322.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) **9**(48): 18-27.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Mysterious Mini-Dragons: the stump-tailed chameleons *Brookesia* and *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (GB) **35**: 10-21

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stummelschwanzchamäleons – Miniaturdrachen des Regenwalds. Die Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 255 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004: Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K. & M. MENEGON (2014): *Rhampholeon nchisiensis*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T172562A1345440.

Author: Christian Langner

Rhampholeon nebulauctor BRANCH, BAYLISS & TOLLEY, 2014

Mount Chiperone Pygmy Chameleon German: Mount-Chiperone-Zwergchamäleon



Rhampoleon nebulauctor

Photo Credit: Werner Conradie

Morphology

Snout-vent length: max. 48.9 mm; total length: max. 62 mm.

The ground color of *Rhampholeon nebulauctor* is mottled brown or green. It has two wide, dark diagonal bands on the flanks. The head, neck and forelimbs can be bright green. The gular region is often bright blue. The venter of the back limbs and the tail is reddish orange. Females are eventually larger than males. Males have a more pronounced rostral appendix than females.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Mount Chiperone, Zambézia Province, Mozambique.

Type locality: understory vegetation in evergreen forest on the southeastern slopes of Mount Chiperone, Zambézia Province, Mozambique (16 30'25.9"S, 35 43'33.4"E), at ca. 1000 m asl.

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: VU – Vulnerable D2 (assessed 13 august 2014).

Reproduction

Reproduction	Oviparous
Litter size	All three females of the type series had 2 - 4 undeveloped eggs in their oviducts in November / December

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No keeping of the species is known.

References

BRANCH, W.R., J. BAYLISS & K.A. TOLLEY (2014): Pygmy chameleons of the *Rhampholeon platyceps* complex (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae): Description of four new species from isolated 'sky islands' of northern Mozambique. Zootaxa **3814**(1): 1–36.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K. & J. BAYLISS (2014): *Rhampholeon nebulauctor*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T61365784A61365805

Author: Christian Langner

Rhampholeon platyceps GÜNTHER, 1893

Mount Mulanje Pygmy Chameleon; Malawi Stumptail Chameleon German: Mount-Mulanje-Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon platyceps

Photo credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: max. 70 mm; total length: max. 100 mm.

Like all other *Rhampholeon* species, it has the characteristic leaf body shape of the genus. The ground color is a mixture of brown and grey. The brow crest has horn-like tubercles. A subspecies has been described as *Rhampholeon platyceps carri* that differs from the nominal form in lacking the rostral appendage of the nominate form and the tubercles at the brow crest.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Rhampholeon platyceps is confirmed to occur in the Shire Mountains of Malawi and at Namuli Massif in Mozambique.

Type locality: Shire Highlands, south of Nyassa Lake, at Mount Zomba and Monut Milanje, Nyassaland, Malawi. Terra typica restricta (fide STEVENS 1974: 13): Mulanje Mountain, Malawi.

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN – Endangered B1ab(ii,iii,v)+2ab(ii,iii,v) (assessed 26 August 2013).

Secondary sexual traits	The tail is longer in ♂♂ than in ♀♀
Reproduction	Oviparous
Sexual maturity	Ca. 18 months
Longevity in captivity	2 - 3 years
Clutch size (Min. – Max.)	2 - 3 eggs
Clutch/ year	2
Incubation period	Temperature dependent between 70 and 90 days
Incubation temperature	16 - 20 °C
Hatching rate	> 50 %
Maturity reaching rate	Ca. 50 %
F2 Generation bred	No, F1 did not reproduce
Offspring size	Ca. 2 cm
Sex ratio at hatching	Incubation at room temperature, ca. 1:1. No evidence of TSD

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding riangle

Keeping difficulty	They inhabit low vegetation in highlands. They can be kept in a vegetation rich, moist terrarium with daily temperature of maximum 21 °C, distinctively lower at night. Water should be daily sprayed, and terrarium should be misted daily. Feeding every two days with invertebrates, supplemented with vitamins and minerals. Neon tubes and daily UV radiation should be used for lightening
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	They can be kept in pairs, as long as the terrarium size is 30 x 40 x 40 cm
Care of the young, technical and time effort	It is possible to keep juveniles in small groups in a moist small terrarium. For lightening, neon tubes with UV radiation regulated with a timer should be used for 1 h daily. Additionally, daily works includes feeding and misting

Breeding difficulty evaluation	Very difficult
Frequency of breeding in captivity	Just a few individuals have ever been imported into Germany
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	1 (private)

References

BRANCH, W.R., J. BAYLISS & K.A. TOLLEY (2014): Pygmy chameleons of the *Rhampholeon platyceps* complex (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae): Description of four new species from isolated 'sky islands' of northern Mozambique. Zootaxa **3814**(1): 1-36.

GÜNTHER, A. (1893): Report on a collection of reptiles and batrachians transmitted by Mr. H. H. Johnston, C. B., from Nyassaland. Proceedings of the Zoological Society (London) **1892**: 555-558 [1892].

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

MENEGON, M., S. SALVIDIO & C. TILBURY (2002): A new dwarf chamaeleon from the Udzungwa Mountains of Tanzania, East Africa (Squamata: *Rhampholeon* GÜNTHER 1874). Journal of Herpetology **36**(1): 51-57.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) **9**(48): 18-27.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Mysterious Mini-Dragons: the stump-tailed chameleons *Brookesia* and *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (GB) **35**: 10-21

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stummelschwanzchamäleons – Miniaturdrachen des Regenwalds. Die Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 255 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004: Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K. (2014): *Rhampholeon platyceps*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T172532A1344495.

Author: Christian Langner

Rhampholeon spectrum (BUCHHOLZ, 1874)

Cameroon Stumptail Chameleon German: Kamerun-Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon spectrum

Photo credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: max. 61 mm; total length: 90 mm.

Like most other *Rhampholeon* species, it shows the characteristic leaf body shape of the genus. The ground color ranges from brown, grey-brown to red and black-brown. They can be either uniformly colored or mottled in a lichen-shaped pattern. They have two to three thin dorsolateral black crossbands running along the flanks. The venter is always lighter colored. A small, cone-shaped rostral appendix occurs in this species.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Rhampholeon spectrum occurs in Cameroon, Democratic Republic of Congo, Equatorial Guinea (Bioko Island), the Central African Republic and Gabon.

Type locality: Limbé and Bonjongo, Cameroon. Determined for Bojongo by MERTENS (1938).

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: LC – Least Concern (assessed 30 June 2009).

Reproduction

Secondary sexual traits	In $\sigma\sigma$ the post cloacal region is visibly swollen
Sexual maturity	With 12 months
Reproduction	Oviparous
Lifespan in captivity	2 - 4 years
Clutch size (Min. – Max.)	Always 2 eggs
Clutch/ year	3
Incubation period	Temperature dependent between 120 and 180 days
Incubation temperature	18 - 23 °C, dependent on the place of origin
Hatching rate	Ca. 100 %
Maturity reaching rate	80 %
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size	Ca. 2.5 cm
Sperm storage	Yes
Sex ratio at hatching	Incubation at room temperature, ca. 1:1. No evidence of TSD
Amphigonia retardata (sperm storage)	Yes
Parthenogenesis	Should be possible

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Changes between rainy and dry season. Frequent water spraying can work as a trigger. It does not hibernate
Keeping difficulty	They can be kept in a vegetation rich humid terrarium with daily temperatures between 20 and 24 °C, at room temperature at night. Terrarium should be misted daily. Feeding every two days with invertebrates, supplemented with vitamins and minerals. Neon tubes and daily UV radiation should be used for lightening

General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	They can be kept in pairs, as long as the terrarium size is 30 x 40 x 40 cm. Males and sometimes females are not compatible to each other
Care of the young, technical and time effort	It is possible to keep youngs of the same clutch together in a semi-humid terrarium. For lightening, neon tubes with UV radiation regulated with a timer should be used for 1 h daily. Additionally, daily works includes feeding and misting
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Relatively easy. However, due to their relatively short lifespan, long incubation period and small clutch-size, long term breeding is rather difficult. Several individuals are constantly needed for a successful continuous breeding
Frequency of breeding in captivity	Frequent breeding at the beginning because lizards were often imported. Today, the species is more rare in captivity
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	2 (1private; 1 Institution)

References

EUSKIRCHEN, O., A. SCHMITZ & W. BÖHME (2000): Zur Herpetofauna einer montanen Regenwaldregion in SW-Kamerun (Mt. Kupe und Bakossi-Gergland). IV. Chamaeleonidae, biogeographische Diskussion und Schutzmaßnahmen. Herpetofauna **22**(125): 21-34.

GONWOUO, L.N., M. LEBRETON, C. WILD, L. CHIRIO, P. NGASSAM & M.N. TCHAMBA (2006): Geographic and ecological distribution of the endemic montane chameleons along the Cameroon mountain range. Salamandra **42**(4): 213-230.

HARBORT, J. & H.-W. HERRMANN (2002): Untersuchungen an ausgewählten Chamäleon-Populationen am Mt. Nlonako /Kamerun mit Bemerkungen zu einem *Chamaeleo camerunensis*. Herpetofauna **24**(140): 25-34.

MARIAUX, J. & M. LEBRETON (2010): *Rhampholeon spectrum*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2010: e.T176322A7218445.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

MENEGON, M., S. SALVIDIO & C. TILBURY (2002): A new dwarf chamaeleon from the Udzungwa Mountains of Tanzania, East Africa (Squamata: *Rhampholeon* GÜNTHER 1874). Journal of Herpetology **36**(1): 51-57.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) **9**(48): 18-27.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Mysterious Mini-Dragons: the stump-tailed chameleons *Brookesia* and *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (GB) **35**: 10-21

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stummelschwanzchamäleons – Miniaturdrachen des Regenwalds. Die Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 255 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

PAUWELS, O.S.G., W. BÖHME & J.J. TANGA (2008): Das Westliche Erdchamäleon *Rhampholeon spectrum* BUCHHOLZ, 1874 in Gabun. Elaphe **16**(3): 59-61.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

WILD, C. (1994): Ecology of the western pygmy chameleon *Rhampholeon spectrum* BUCHHOLZ 1874 (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). British Herpetological Society Bulletin **49**: 29-35.

Author: Christian Langner

Rhampholeon spinosus (MATSCHIE, 1892)

Rosette-nosed Pygmy Chameleon, Usambara Spiny Pygmy Chameleon German: Stacheliges Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon spinosus

Photo credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 51 mm. Total length: 87 mm.

The body shape of *Rhampholeon spinosus* is different from the typical leaf shape form of most of the other *Rhampholeon* species.

With its lichen-like coloration and body shape, the species mimics a branch. A characteristic trait is the dominant plate shaped, rostral appendix. It has a prominent helmet that bends upward in the nuchal region. As suggested by the scientific name, this pygmy chameleon has a very spiny body. There are spiny tubercular scales along the crest and smaller ones on the limbs, below the throat, along the flanks and all over the tail. The ground color is very variable ranging from brown, grey to green shades. Some individuals have turquois flecking on the head and neck.

Rhampholeon spinosus was included in the genus *Chamaeleo* for a long time, until KLAVER & BÖHME (1986) classified it in the genus *Bradypodion*. It was in 2004, that TILBURY & MARIAUX included it in the genus *Rhampholeon*.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Rhampholeon spinosus occurs in Usambara Mountains in Tanzania at 700 - 1500 m asl. It is rather uncommon species inhabiting the perennial layer of afro-temperate forests. Sometimes individuals were observed in bushes, perched at heights up to 2 - 3 m.

Type Locality: Derema, Usambara Mountains, Tanzania.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 1977 (as *Bradypodion spinosum*, transfer to *Rhampholeon* by TILBURY & MARIAUX, 2004).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN – Endangered B1ab(ii,iii) (assessed 27 August 2013).

The main threat for the species is habitat change and habitat loss due to deforestation.

Secondary sexual traits	The rostral appendage in ଟଟ is bigger than in ୧୨. ଟଟ seem to be more spinose than ୧୧
Reproduction	Oviparous
Sexual maturity	With 18 months
Hatching season	March / April
Clutch size (Min. – Max.)	2 - 6
Clutch/ year	2 - 3
Incubation period	Temperature dependent between 35 and 70 days
Incubation temperature	18 - 23 °C
Hatching rate	> 50 %
Maturity reaching rate	Ca. 50%
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size	2 cm
Sperm storage	Yes
Sex ratio at hatching	During incubation at room temperature ca. 1:1. No evidence of TSD

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Difficult to assess in terrarium, but possibly the changes between rainy to dry season. It does not hibernate
Keeping difficulty	They can be kept in a vegetation rich, moist terrarium with a temperature of 25 °C during the day, at room temperatures at night. Terrarium should be misted daily. Feeding every two days with invertebrates, supplemented with vitamins and minerals. Neon tubes and daily UV radiation should be used for lightening
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	It is recommended to keep them individually in terrariums of minimum $30 \times 40 \times 40$ cm. It is also possible to keep them in pairs, but they should be monitored and separated if necessary
Care of the young, technical and time effort	Easily maintained in small groups in small moist terrariums. For lightening, neon tubes with UV radiation regulated with a timer should be used for 1 h daily. Additionally, daily work includes feeding and misting
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Rather difficult, due to the cool temperatures required
Frequency of breeding in captivity	Rather infrequent
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	1 (private)

References

FISSEA, M., J. MARIAUX & M. MENEGON (2013): The "*Rhampholeon uluguruensis* complex" (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae) and the taxonomic status of the pygmy chameleons in Tanzania. Zootaxa **3746**(3): 439–453.

HILDENHAGEN, T. (2005): Zur Biologie und Verbreitung tansanischer Stummelschwanzchamäleons der neuen Untergattung *Rhinodigitum* MATTEE, TILBURY & TOWNSEND 2004 mit Bemerkungen zur Haltung und Vermehrung. Elaphe **13**(4): 31-42.

MARIAUX, J. & C.R. TILBURY (2006): The pygmy chameleons of the eastern Arc range (Tanzania): Evolutionary relationships and the description of three new species of *Rhampholeon* (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Herpetological Journal **16** (3): 315-331.

MATSCHIE, P. (1892): Über eine kleine Sammlung von Säugethieren und Reptilien, welche Herr L. Conradt aus Usambara (Deutsch Ostafrika) heimgebracht hat. Sitzungsberichte der Gesellschaft naturforschender Freunde, Berlin 1892: 101-110.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

PATRICK, D.A., P. SHIRK, J.R. VONESH, E.B. HARPER, & K.M. HOWELL (2011): Abundance and Roosting Ecology of Chameleons in the East Usambara Mountains of Tanzania and the Potential Effects of Harvesting. Herpetological Conservation and Biology **6**(3): 422-431.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, Including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643pp.

TILBURY C.R & D. EMMRICH (1996): A new dwarf forest chameleon (Squamata: *Rhampholeon* GUNTHER 1874) from Tanzania, East Africa with notes on its infrageneric and zoogeographic relationships. Tropical Zoology **9**(1): 61-71.

TILBURY, C.R. & MARIAUX, J. (2004): A re-evaluation of the generic status of *Bradypodion spinosum* (MATSCHIE, 1892) and some consideration on the genus Rhampholeon. Revue Suisse de Zoologie 111: 103-111.

TOLLEY, K. & M. MENEGON (2014): *Rhampholeon spinosus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T176323A47652913.

Author: Christian Langner

13.08.2019

Rhampholeon temporalis (MATSCHIE, 1892)

Usambara Stumptail Chameleon, East Usambara Pygmy Chameleon German: Usambara-Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon temporalis

Photo credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: max. 50 mm; total length: 80 mm.

Like other *Rhampholeon* species, *Rhampholeon temporalis* has the characteristic leaf body shape of the genus. The ground color is light brown and grey. The head region is darker. The venter is lighter in color than the dorsum. The tip of the rostral appendix is slightly widened reminding the beak of a duck.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Today, there is only evidence that it occurs in the Usambara Mountains in Tanzania, up to 1400 m asl.

Type Locality: Derema, Usambara Mountains, Tanzania.

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN – Endangered B1ab(iii)+2ab(iii) (assessed 27 August 2013).

Secondary sexual traits	In ଟଟ the post cloacal region is visibly swollen. ଟଟ have longer tails than ହହ
Reproduction	Oviparous
Life expectancy in captivity	1 - 3 years
Clutch size (Min. – Max.)	Always 2 eggs
Clutch/ year	3 - 5
Incubation period	Temperature dependent 70 - 90 days
Incubation temperature	18 - 23 °C
Hatching rate	> 90 %
Maturity reaching rate	Ca. 80 %
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size	Ca. 2.5 cm
Sperm storage	Yes
Sex ratio at hatching	Incubation at room temperature: ca. 1:1. No evidence of TSD

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction	Change between rain and dry season. Frequent water spraying can work as a trigger. It does not hibernate
Keeping difficulty	They can be kept in a vegetation rich, moist terrarium with daily temperatures between 20 and 24 °C, at room temperature at night. Terrarium should be misted daily. Feeding every two days with invertebrates, supplemented with vitamins and minerals. Neon tubes and daily UV radiation should be used for lightening
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	They can be kept in pairs, as long as the terrarium size is 30 x 40 x 40 cm. Males and sometimes females are not compatible to each other
Care of the young, technical and time effort	It is possible to keep juveniles of the same clutch together in a relatively moist terrarium. For lightening, neon tubes with

	UV radiation regulated with a timer should be used for 1 h daily. Additionally, daily work includes feeding and misting
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Relatively easy. However, due to their relatively short lifespan, long incubation period and small clutch size, long term breeding is rather difficult. Several individuals are constantly needed for a successful continuous breeding
Frequency of breeding in captivity	Frequent breeding when they were imported frequently. Nowadays, the species is becoming rare in captivity
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	1 (private)

References

BEREC, M. (2011): *Rhampholeon temporalis* (MATSCHIE, 1892) Incubation time. African Herp News **53**: 49.

EMMETT, D.A. (2004): Altitudinal distribution of the short-tailed pygmy chameleon (*Rhampholeon brevicaudatus*) and the Usambara pitted pygmy chameleon (*R. temporalis*) in Tanzania. African Herp News **37**: 12-13.

HILDENHAGEN, T. (2005): Zur Biologie und Verbreitung tansanischer Stummelschwanzchamäleons der neuen Untergattung *Rhinodigitum* MATTHEE, TILBURY & TOWNSEND 2004 mit Bemerkungen zur Haltung und Vemehrung. **Elaphe** 13(4): 31-42.

LANTERMANN, W. & Y. LANTERMANN (2007): Chamäleons in den Ost-Usambara-Bergen im Norden Tansanias. Draco **7**(27): 45-48.

MARIAUX, J. & C.R. TILBURY (2006): The pygmy chameleons of the eastern Arc range (Tanzania): Evolutionary relationships and the description of three new species of *Rhampholeon* (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Herpetological Journal **16** (3): 315-331.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

NECAS, P. & SCHMIDT, W. 2004. Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) 9 (48): 18-27

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) **9**(48): 18-27.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Mysterious Mini-Dragons: the stump-tailed chameleons *Brookesia* and *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (GB) **35**: 10-21

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stummelschwanzchamäleons – Miniaturdrachen des Regenwalds. Die Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 255 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

PATRICK, D.A., P. SHIRK, J.R. VONESH, E.B. HARPER & K.M. HOWELL (2011: Abundance and Roosting Ecology of Chameleons in the East Usambara Mountains of Tanzania and the Potential Effects of Harvesting. Herpetological Conservation and Biology **6**(3):422–431.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K. & M. MENEGON (2014): *Rhampholeon temporalis*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T172529A1344396.

Author: Christian Langner

Rhampholeon tilburyi BRANCH, BAYLISS & TOLLEY, 2014

Mount Namuli Pygmy Chameleon German: Mount-Namuli-Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon tilburyi

Photo credit: Werner Conradie

Morphology

Snout-vent length: max. 55.3 mm; total length: max. 70 mm.

Rhampholeon tilburyi has a leaflike body shape as most of the *Rhampholeon* species. The ground color of *Rhampholeon tilburyi* is beige to dark brown. It has two dark parallel diagonal bands on the body flanks. Orange-brown color elements could also occur along the flanks. Females eventually larger than males. The males have a more pronounced rostral appendix than females.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The species occurs in Mount Namuli, Zambézia Province, Mozambique.

Type locality: Ukalini forests nestled on the southern flank of the main peak. Namuli Massif, Zambézia Province, Mozambique (no southern coordinates are given, 15 22'S 37 04'E), at ca. 1550 m asl.

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: CR - Critically Endangered B1ab(iii,v) (assessed 13 August 2014).

Reproduction

Reproduction	Oviparous
Litter size	The female holotype contained 7 spherical eggs in its oviduct

Husbandry and captive breeding X

No keeping of the species is known.

References

BRANCH, B. & P.G. RYAN (2001): Additions to the Mozambique Herpetofauna: two new lizards from the Namuli Massif. Herpetological Review **32**(4): 281-282.

BRANCH, W.R., J. BAYLISS & K.A. TOLLEY (2014): Pygmy chameleons of the *Rhampholeon platyceps* complex (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae): Description of four new species from isolated 'sky islands' of northern Mozambique. Zootaxa **3814**(1): 1–36.

CONRADIE, W., G.B. BITTENCOURT-SILVA, H.M. ENGELBRECHT, S.P. LOADER, M. MENEGON, C. NANVONAMUQUITXO, M. SCOTT & K.A. TOLLEY (2016): Exploration into the hidden world of Mozambique's sky island forests: new discoveries of reptiles and amphibians. Zoosystematics and Evolution **92**(2): 163–180.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanz-chamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) **9**(48): 18-27.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Mysterious Mini-Dragons: the stump-tailed chameleons *Brookesia* and *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (GB) **35**: 10-21

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stummelschwanzchamäleons - Miniaturdrachen des Regenwalds. Die Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 255 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K. & J. BAYLISS (2014): *Rhampholeon tilburyi*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T61365811A61365921.

Author: Christian Langner

Rhampholeon uluguruensis TILBURY & EMMRICH, 1996

Uluguru pygmy chameleon German: Uluguru-Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon uluguruensis

Photo credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 40 mm; total length: 50 mm.

The ground color of *Rhampholeon uluguruensis* is a marbled brown or green, which is intermittent from two broad dark collard stripes on the flanks. Region of the head, nape and frontal limps are often bright green, the chin is often bright blue. The surface of the hind limbs and tail is reddish orange. Females are eventually larger than males. Frontal appendix of the male is much more dominant.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The species is endemic to the Uluguru Mountains in Tanzania. *Rhampholeon uluguruensis* lives in the herbal layer of evergreen montane forests, in altitudes between 1500 and 1700 m.

Type locality: Bondwa Summit, Uluguru Mountains, Morogoro district, Tanzania, at 1650 m.

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: LC – Least Concern (assessed 26 August 2013).

Reproduction

Reproduction	Oviparous
Litter size	3

Husbandry and captive breeding X

Nothing is known about breeding and captive husbandry of this species.

References

BÖHME, W. & E. FISCHER (2000): Ein Bodenchamäleon (*Rhampholeon spectrum*) mit Pflanzenbewuchs: zweiter Nachweis von Moosen auf einem lebenden Wirbeltier. Herpetofauna **22**(129): 5-10.

FISSEA, M., J. MARIAUX & M. MENEGON (2013): The "*Rhampholeon uluguruensis* complex" (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae) and the taxonomic status of the pygmy chameleons in Tanzania. Zootaxa **3746**(3): 439–453.

HILDENHAGEN, T. (2005): Zur Biologie und Verbreitung tansanischer Stummelschwanzchamäleons der neuen Untergattung *Rhinodigitum* MATTEE, TILBURY & TOWNSEND 2004 mit Bemerkungen zur Haltung und Vermehrung. Elaphe **13**(4): 31-42.

MARIAUX, J. & C.R. TILBURY (2006): The pygmy chameleons of the eastern Arc range (Tanzania): Evolutionary relationships and the description of three new species of *Rhampholeon* (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Herpetological Journal **16** (3): 315-331.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

NECAS, P. & SCHMIDT, W. 2004. Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) 9 (48): 18-27

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Geheimnisvolle Mini-Drachen: Die Erd- und Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (Münster) **9**(48): 18-27.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Mysterious Mini-Dragons: the stump-tailed chameleons *Brookesia* and *Rhampholeon*. Reptilia (GB) **35**: 10-21

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stummelschwanzchamäleons - Miniaturdrachen des Regenwalds. Die Gattungen *Brookesia* und *Rhampholeon*. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 255 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TILBURY C.R & D. EMMRICH (1996): A new dwarf forest chameleon (Squamata: *Rhampholeon* GUNTHER 1874) from Tanzania, East Africa with notes on its infrageneric and zoogeographic relationships. Tropical Zoology **9**(1): 61-71.

TOLLEY, K. & M. MENEGON (2014): *Rhampholeon uluguruensis*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T172555A1345291.

Author: Christian Langner

Rhampholeon viridis MARIAUX & TILBURY, 2006

Green Pygmy Chameleon, Pare Pygmy Chameleon German: Grünes Zwergchamäleon



Rhampholeon viridis

Photo credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 38 - 47 mm; total length: 63 - 89 mm.

Rhampholeon viridis has small spinelike scales on the crest, but not on the head. The rostral appendix appears just as a small swelling. The tail in females is shorter than in males. The ground coloration of males is emerald-green. Specimens of the northern Pare region are red-rust flecked on the head and body. The species is morphologically similar to *R. temporalis* and is certainly distinguished only by hemipenes ornamentation.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

South of Pare Mountain, Tanzania.

Type locality: Tanga Region, south of Pare Mountain. It occurs in remnants of forest near the Hingili river, north of Shengena Mountain (4°14' 50" S, 37°59'28" E), at 1450 m asl.

This species is confined to be common in afro-temperate mountain forests, where it is found at forest edges. However, the habitat of this species has been extremely degraded and transformed.

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN - Endangered B1ab(ii,iii)+2ab(ii,iii) (assessed 21 August 2013).

The main threat is habitat loss and degradation. In addition, the species is collected for the pet trade.

Reproduction

Secondary sexual traits	The tail is longer in ♂♂ than in ♀♀
Sexual maturity	With 18 months
Reproduction	Oviparous
Mating season	Late summer / autumn
Hatching season	March / April
Clutch size (Min. – Max.)	3 - 8
Clutch / year	2
Incubation period	Temperature dependent between 77 and 113 days
Incubation temperature	18 - 20 °C
Hatching rate	> 50 %
Maturity reaching rate	Ca. 66 %
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size	No data
Sperm storage	Yes
Sex ratio at hatching	Incubation at room temperature: ca. 1:1. No evidence of TSD

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Changing between rainy and dry season. It does not hibernate
Keeping difficulty	They can be kept in a vegetation rich, moist terrarium with daily temperatures of maximum 21 °C lowering at night. Terrarium should be misted daily. Feeding every two days with invertebrates, supplemented with vitamins and minerals.
	Neon tubes and daily UV radiation should be used for lightening
--	---
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	They can be kept in pairs, as long as the terrarium size is 30 x 40 x 40 cm
Care of the young, technical and time effort	It is possible to keep juveniles in small groups in a moist terrarium. For lightening, neon tubes with UV radiation regulated with a timer should be used for 1 h daily. Additionally, daily work includes feeding and misting
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Rather difficult, due to the cool temperature requirements
Frequency of breeding in captivity	Rather infrequent
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	1 (private)

References

FISSEA, M., J. MARIAUX & M. MENEGON (2013): The "*Rhampholeon uluguruensis* complex" (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae) and the taxonomic status of the pygmy chameleons in Tanzania. Zootaxa **3746**(3): 439–453.

MARIAUX, J. & C.R. TILBURY (2006): The pygmy chameleons of the eastern Arc range (Tanzania): Evolutionary relationships and the description of three new species of *Rhampholeon* (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Herpetological Journal **16**(3): 315-331.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K., M. MENEGON & A. PLUMPTRE (2014): *Rhampholeon viridis*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T42760305A42760312.

Author: Christian Langner

Rieppeleon brachyurus (GÜNTHER, 1893)

Beardless Pygmy Chameleon, Zomba Pygmy Chameleon German: Stummelschwanzchamäleon



Rieppeleon brachyurus

Photo credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 50 mm; total length: 58 mm.

Rieppeleon brachyurus has a laterally compressed, leaf-shaped body shape. It is by far the smalest *Rieppeleon* species. Brown to fawn colors prevail in body coloration, even yellowish pigmentation could be present. According to its arousal stage, a more or less distinct lateral stripe runs from eye to tail. An important feature distinguishing from both other species in the genus is the complete lacking of any kind of "bearded" appendages at the chin resulting in the common English name.

Rieppeleon brachyurus was formerly placed in the genus *Rhampoleon* and *Brookesia*, before MATTHEE, TILBURY & TOWNSEND (2004) erected the new genus *Rieppeleon*.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Rieppeleon brachyurus occurs in Malawi, Mozambique and southeast Tanzania. The habitat is described as Miombo-forest and adjacent grass savanna. In Malawi, the species also occurs in gallery forests. In Tanzania, it lives in submontanous forests on the Rondo plateau.

Type locality: Shiré Highlands, south of Lake Nyassa, principally upon Mount Zomba and Mount Milanje, Nyassaland (= Malawi).

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: CR – Critically endangered B1ab(iii,v) (assessed 21 August 2013).

Secondary sexual traits Tail of Jord longer than tail of 99; Jord smaller at all With 6 months Sexual maturity Reproduction **Oviparous** March / April Mating season Litter size (Min. - Max.) 2 - 5 Clutch / year 2 - 3 Incubation period Temperature dependent between 50 and 70 days Incubation temperature 20 - 24 °C > 90 % Hatching rate Maturity reaching rate Ca. 80 % F2 generation bred Yes Offspring size 2 cm Yes Sperm storage Sex ratio at hatching Incubation at room temperature 1:1. No evidence of TSD

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction	Changes between the rainy and dry season. It does not hibernate
Keeping requirements	Inhabitant of grass savanna. These lizards could be kept in a densely planted, humid terrarium at daytime temperatures of maximum 25 °C and night setback. The terrarium should be misted daily. The animals should be fed every second day with small supplemented invertebrates. The terrarium should be lightened with neon tubes. A slightly UV-emitting neon bulb should be used additionally
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	They can be kept in pairs, as long as the terrarium size is 30 x 40 x 40 cm, or in groups of 1.2 or 1.3

Care of the young, technical and time effort	For small groups in small moist terrariums, it is recommended to use neon tubes with 1 h daily UV radiation regulated with a timer. Additionally, feeding and spraying is needed
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Breeding success is easy, even for beginners. The problem of a continuous breeding is the short live period of this species. A larger amount of stock animals is needed
Frequency of breeding in captivity	Breeding occurs rarely, because only few specimens have been imported in the past to Germany and captive stock is small
Number of evaluated questionnaires	1 (private)

References

FISSEA, M., J. MARIAUX & M. MENEGON (2013): The "*Rhampholeon uluguruensis* complex" (Squamata: Chamaeleonidae) and the taxonomic status of the pygmy chameleons in Tanzania. Zootaxa **3746**(3): 439–453.

HILDENHAGEN, R. (2009): *Rhampholeon (Rhampholeon) spinosus* MATSCHIE. Sauria **30**(4): 2 [2008].

MARIAUX, J. & C.R. TILBURY (2006): The pygmy chameleons of the eastern Arc range (Tanzania): Evolutionary relationships and the description of three new species of *Rhampholeon* (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Herpetological Journal **16**(3): 315-331.

MATSCHIE, P. (1892): Über eine kleine Sammlung von Säugethieren und Reptilien, welche Herr L. Conradt aus Usambara (Deutsch Ostafrika) heimgebracht hat. Sitzungsberichte der Gesellschaft naturforschender Freunde, Berlin **1892**: 101-110.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society (London) B: Biological sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

MÜLLER, R. & W. SCHMIDT (2008): Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattung *Rieppeleon*. Herpeton-Verlag, Offenbach, 95 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

PATRICK, D.A., P. SHIRK, J.R. VONESH, E.B. HARPER, & K.M. HOWELL (2011): Abundance and Roosting Ecology of Chameleons in the East Usambara Mountains of Tanzania and the Potential Effects of Harvesting. Herpetological Conservation and Biolology **6**(3):422-431.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TILBURY, C.R. & J. MARIAUX (2004): A re-evaluation of the generic status of *Bradypodion spinosum* (MATSCHIE, 1892) and some consideration on the genus *Rhampholeon*. Revue Suisse de Zoologie **111**(1): 103-111.

TOLLEY, K. (2014): *Rieppeleon brachyurus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T172548A1345030.

Author: Christian Langner

Rieppeleon brevicaudatus (MATSCHIE, 1892)

Bearded Pygmy Chameleon, Short-Tailed Pygmy Chameleon German: Stummelschwanzchamäleon



Rieppeleon brevicaudatus

Photo credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 75 mm; total length: 94 mm.

Rieppeleon brevicaudatus has a lateral compressed leaf-shaped body shape.

Brown to gray and ochre colors prevail in body coloration. Even yellowish, greenish and redish pigmentation could be present. According to its arousal stage, more or less distinct stripe and spots could be present. An important distinguishing feature to *R. brachyurus* is the presence of "bearded" appendages at its chin. This results in the common English name "Bearded Pygmy Chameleon".

Rieppeleon brevicaudatus was formerly placed in the genus *Rhampoleon* and *Brokesia*, before MATTHEE, TILBURY & TOWNSEND (2004), erected the genus *Rieppeleon*.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Rieppeleon brachyurus occurs in eastern Tanzania and Kenya. The habitat is described as submontane forest like the Usambara and Ulugurus in the eastern Arc Mountains.

It occurs in altitudes of 1200 - 1500 m.

Type locality: Derema, Usambara Mountains, Tanzania.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

Triago

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: CR - Critically endangered B1ab(iii,v) (assessed 21 August 2013).

Reproduction

Secondary sexual traits Tail of dd longer than tail of 99 After 6 months Sexual maturity Reproduction **Oviparous** March / April Mating season Litter size (Min. - Max.) 2 - 9 Clutch/ year 3 - 5 Incubation period Temperature dependent between 30 and 70 days Incubation temperature 18 - 25 °C > 90 % Hatching rate Ca. 80 % Maturity reaching rate Yes F2 generation bred Offspring size 2 cm Yes Sperm storage Sex ratio at hatching Incubation at room temperature 1:1. No evidence of TSD

Husbandry and captive breeding								
r for reproduction	Change	between	the	rain	and	dry	season.	lt

Trigger for reproduction	Change between the rain and dry season. It does not hibernate
Keeping requirements	Inhabitant of grass savanna. These lizards could be kept in a densely planted, humid terrarium at daytime temperatures of maximum 25 °C and night setback. The terrarium should be misted daily. The animals should be fed every second day with small supplemented invertebrates. The terraria should be lightened with neon tubes. A slightly UV-emitting neon bulb should be used additionally
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	They can be kept in pairs, as long as the terrarium size is 30 x 40 x 40 cm, or in groups of 1.2 or 1.3. Males are aggressive among each other

Care of the young, technical and time effort	Easy to maintain in small groups in small moist terrariums. It is recommended to use neon tubes with 1 h daily of UV radiation regulated with a timer. Additionally, feeding and spraying
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Breeding succes is easy even for beginners. The problem of a continuous breeding is the short live period of the species. A larger amount of stock animals is needed
Frequency of breeding in captivity	The species was common in captivity when it was regularly imported. Nowadays captive stock is small and breeding occurs more rarely
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	1 (private)

References

EMMETT, D.A. (2004): Altitudinal distribution of the short-tailed pygmy chameleon (*Rhampholeon brevicaudatus*) and the Usambara pitted pygmy chameleon (*R. temporalis*) in Tanzania. African Herp News **37**: 12-13.

LEPTIEN, R. (2006): Mimese und Abwehrverhalten bei Stummelschwanzchamäleons. Reptilia (Münster) **11**(60): 5-6.

LUTZMANN, N., S. ESSER, A. FLAMME & H. SCHNEIDER (2004): Haltung und Vermehrung des Stummelschwanzchamäleons *Rhampholeon brevicaudatus*. Reptilia (Münster) **9**(48): 28-33.

LUTZMANN, N., S. ESSER, A. FLAMME & H. SCHNEIDER (2004): *Rhampholeon brevicaudatus*: care and breeding of the stump-tailed chameleon. Reptilia (GB) **35**: 22-27

MARIAUX, J. & C.R. TILBURY (2006): The pygmy chameleons of the eastern Arc range (Tanzania): Evolutionary relationships and the description of three new species of *Rhampholeon* (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Herpetological Journal **16**(3): 315-331.

MATSCHIE, P. (1892): Über eine kleine Sammlung von Säugethieren und Reptilien, welche Herr L. Conradt aus Usambara (Deutsch Ostafrika) heimgebracht hat. Sitzungsberichte der Gesellschaft naturforschender Freunde, Berlin **1892**: 101-110.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society (London) B: Biological sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

MÜLLER, R. & W. SCHMIDT (2008): Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattung *Rieppeleon*. Herpeton-Verlag, Offenbach, 95 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

PATRICK, D.A., P. SHIRK, J.R. VONESH, E.B. HARPER, & K.M. HOWELL (2011): Abundance and Roosting Ecology of Chameleons in the East Usambara Mountains of Tanzania and the Potential Effects of Harvesting. Herpetological Conservation and Biolology **6**(3):422-431.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TOLLEY, K. & M. MENEGON (2014): *Rieppeleon brevicaudatus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T172520A1344134.

Author: Christian Langner

Rieppeleon kerstenii (PETERS, 1868)

Kenya Stumptail Chameleon, Pygmy Grass Chameleon German: Somali-Stummelschwanzchamäleon



Rieppeleon kerstenii

Photo credit: Wolfgang Schmidt

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 71 mm; total length: 100 - 120 mm.

Fawn colors prevail in body coloration. Especially in males, a brown-orange pigmentation could be present. According to its arousal stage, more or less distinct stripe could be present.

The predominantly homogeneous scalation of *Rieppeleon kerstenii* is irregularly interfused with enlarged tubercle scales. They are predominantly present on both sides of the dorsal crest, on the limbs, eyelids, and along the ventral fringe. On the throat, they form very distinct rows. This chin-crest distinguishes the species clearly from both congeners.

Rieppeleon kerstenii was formerly placed in the genus *Rhampoleon* and *Brokesia*, before MATTHEE, TILBURY & TOWNSEND (2004) erected the genus *Rieppeleon*.

Next to the nominate form the subspecies *Rieppeleon kerstenii robecchii* (BOULENGER 1891) was described.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Rieppeleon kerstenii kerstenii occurs in northeast and east Kenya and east Tanzania.

Rieppeleon kerstenii robecchii occurs in Somalia, Äthiopia and northeast Kenya.

The species is much less specialized in its habitat preference than other dwarf chameleons of the genus *Rhampholeon* and *Rieppeleon*. *Rieppeleon kerstenii* occurs in a variety of habitats. It inhabits evergreen forests just as coastal scrubs, savanna and even semidesert regions.

Type locality of *R. k. kerstenii*: Wanga [=Vanga], bei Mombas (= Mombasa), Kenya.

Type locality of *R. k. robecchii*: "Wuorandi, near Obbia" [= Warandi, Somalia].

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 27, 28).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: CR – Critically endangered B1ab(iii,v) (assessed 21 August 2013).

Secondary sexual traits	Tail of ਰਾਰਾ longer than tail of ♀♀; ਰਾਰਾ distinctly smaller and more slender
Sexual maturity	After 9 months
Reproduction	Oviparous
Mating season	March / April
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	2 - 9
Clutch/ year	3 - 5
Incubation period	Temperature dependent between 35 and 90 days
Incubation temperature	21 - 28 °C, it depends on the origin
Hatching rate	> 90 %
Maturity reaching rate	Ca. 80 %
F2 generation bred	Yes
Offspring size	2.5 cm
Sperm storage	Yes
Life expectancy	1 -3 years
Sex ratio at hatching	Incubation at room temperature 1:1. No evidence of TSD

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction	Changes between the rain and dry season. It does not hibernate
Keeping requirements	Inhabitant of grass savanna. These lizards could be kept in a densely planted, humid terrarium at daytime temperatures of maximum 25 °C, and night setback. The terrarium should be misted daily. The animals should be fed every second day with small supplemented invertebrates. The terrarium should be lightened with neon tubes. A slightly UV-emitting neon bulb should be used additionally
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	They can be kept in pairs, as long as the terrarium size is 30 x 40 x 40 cm, or in groups of 1.2 or 1.3. Males are aggressive among each other
Care of the young, technical and time effort	Easy to maintain in small groups in small moist terrariums. It is recommended to use neon tubes with UV radiation 1 h daily, regulated with a timer. Additionally, feeding and spraying
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Breeding succes is easy, even for beginners. The problem of a continuous breeding is the short live period of the species. A larger amount of stock animals is needed
Frequency of breeding in captivity	Just a few specimens were imported into Germany in the past. Nowadays, breeding occurs rarely because captive stock is small
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	1 (private)

References

BOULENGER, G.A. (1891): On some Reptiles collected by Sig. L. BRICCHETTI ROBECCHI in Somaliland. Annali del Museo Civico di Storia Naturale di Genova Serie 2 **12**: 5-15.

BOULENGER, G.A. (1892): On newly-discoverded East African chameleons, with remarks on some other reptiles described by Dr. Steindachner. Annals and Magazine of Natural History 9 SERIE 6: 72-74.

FRIEDERICH, U. (1985): Beobachtungen an *Rhampholeon kerstenii kerstenii* (PETERS, 1868) im Terrarium. Salamandra **21**(1): 40-45.

LEPTIEN, R. (1991): Haltung und Nachzucht von *Rhampholeon kerstenii kerstenii* (PETERS, 1868). Salamandra **27**(1-2): 70-75.

LEPTIEN, R. (2006): Mimese und Abwehrverhalten bei Stummelschwanzchamäleons. Reptilia (Münster) **11**(60): 5-6.

MARIAUX, J. & C.R. TILBURY (2006): The pygmy chameleons of the eastern Arc range (Tanzania): Evolutionary relationships and the description of three new species of *Rhampholeon* (Sauria: Chamaeleonidae). Herpetological Journal **16** (3): 315-331.

MATTHEE, C., C.R. TILBURY & T. TOWNSEND (2004): A phylogenetic review of the African leaf chameleons: genus *Rhampholeon* (Chamaeleonidae): the role of vicariance and climate change in speciation. Proceedings of the Royal Society London B: Biological Sciences **271**(1551): 1967-1975.

MÜLLER, R. & W. SCHMIDT (2008): Stummelschwanzchamäleons der Gattung *Rieppeleon*. Herpeton-Verlag, Offenbach, 95 pp.

NECAS, P. & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Stump-tailed Chameleons. Miniature Dragons of the Rainforest. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 256 pp.

PATRICK, D.A., P. SHIRK, J.R. VONESH, E.B. HARPER, & K.M. HOWELL (2011): Abundance and Roosting Ecology of Chameleons in the East Usambara Mountains of Tanzania and the Potential Effects of Harvesting. Herpetological Conservation and Biolology **6**(3):422-431.

PETERS, W.C.H. (1868): Über eine neue Nagergattung, *Chiropodomys penicillatus*, sowie über einige neue oder weniger bekannte Amphibien und Fische. Monatsberichte der Königlich Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin, **1868**: 448-461.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

TILBURY, C. (2018): Chameleons of Africa: An Atlas, including the Chameleons of Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt, 643 pp.

TILBURY, C.R. & J. MARIAUX (2004): A re-evaluation of the generic status of *Bradypodion spinosum* (MATSCHIE, 1892) and some consideration on the genus *Rhampholeon*. Revue Suisse de Zoologie **111**(1): 103-111.

TOLLEY, K. (2014): *Rieppeleon kerstenii.* The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T172535A1344556.

Author: Christian Langner

Gekkonidae

Cnemaspis psychedelica GRISMER, NGO & GRISMER, 2010

Psychedelic Rock Gecko German: Psychedelischer Felsengecko Vietnamesisch: Tac ke duoi vang



Cnemaspis psychedelica / Allwetterzoo Münster

Photo credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 75 mm; total length: 160 mm maximum.

The head is green-yellow becoming intense yellow with black bands toward the nuchal region. The ground color of the dorsum and the limbs up to the joints is bright purple. Feet and tail are bright orange.

Depending on the light intensity in the terrarium the colors can change and become darker and less intense.

The lack of lamellae on the toe pads, the presence of claws, and the flattened body indicate their saxicolous adaption.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Hon Khoai Island and Hon Tuong Island, in Rach Gia bay south of Can Mau Province, Vietnam. It is a saxicolous species and well adapted to granite formations in the rainforest.

Type locality: Hon Khoai Island, Ca Mau Province, Ngoc Hien District, Vietnam (08°26.098 N, 104°49.536 E).

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex I since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 29).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN – Endangered B1ab(iii)+2ab(iii) (assessed 8 June 2016).

Due to the very small distribution area of 8 km² in Hon Khoai Island, and the even smaller neigbouring island Hon Tuong, as well as its strong association to granitic rock habitats, the species is especially vulnerable to anthropogenic interventions such as habitat destruction.

Secondary sexual traits	Subadult and adult males can be identified by their swollen		
	cloacal region (where the hemipenes are located)		
Sexual maturity	12 months, 16 cm TL		
Reproduction	Oviparous		
Mating season	Spring		
Clutch size (Min. – Max.)	Mostly 2 eggs, rarely 1 egg; recent field research found that communal nesting sites in heights of 0.5 - 3.5 m are used		
Clutch / year	4 - 5, from spring to autumn every 6 - 8 weeks; in the natural habitat clutches were recorded in November and January		
Incubation period	55 - 90 days		
Incubation temperature	24 - 32 °C (day time), 20 - 24 °C (night time)		
Hatching rate	75 %		
Maturity reaching rate	100 % (up to date data only available from a breeding pair that had 10 juveniles)		
F2 Generation bred	Yes		
Size/weight of the hatchlings	5 cm TL		
Sex ratio at hatching	1:1 ratio (from the current data available) from incubation in terrarium with temperature variation		

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Cool period (22 - 26 °C day time; 20 - 22 C° night time) with reduced daylight of 8 h / day in winter. The increase in temperature and daylight in spring leads to mating and laying of eggs. The adults can be kept in pairs the whole year round
Keeping requirements	Relatively moist rain forest terrarium (40 x 30 x 60 cm; the width of the terrarium doesn't play an important role since they dwell on the walls) with rocky surface walls (saxicolous species). Moderate lighting, 35 W UVB MD-Lamp. Water spraying 2 x 10 seconds daily needed. A temperature gradient in the terrarium with 24 °C (below) to 36 °C (above) is needed. Bark pieces should be leaned on the walls to serve as shelter. Additionally, real plants can also serve as shelter. A calcium carbonate based supplement and water should always be available
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	The eggs are glued on the surface, therefore are left inside the terrarium with the adults. As soon as the juveniles are hatched they should be removed from the terrarium. Although sometimes the juveniles stayed few days inside the terrarium with the adults, none was found to be eaten or bitten on the tail. Sometimes the eggs are laid exposed to extreme temperatures (below the lamps), which leaves room for improvement of the hatching rate. The shell of the eggs is very thick; therefore, the females need enough calcium carbonate. Please note that they move very fast, but can't climb on glass
Care of the young, technical and time effort	Should be kept individually in small terrariums or boxes which should be placed under neon tubes. The terrariums should be sprayed daily
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Breeding is easy for experienced gecko keepers
Frequency of breeding in captivity	Rarely
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	4 (3 privates, 1 Institution)

References

GRISMER, L.L., M. SUMONTHA, M. COTA, J.L. GRISMER, P.L. WOOD, O.S.G. PAUWELS & K. KUNYA (2010): A revision and redescription of the rock gecko *Cnemaspis siamensis* (TAYLOR 1925) (Squamata: Gekkonidae) from Peninsular Thailand with descriptions of seven new species. Zootaxa **2576**(1): 1–55.

GRISMER, L.L., V.T. NGO & J.L. GRISMER (2010): A colorful new species of insular rock gecko (*Cnemaspis* STRAUCH 1887) from southern Vietnam. Zootaxa **2352**(1): 46–58.

GRISMER, L.L., P.L. WOOD, S. ANUAR, A. RIYANTO, N. AHMAD, M.A. MUIN, M. SUMONTA, J.L. GRISMER, C.K. ONN, E.S.H. QUA & O.S.G. PAUWELS (2014): Systematics and natural history of Southeast Asian Rock Geckos (genus *Cnemaspis* STRAUCH, 1887) with descriptions of eight new species from Malaysia, Thailand, and Indonesia. Zootaxa **3880**(1): 1–147.

KWET, A. (2016): Ergebnisse der 17. CITES-Konferenz in Johannesburg – neue Regelungen für einige Reptilien und Amphibien. Terraria-Elaphe **2016**(6): 8-11.

NGO H.N., T.Q. NGUYEN, T.V. NGUYEN T.V, F. BARSCH, T. ZIEGLER & M. VAN SCHINGEN (2016): First population assessment of the endemic insular Psychedelic Rock Gecko (*Cnemaspis psychedelica*) in southern Vietnam with implications for conservation. Amphibian & Reptile Conservation **10**(2): 18-26 (e124).

NGO, H.N., T.Q. NGUYEN. T.V. NGUYEN, M. VAN SCHINGEN & T. ZIEGLER (2018): Microhabitat selection and communal nesting in the insular Psychedelic Rock Gecko, *Cnemaspis psychedelica*, in Southern Vietnam with updated information on trade. Nature Conservation **31**: 1-18.

NGUYEN, T.Q., H. NGO, T. ZIEGLER & M. VAN SCHINGEN (2016): *Cnemaspis psychedelica*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T97210381A97210384.

ZIEGLER, T. & T.Q. NGUYEN (2015): Neues von den Forschungs- und Naturschutzprojekten in Vietnam und Laos. Zeitschrift des Kölner Zoos **58**(2): 79-108.

ZIEGLER, T., A. RAUHAUS, K.V. NGUYEN & T.Q. NGUYEN (2016): Building of a Conservation Breeding Facility for the Psychedelic Rock Gecko (*Cnemaspis psychedelica*) in Southern Vietnam. Der Zoologische Garten 85(5): 224-239.

Author: Christian Langner

Lygodactylus williamsi LOVERIDGE, 1952

Turquoise Dwarf Gecko, Williams' Dwarf Gecko German: Türkisblauer Zwergtaggecko



Lygodactylus williamsi

Photo credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Snout-vent length: 84 mm.

Lygodactylus williamsi is a very colorful species. The ground color of adult males is bright blue. It has a black line from the eye to the nuchal region with two parallel thinner lines starting behind the eye, one above and one below it. The lower one is sometimes discontinuous. Over the forelimbs it has irregular black spots. The flanks are marked with smaller black dots. The venter is bright orange. The dorsum of females is turquoise to olive green and the venter mint green. Females also have black spots along the flanks and nuchal region. Like all species of the genus, they have well developed toe pads.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The species is endemic for the Kimboza forest, a natural reserve of 385 ha northeast of Tanzania. It inhabits fragments of lowland rain forest in the east slopes of Uluguru Mountains. Here it primarily dwells on screwpine (*Pandanus*) which the preferred microhabitat of the species.

Type locality: Kimboza Forest, Morogoro Province, Tanzania, at 350 m asl.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex I since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 30).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: A.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: CR – Critically Endangered B1ab(iii,v)+2ab(iii,v) (assessed 22 February 2012).

The extremely small distribution range and habitat destruction are big threats to this critically endangered species. Additionally, the species was also threatened due to collection for the pet trade in the past.

Secondary sexual traits	Strong sexual dichromatism in adults			
Sexual maturity	?♀ 3-4 months, ଟଟ 3 months			
Reproduction	Oviparous			
Mating season	March in terrarium			
Clutch size (Min. – Max.)	2			
Clutch/ year	Up to 17			
Incubation period	Ca. 90 days			
Incubation temperature	30 days at 24 °C, afterwards at 28 °C			
Hatching rate	Ca. 90 %			
Maturity reaching rate	99 %			
F2 Generation bred	Yes			
Longevity in captivity	8 years			
Sex ratio at hatching	Ca. 75 % females. By high incubation temperatures the hatchlings are male biased: if incubation temperature is around 27 °C, 95 % of the hatchlings will be males (after 61 - 68 days); if incubation temperature is 24 °C, 90 % of the hatchlings will be females			
Trigger for reproduction	Not needed, they reproduce all year round			
Size/weight of the hatchlings	26 - 29 mm TL			
<i>Amphigonia retardata</i> , sperm storage	Yes, 1 - 2 clutches are laid after females are separated from males			

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Tropic terrarium 40 x 40 x 60 cm (L x W x H). No data on maximum space is available. A good lighting with UVB is needed
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	The clutch should be removed from the terrarium or protected with a mesh because the adults eat their young. However, this is difficult to implement because the eggs are glued on the substrate
Care of the young, technical and time effort	The young can be kept in groups (known to be kept up to 10 individuals). Energy required ca. 0.48 KW/day. The spraying and feeding takes ca. 20 minutes per month
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Easy. Breeding also possible for beginners as long as the general requirements are considered. Professional breeding is successful for more than ten years in Germany
Frequency of breeding in captivity	The species is bred regularly in captivity. 5157 offsprings have been produced since 2010 from a single commercial breeder in Oberhausen (Germany)
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	7 (4 privates, 2 institutions and 1 commercial breeder)

References

CASTIGLIA, R. & F. ANNESI (2011): The phylogenetic position of *Lygodactylus angularis* and the utility of using the 16S rDNA gene for delimiting species in *Lygodactylus* (Squamata, Gekkonidae). Acta Herpetologica **6**(1): 35-45.

FLECKS, M., F. WEINSHEIMER, W. BÖHME, J. CHENGA, S. LÖTTERS & D. RÖDDER (2012): Watching extinction happen: the dramatic population decline of the critically endangered Tanzanian Turquoise Dwarf Gecko, *Lygodactylus williamsi*. Salamandra **48**(1): 12-20.

FLECKS, M., F. WEINSHEIMER, W. BÖHME, J. CHENGA, S. LÖTTERS, D. RÖDDER, U. SCHEPP & H. SCHNEIDER (2012): *Lygodactylus williamsi*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2012: e.T14665363A14665385.

LOVERIDGE, A. (1952): A startlingly turquoise-blue gecko from Tanganyika. Journal of the East African Natural History Society, **20**: 446.

RÖLL, B. (2010): The turquoise blue dwarf gecko Lygodactylus williamsi. Gekko 6(1): 2-7.

RÖLL, B. (2011): Der Türkisblaue Zwerggecko *Lygodactylus williamsi*. Natur und Tier Verlag, Münster, 64 pp.

RÖLL, B. (2013): Tagaktive Zwerggeckos der Gattung *Lygodactylus* - Lebensweise - Haltung - Nachzucht. Natur und Tier Verlag, Münster, 118 pp.

RÖLL, B. (2018): Passfotos für den Türkisblauen Zwergtaggecko, *Lygodactylus williamsi.* Reptilia **23**(132): 24-33.

RÖLL, B., H. PRÖHL & K.P. HOFFMANN (2010): Multigene phylogenetic analysis of *Lygodactylus* dwarf geckos (Squamata: Gekkonidae). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution **56**(1): 327-335.

ROVERO, F., M. MENEGON, J. FJELDSÅ, L. COLLETT, N. DOGGART, C. LEONARD, G. NORTON, N. OWEN, A. PERKIN, D. SPITALE, A. AHRENDS & N.D. BURGESS (2014): Targeted vertebrate surveys enhance the faunal importance and improve explanatory models within the Eastern Arc Mountains of Kenya and Tanzania. Diversity and Distributions **20**(12): 1438-1449.

SCHNEIDER, H. (2012): Der Türkis-Zwerggecko. Ein Juwel vor dem Aus? Reptilia (Münster) **17**(93): 42-47.

WEINSHEIMER, F., M. FLECKS, W. BÖHME & D. RÖDDER (2010): Die Herpetofauna des Kimboza Forest in Tansania mit dem Türkis-Zwerggecko. Elaphe **18**(1): 17-20.

WESTIG, J. (2011): Optimale Pflegebedingungen in einem Aquaterrarium für Tag- und Zwerggeckos. Draco **12**(46): 55-61.

Author: Christian Langner

Paroedura masobe NUSSBAUM & RAXWORTHY, 1994

German: Madagaskar-Riesenaugengecko



Paroedura masobe

Photo credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Total length: 200 mm.

The species has a highly contrasting coloration. Age dependent, the ground color of adults is black to brown. Along the dorsum and dorsal surfaces of the limbs scattered white, sometimes small golden spots are present. From the neck to the tip of the tail, small tubercular scales are present. The venter is light gray. The original tail is laterally flattened, marked with black and white bands, and has spiny tubercular scales on its crest. Adhesive lamellae toe pads are well developed. A further characteristic attribute is the pitch-black eyes.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Paroedura masobe is endemic to the low land rainforests of east Madagascar between 300 and 600 m asl. Currently the species is only known from Zahamena national park and Betampona nature reserve.

Type localiy: Zahamena-Nationalpark, Madagascar.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 31).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN - Endangered B1ab(iii) (assessed 28 January 2011).

The species is extremely endangered, due to the very small distribution area and the rapid habitat destruction. Additionally, the collection for the pet trade in the past has threatened the species.

Secondary sexual traits	ହହ are generally larger than ଟଟ. Subadult and adult ଟଟ can be identified by their swollen cloacal region (hemipenis base)	
Sexual maturity	♀♀ should not mate before 2 years of age	
Reproduction	Oviparous	
Mating season	March (in terrarium)	
Clutch size (Min. – Max.)	2 round eggs of 1 cm diameter	
Clutch / year	Up to 4 possible	
Female gravid period	4 - 5 weeks	
Incubation period	Temperature depending between 4 and 6 months	
Incubation temperature	24 - 25 °C, maximum 26 °C daytime; 19 - 22 °C at night	
Maturity reaching rate	99 %	
F2 Generation bred	Yes	
Size/weight of the hatchlings	5 - 6 cm / ca. 3 g	
Amphigonia retardata, sperm storage	Yes	

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	Rain forest terrarium (50 x 50 x 70 cm) with moderate lighting with neon tubes. It is recommended to keep adults individually. Cool temperatures of 20 - 24 °C during day time, and lower at night with high humidity is needed. A calcium-carbonate based supplementation is essential, and a bowl of fresh water should be always available
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	In addition to the supplemented insects, it seems that females require snails for reproduction

Care of the young, technical and time effort	The juveniles should be kept individually in plastic boxes during the first weeks. The terrarium should be equipped with soil, coconut humus, small branches, a small devil's ivy (<i>Epipremnum sp.</i>), <i>Sphagnum</i> moss, and a small flowerpot and cork pieces serve as shelter. Approximately one week after hatching, the juveniles feed readily on small house crickets and cockroaches. After the juveniles reached 3 months of age, they can be kept together in groups of $3 - 4$ in small terrariums of $50 \times 40 \times 50$ cm
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Very challenging. Breeding is possible for advanced gecko keepers
Frequency of breeding in captivity	The species is continuously bred, but only by very few keepers
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	4 (privates)

References

BORA, P., F. GLAW, N. RABIBISOA, F. RATSOAVINA, C.J. RAXWORTHY & N.A. RAKOTONDRAZAFY (2011). *Paroedura masobe*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2011: e.T172883A6935268.

GENNARO, A., F. ANDREONE, D. FULGIONE, A. PETRACCIOLI, & G. ODIERNA (2013): Chromosomal Rearrangements Occurred Repeatedly and Independently during Species Diversification in Malagasy Geckos, Genus *Paroedura*. African Zoology **48**(1): 96-108.

DAOUES, K. & F. GIRARD (2004): Note on a Malagasy Shipment with Geckos Belonging to the Genus *Paroedura* GUNTHER. Gekko **4**(1): 6-7.

GLAW, F., K. SCHMIDT & M. VENCES (2003): Nachtgeckos aus Madagaskar. DATZ 56(9): 6-11.

JACKMAN, T.R., A.M. BAUER, E. GREENBAUM, F. GLAW & M. VENCES (2008): Molecular phylogenetic relationships among species of the Malagasy-Comoran gecko genus *Paroedura* (Squamata: Gekkonidae). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution **46**(1): 74-81.

LIEBEL, K., M. MAYER & W. SCHMIDT (2004): Die Madagassischen Großkopfgeckos (*Paroedura*). Draco **5**(18): 28-39.

MAIER, S. (2009): Haltung und Nachzucht des Madagaskar-Riesenaugengeckos, *Paroedura masobe* (NUSSBAUM & RAXWORTHY, 1994). Terraristika **37**:2-32.

NUSSBAUM, R. A. & C. J. RAXWORTHY (1994): A new rainforest gecko of the genus *Paroedura* GÜNTHER from Madagascar. Herpetological Natural History **2**(1): 43-49.

ROSA, G.M., J. NOËL & F. ANDREONE (2011): Confirming a new population of the endangered *Paroedura masobe* (Squamata: Gekkonidae) in the relict Betampona low elevation rainforest, eastern Madagascar. Herpetology Notes **4**: 405-407.

SCHÖNECKER, P. (2017): Die madagassischen Großkopfgeckos der Gattung *Paroedura*. Reptilia (Münster) **22**(125): 14-23.

SCHÖNECKER, P. & A. BÖHLE (2004): Die Geckogattungen Madagaskars. Draco 5(19): 56-67.

Author: Christian Langner

Lanthanotidae

Lanthanotus borneensis (STEINDACHNER, 1878)

Borneo Earless Monitor German: Borneo Taubwaran



Lanthanotus borneensis

Photo credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Total length: max. 55 cm.

The ground color of Borneo earless monitors is chocolate brown. The venter is slightly lightercolored. Several rows of osteoderms run along the dorsum of body and tail. The limbs are small and robust and have five fingers. The head is flattened and the nostrils are located on top of the snout. Borneo earless monitors have very sharp teeth, which can cause bleeding wounds. The eyelids are transparent and allow to see under water. The tail is slightly longer than the body and prehensile. Contrary to allied monitors, the Borneo earless monitor does not have a gular fold. As the common name indicates, it lacks an external ear opening. The family Lanthanotidae is one of just three monotypic saurian families.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The Borneo earless monitor is endemic to Borneo and occurs only in the northern part of the island. There is confirmation that the species occurs in the state of Sarawak in the Malaysian part of Borneo and in the Indonesian provinces of Kalimantan Barat and Kalimantan Timur.

Lanthanotus borneensis is semi-aquatic and nocturnal. The author was able to observe the species for the first time in its natural habitat near a stream in a relatively dense population in Kalimantan Barat.

Type locality: Sarawak, Malaysia.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 32).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: not assessed.

The main threat is habitat loss, due to massive deforestation of rainforests for the palm oil industry. Their habitat, which is home of unique flora and fauna, is being irreversibly destroyed at a tearing pace. The rain forests of Borneo, hot spots of biodiversity, are one of the most species rich forests worldwide.

Borneo earless monitors are found in areas with high anthropogenic impact in relatively high abundances.

	-	
Secondary sexual traits	ਰੇਨਾ have bigger heads than QQ ; the cloacal region of the ਰੇਨਾ is slightly swollen, due to the hemipenes base	
Reproduction	Oviparous	
Mating season	Late spring and summer under captive conditions	
Incubation temperature	26 - 29 °C; it has been repeatedly reported that at incubation temperatures above 26 °C, hatchlings died immediately before hatching	
Incubation time	65 - 92 days (temperature dependent)	
Clutch size (Min. – Max.)	3 - 12	
Clutch / year	1	
Offspring size / weight	11.5- 14 cm / 2.58 – 4.2 g	

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction	Slightly seasonal cooling down of keeping temperature from 25 - 26 $^\circ$ C to 23 - 24 $^\circ$ C	
Keeping difficulty	The species should be kept in an aqua-terrarium of minimum $80 \times 60 \times 60$ cm (L x W x H), with one third of the surface being land. The water should be filtered and heated to 26 °C. The room temperature should be between 25 - 26 °C. The terrestrial part should exhibit robust plants and sufficient shelter. A plastic box filled with <i>Sphagnum</i> moss is used as an egg laying box. Earless monitors can be fed with fish, shrimps and earthworms. Occasionally, insects and mussels are taken as well	
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	The copula takes place in water. It is possible to keep one male with several females. However, due to the highly aggressive behavior of males, it is not possible to keep males together	
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Breeding is successfully done by experienced keepers	
Estimation of the frequency of breeding in captivity	In the recent years breeding occurs regularly in zoos and by private keepers	
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	4 (3 privates, 1 Institution)	

References

BOULENGER, G. A. (1899): Mr. G.A. Boulenger exhibited a specimen of the Bornean lizard *Lanthanotus borneensis*. Proceedings of the Zoological Society London **1899**: 596-597.

DAS, I. (2004): Lizards of Borneo. Natural History Publications, Kota Kinabalu, Borneo, 89 pp.

DAS, I. & N. YAAKOB (2007): Status of knowledge of the Malaysian Herpetofauna, pp. 31-81. In: CHUA, L.S.L., L.G. KIRTON & L.G. SAW (eds.): Status of biological diversity in Malaysia & threat assessment of plant species in Malaysia. Forest Research Institute Malaysia, Kepong.

HARRISSON, B. (1961): *Lanthanotus borneensis* - habits and observations. Sarawak Museum Journal **10**: 286-292.

HARRISSON, B. (1962): "Beobachtungen am lebenden Taubwaran *Lanthanotus borneensis*. Natur und Museum **92**, 38-45.

HARRISSON, T. (1961): The earless monitor lizard (*Lanthanotus borneensis*). Discovery **22**: 290-293.

HARRISSON, T. (1963): *Lanthanotus borneensis* - the first 30 live ones. Sarawak Museum Journal **11**: 299-301.

HARRISSON, T. (1966): A record size *Lanthanotus* alive. Sarawak Museum Journal **14**, 323–334.

HARRISSON, T. & N.S. HAILE (1961a): A rare earless monitor lizard from Borneo. Nature London **190**: 1213.

HARRISSON, T. & N.S. HAILE (1961b): "Notes on a living specimen of the earless monitor lizard, *Lanthanotus borneensis*. Journal of the Ohio Herpetological Society **3**(2): 13-16.

LANGNER, C. (2017): Hidden in the Heart of Borneo-shedding light on Some Mysteries of an Enigmatic Lizard: First Records of Habitat Use, Behavior, and Food Items of *Lanthanotus borneensis* STEINDACHNER, 1878 in Its Natural Habitat. Russian Journal of Herpetology **24**(1): 1-10.

MANTHEY, U. & W. GROSSMANN (1997): Amphibien & Reptilien Südostasiens. Natur und Tier Verlag (Münster), 512 pp.

McDowell, S.B. (1967): The extracolumella and tympanic cavity of the "earless" monitor lizard, *Lanthanotus borneensis*. Copeia **1967**(1): 154-159.

MENDYK, R.W., A. SHUTER & A. KATHRINER (2015): Historical Notes on a Living Specimen of *Lanthanotus borneensis* (Squamata: Sauria: Lanthanotidae) Maintained at the Bronx Zoo from 1968 to 1976. Biawak **9**(2): 44-49.

MERTENS, R. (1961): *Lanthanotus*: an important lizard in evolution. Sarawak Museum Journal N.S. **10**: 283-285.

MERTENS, R. (1962) *Lanthanotus*: Eine stammesgeschichtlich bedeutende Eidechse? Natur und Museum **92**: 35-37.

MERTENS, R. (1964): Beobachtungen an Taubwaranen (*Lanthanotus borneensis*) im Terrarium. DATZ **17**(6): 179-183.

MERTENS, R. (1966): The keeping of Borneo earless monitors (*Lanthanotus borneensis*) in captivity. Sarawak Museum Journal **14**: 320-322.

MERTENS, R. (1970): Zum Ernährungsproblem des Taubwarans, *Lanthanotus borneensis*. Salamandra **6**(3-4): 133-134.

MILLER, M.R. 1966. The cochlear ducts of *Lanthanotus* and *Anelytropsis* with remarks on the familial relationship between *Anelytropsis* and *Dibamus*. Occasional Papers California Academy of Sciences **60**: 1-15.

PROUD, K.R.S. (1978): Some notes on a captive earless monitor lizard, *Lanthanotus borneensis*. Sarawak Museum Journal **26**(47), 235-242.

RIEPPEL, O. (1980): The postcranial skeleton of *Lanthanotus borneensis* (Reptilia, Lacertilia). Amphibia–Reptilia **1**(2): 95-112.

SPRACKLAND, R.G. (1970): Further Notes on *Lanthanotus*. Sarawak Museum Journal **18**(36-37): 412-413.

SPRACKLAND, R.G. (1972): A summary of observations of the earless monitor, *Lanthanotus borneensis*. Sarawak Museum Journal **24**(40-41): 323-328.

STEINDACHNER, F. (1877): On two new genera and species of lizards from South America and Borneo. Annals and Magazine of Natural History, Series 4, **20**: 160.

STONER, S.S. & V. NIJMAN (2015): The case for CITES Appendix I-listing of Earless Monitor Lizards *Lanthanotus borneensis*. TRAFFIC Bulletin **27**(2): 55-58.

VERGNER, I. (2013): První nález varanovce bornejského ve Východním Kalimantanu a další setkání se vzácným ještirem / First Discovery of the Earless Monitor Lizard in Eastern Kalimantan. Ziva **2013**(3): 131-133. http://ziva.avcr.cz/2013-3/ (accessed 04.09.2019).

VORONIN, A. N. & S. V. KUDRYAVTSEV (2019): *Lanthanotus borneensis* (STEINDACHNER, 1878): captive husbandry and breeding. Russ. J. Herpetol. **26**(1): 57-62.

YAAP, B., G.D. PAOLI, A. ANGKI, P.L. WELLS, D. WAHYUDI & M. AULIYA (2012): First record of the Borneo Earless Monitor *Lanthanotus borneensis* (STEINDACHNER, 1877) (Reptilia: Lanthanotidae) in West Kalimantan (Indonesian Borneo). Journal of Threatened Taxa **4**(11): 3067–3074.

ZOLLWEG, M. & R. SEIPP (2017): Anmerkungen zur Haltung und Nachzucht des Taubwarans, *Lanthanotus borneensis*. Reptilia (Münster) **22**(213): 44-53.

Author: Christian Langner

Shinisauridae

Shinisaurus crocodilurus AHL, 1930

Crocodile lizard

German: Krokodilschwanzechse



Shinisaurus crocodilurus

Photo credit: Christian Langner

Morphology

Total length: 55 cm max.

The body shape of these semiaquatic lizards resembles crocodiles. Crocodile lizards have a robust tail, which they use to control direction while swimming. Ground color is very variable, mostly based on brown and beige colors and some bright red and orange tones that could be present on the flanks and gular region and sometimes on the venter. Some individuals can exhibit also yellowish colors. Often, the species has thin dark lines radiating from the eye in a star like shape around, which can extend to the lower jaw. A characteristic morphological trait of Crocodile lizards is the presence of enlarged osteoderms on the dorsal body surface.

Populations of Chinese crocodile lizards were discovered in Vietnam in 2003. The Vietnamese population of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus vietnamensis* was described as a distinct subspecies in 2016.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Crocodile lizards occur in the provinces Guangxi and Guangdong in South China and in the provinces Bac Giang and Quang Ninh in Northeast Vietnam. They prefer densely overgrown small running streams in evergreen broad-leaf forests. The prefer to rest on branches upon natural back water pools of small forest streams behind waterfalls.

Type locality: *Shinisaurus crocodilurus crocodilurus*: Kwangsi [Guangxi], China. *Shinisaurus crocodilurus vietnamensis*: Sơn Động District, Bắc Giang Province, Northeast of Vietnam at 407 m asl.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix I since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 33).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: A.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN – Endangered B1ab(ii,iii,iv,v) (assessed 20 March 2014).

Crocodile lizards belong to the world's most threatened reptile species. It is estimated that there are about a thousand wild individuals left in China and only a few hundred individuals in Vietnam. The drastic population decline during the last years has been mainly caused by habitat destruction and collection for the use in the traditional Chinese medicine as well as for the international pet trade. Meanwhile, a stable captive population of *S. c. crocodilurus* has been established, which allows to cover the current demand of captive bred specimens.

Secondary sexual traits	Sexing of individuals based on coloration is challenging since females can be also very colorful. Endoscopy is the only accurate method to identify the sex of an individual. Sometimes the intraspecific behavior can help to identify sexes, as males will react agressive towards other males but will start tongue flicking or trying to mate if a female is present. However, this is not an accurate method because females also show aggressive behavior towards other females	
Reproduction	Viviparous (lecithotrophe)	
Mating season	Late spring and summer in captivity	
Birth season	March / April, exceptionally in autumn	
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	1 - 16, on average 7	
Litter / year	1	
Offspring size / weight	8.3 - 13 cm / 3 - 5 g, exceptionally 13 g	
Sexual maturity	With 3 years	
Longevity in captivity	Animals with a current age of 26 years are known	
Mortality	< 2 %	

Reproduction

F2 Generation bred	Yes
Gestation period	8 - 14 months

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	For successful breeding a hibernation period from November until March with temperatures between 5 and 12 °C is needed. It is not always easy to find an appropriate mate
Keeping difficulty	From the minimum requirements for the keeping of reptiles given by the Federal Ministry for Food and Agriculture, the minimum dimensions would be 90 x 60 x 60 cm, but the 60 cm height are considered too low. It is considered that 80 -100 cm height is the minimum for this species, which usually perch above the water level. A surface of 120 x 60 cm is recommended. The aquaterrarium should have one third of land surface. The water should be filtered. A local UV spot with 30 - 32 °C should be offered. Air temperature should be between 20 and 24 °C during daytime. The land surface should have robust plants. Outdoors keeping in summer is possible as well as keeping in a frost-protected place the entire year round
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	They can be kept in pairs or in groups with only one male. Due to the aggressive behavior of males, males should not be kept together. Juveniles have been found in the parents terrarium after three months indicating that adults do not chase and feed on their youngs. However, for a better control the juveniles should be kept separated from their progenitors. Some keepers recommend to keep juveniles individually because they are very susceptible to stress
Care of the young, technical and time effort	Water has to be changed every 2 - 3 days. A variety of food items should be continuously offered, such as small crickets, waxworms or small worms, supplemented with vitamins and minerals. 0,48 KW/day for technical equipment and ca. 1 hour time per terrarium/month for feeding etc.
Breeding difficulty evaluation	Successful and frequent breeding by experienced keepers
Frequency of breeding in captivity	Breeding frequently occurred in the last years both in zoos and by private keepers

Number	of	evaluated	8 (5 private, 2 institutions, 1 commercial breeder)
questionnaires	/interviewed	persons	
(institution/private/scientists/commercial		commercial	
breeder)			

References

AHL, E. (1930): Beiträge zur Lurch- und Kriechtierfauna Kwangsi's. Sitzungsberichte der Gesellschaft naturforschender Freunde vom 1. April 1930; Berlin: 310-332.

FRESNO CHAFFEE ZOO (2007): North American Regional Studbook Chinese Crocodile Lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*). 64 pp.

GOOKIN HODSKINS, L. (1998): Chinese Crocodile Lizard PMP (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*): 264–265 *In*: AZA - THE AMERICAN ZOO AND AQUARIUM ASSOCIATION (*ed*.): Annual report on conservation and science 1997-1998.

GRITIS, P. (1990): Observations on the lizard *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* in captivity. Herpetological Review **21**(4):81-83.

GRYCHTA, U. (1993): *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL 1930 - Haltung, Ernährung, Geburt und neue Erkenntnisse über die Krokodilschwanzhöckerechse. Sauria **15**(1): 9-10.

HECHT, V.L., C.T. PHAM, T.T. NGUYEN, T.Q. NGUYEN, M. BONKOWSKI & T. ZIEGLER (2013): First report on the herpetofauna of Tay Yen Tu Nature Reserve, northeastern Vietnam. Biodiversity Journal **4**(4): 507–552.

HUANG, H., D. LUO, C. GUO, T. TANG, Z. WU & J. CHEN (2015): Genetic Analysis of Multiple Paternity in an Endangered Ovoviviparous Lizard *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. Asian Herpetological Research **6**(2): 150-155.

HUANG, C.M., H. YU, Z.J. WU, Y.B. LI, F.W. WEI & M.H. GONG (2008): Population and conservation strategies for the Chinese crocodile lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) in China. Animal Biodiversity and Conservation **31**(2):63-70.

HUANG, H., H. WANG, L. LI, Z. WU & J. CHEN (2014): Genetic Diversity and Population Demography of the Chinese Crocodile Lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) in China. PLOS ONE **9**(3): e91570.

KUDRAJAWTSEW, S.W. & D.B. WASILJEW (1991): Haltung und Zucht der Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechse *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL, 1930 im Moskauer Zoo. Salamandra **27**(3): 219-221.

MÄGDEFRAU, H. (1997): Biologie, Haltung und Zucht der Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechse. Zeitschrift des Kölner Zoo **40**(2): 55-60.

NGUYEN, S.V., C.T. HO & T.Q. NGUYEN (2009): Herpetofauna of Vietnam. Chimaira, Frankfurt, 768 pp.

NGUYEN, T.Q., P. HAMILTON & T. ZIEGLER (2014): *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T57287221A57287235.

RAY, J.M. & H.D. WALLEY (2003): A behavioral study on *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society. **38**(1): 7-11.

REINHARDT, T., M. VAN SCHINGEN, H.S. WINDISCH, T.Q. NGUYEN, T. ZIEGLER & P. FINK (2018): Monitoring the loss: Detection of the semi-aquatic crocodile lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) in inaccessible habitats via environmental DNA. Aquatic Conservation **29**(3): 353-360. ROGNER, M. (2001): Zur Lebensweise, Haltung, Pflege und Vermehrung der Krokodilschwanzhöckerechse. Reptilia (Münster) Nr. 31. **6**(5): 55-61.

THAM, N.T., N.T. HANH, N.Q. TRUONG, T. ZIEGLER, M. VAN SCHINGEN, N.T.H. VAN & L.D. MINH (2017): Application of Microsatellite to Population Genetic Study of the Crocodile Lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL, 1930) in Vietnam [in Vietnamese]. Tạp chí Khoa học ĐHQGHN: Các Khoa học Trái đất và Môi trường, Tập 33, Số 1S: 100-108.

VAN SCHINGEN, M. & F. BÖHMER (2018): Eignung der Fotodokumentation als Kennzeichnungsmethode für die Krokodilschwanzechse. ZGAP Mitteilungen **34**(2): 16-20.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., & T. REINHARDT (2018): Auf den Spuren der Krokodilschwanzechse (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) in den Tieflandwäldern Vietnams. Terraria-Elaphe **2018**(6): 64-67.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., C.T. PHAM, H.T. AN, M. BERNARDES, V. HECHT, T.Q. NGUYEN, M. BONKOWSKI & T. ZIEGLER (2014): Current status of the crocodile lizard *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL, 1930 in Vietnam with implications for conservation measures. Revue Suisse de Zoologie **121**:425–439.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., C.T. PHAM, H.A. THI, T.Q. NGUYEN, M. BERNARDES, M. BONKOWSKI & T. ZIEGLER (2015): First Ecological Assessment of the Endangered Crocodile Lizard, *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*, AHL, 1930 in Vietnam: Microhabitat Characterization and Habitat Selection. Herpetological Conservation and Biology **10**(3): 948-958.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., Q.Q. HA, C.T. PHAM, T.Q LE, Q.T. NGUYEN, M. BONKOWSKI & T. ZIEGLER (2016): Discovery of a new crocodile lizard population in Vietnam: Population trends, future prognoses and identification of key habitats for conservation. Revue Suisse de Zoologie **132**(2): 241-251.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., T. REINHARDT, P. FINK & T. ZIEGLER (2016): Nachweis von bedrohten Reptilienpopulationen in schlecht zugänglichem Habitat mittels "environmental DNA" (eDNA): Eine neue nicht-invasive Methode, etabliert und optimiert für die semiaquatische Krokodilschwanzechse (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) in den letzten Tieflandwäldern Vietnams. Terraria/Elaphe **2016**(3): 94-95.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., F. IHLOW, T.Q. NGUYEN, T. ZIEGLER, M. BONKOWSKI, Z. WU & D. RÖDDER (2014): Potential distribution and effectiveness of the protected area network for the crocodile lizard, *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* (Reptilia: Squamata: Sauria). Salamandra **50**(2): 71-76.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., M.D. LE, H.T. NGO, C.T. PHAM, Q.Q. HA, T.Q. NGUYEN & T. ZIEGLER (2016): Is there more than one Crocodile Lizard? An Integrative Taxonomic Approach Reveals Vietnamese and Chinese *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* Represent Separate Conservation and Taxonomic Units. Der Zoologische Garten **85**(2): 240-260.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., Q.Q. HA, C.T. PHAM, T Q. LE, T.Q. NGUYEN, M. BONKOWSKI & T. ZIEGLER (2016): Discovery of a new crocodile lizard population in Vietnam: Population trends, future prognoses and identification of key habitats for conservation Revue Suisse de Zoologie **123**(2): 241-251.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., U. SCHEPP, C.T. PHAM, T.Q. NGUYEN & T. ZIEGLER (2015): Last chance to see? Review on the threats to and use of the crocodile Lizard. TRAFFIC Bulletin **27**: 19–26.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., T. ZIEGLER, M. BONER, B. STREIT, T.Q. NGUYEN, V. CROOK & S. ZIEGLER (2016): Can isotope markers differentiate between wild and captive reptile populations? A case study based on crocodile lizards (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) from Vietnam. Global Ecology and Conservation **6**: 232–241.

WERMUTH, H. (1985): Who is who: Die Krokodischwanz-Höckerechse (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*). DATZ **38**(5): 235-236.

WILL, H., M. HOFFMANN & U. GRÄTZ (1999): Chronologischer Abriß der Haltung, Zucht und Aufzucht von Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechsen (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) im Zoo Dresden. Der Zoologische Garten **69**(2): 126-132.

WILKE, H. (1985): Erfolgreiche Eingewöhnung von seltenen Krokodischwanz-Höckerechsen im Vivarium, Darmstadts Tiergarten, gelungen. Herpetofauna **7**(34): 30.

WÖLFEL, H. (2003): Neuigkeiten von der Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechse *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* (AHL 1930). Elaphe **11**(1): 22-29.

YU, S., Z. WU, J. WANG, I. CHEN, C.M. HUANG & H. YU (2009): Courtship and mating behavior of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* bred in Luokeng Nature Reserve, Guangdong. Chinese Journal of Zoology **44**(5): 38-44.

ZHAO, E., K. ZHAO & K. ZHUO (1999): Shinisauridae - A Major Project of the National Natural Science Foundation of China. Fauna Sinica **2**: 205-209.

ZIEGLER, S. (2016): Monitoring Lizards Part 2 - Pilot study testing the applicability of isotopic markers in scales to discriminate between captive and wild individuals. Final report for BfN funded project. TRAFFIC, UK 17-39.

ZIEGLER, T. & T.Q. NGUYEN (2016): The Vietnamese Crocodile Lizard Represents a Separate Taxonomic Unit: Implications for Conservation WAZA News **3/16**: 35-36.

ZIEGLER, T., A. RAUHAUS, F. MUTSCHMANN, P.H. DANG, C.T. PHAM & T.Q. NGUYEN (2015): Building up of keeping facilities and breeding projects for frogs, newts and lizards at the Me Linh Station for Biodiversity in northern Vietnam, including improvement of housing conditions for confiscated reptiles and primates. Der Zoologische Garten **85**: 91-120.

ZIEGLER T., K.Q. LE, N.T. VU, R. HENDRIX & W. BÖHME (2008): A comparative study of crocodile lizards (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL, 1930) from Vietnam and China. Raffles Journal of Zoology **56**: 181-187.

ZOLLWEG, M. (2010): Neues zur Geschlechtsbestimmung bei der Krokodilschwanzhöckerechse, *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. Reptilia (Münster) **15**(85): 66-71.

ZOLLWEG, M. (2016): Anmerkungen zum erweiterten Schutzstatus (CITES Anhang I) für Krokodilschwanzechsen (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL, 1930). Sauria **38**(4): 32-40.

ZOLLWEG, M. & H. KÜHNE (2013): Krokodilschwanzechsen - *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. Natur und Tier Verlag, Münster, 95 pp.

A more comprehensive list of references can be found in the appendix.

Author: Christian Langner

06.09.2019
Snakes – Viperidae

Atheris desaixi ASHE, 1968

Ashe's Bush Viper, Mount Kenya Bush Viper German: Mount Kenia Buschviper



Atheris desaixi

Photo credit: Ralph Braun

Morphology

Total length: max. 80 cm.

The adult ground color is black with an irregular yellow pattern. The black scales continuously exhibit a yellow tip posterior. This fine yellow mottled appearance is especially conspicuous in the head region. The venter is dirty yellow. The juvenile coloration differs from that of adults. Usually they are brown with some yellow coloration already present, but sometimes plane brown. All juveniles bear a white tail tip.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Atheris desaixi occurs in the last remaining pockets of rain forests in Kenya. To date only two isolated populations are known in the southeast slope of Mount Kenya and further north in the Nyambeni Range. The species is mainly arboreal and is found in bushes and small trees at 1600 m asl.

Type locality: Nahe Chuka, Mount Kenya.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 34).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: EN – Endangered B1ab(iii,v) (assessed 28 January 2014).

The main threat of this species is habitat loss, due to deforestation mainly for tea plantations.

[
Secondary sexual traits	The sex can be determined via cloacal probing
Reproduction	Viviparous
Mating season	April to June
Birth season	March
Clutch size (Min. – Max.):	6 - 13
Clutch / year	1
Gestation period	10.5 months
Offspring size	Ca. 17 - 21 cm

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding *A*

Trigger for reproduction (e.g. technical equipment, care, social and climatic conditions)	In order to imitate natural conditions, a rainy season of several weeks has to be simulated by misting with water two times daily. Day maximum temperature should be 25 °C. These climatic conditions lead to a higher mating activity, which takes places mainly in the early morning. Animals are kept in 2:1 ratio. Males usually stop feeding during the mating season
Keeping difficulty	The species is usually kept in terrariums of 90 x 60 x 60 cm, with a ground layer of forest soil. Branches for climbing and wood with holes for shelter should be provided
General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	The copula occurs on the ground. No aggressive behavior between males has been observed
Security measures required	General security regulations, and eventually keeping limitations for venomous snakes, regulated by state law, should be considered. There is no specific antiserum available. It is recommended to keep polyvalent antiserum (central-south Africa). Alternatively choose membership of a serum depot. However, the efficacy of polyvalent antiserum for this species is unknown. Bite cases are very rare. A bite of this species should be considered dangerous but it is not

	life threatening. To date the only available information on post bite symptoms are by the catcher of the holotype, who was bitten with one fang on the pointer finger. In this case, a compression bandage was applied and the patient was given an undescribed antiserum. The symptoms were swelling and pain but he was fully recovered. The effectiveness of an unspecific antiserum is doubtful, and the application of a tourniquet is not recommended. The part of the body which has been bitten should be kept immobile and calm, and the patient should be taken to a hospital laying if possible. Patients should be monitored for at least 12 hours
Breeding difficulty evaluation	For experienced keepers of venomous snakes
Estimation of the frequency of breeding in captivity	Very rare
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	2 (privates)

References

ASHE, J. (1968): A new Bush Viper. Journal of the East Africa Natural History Society and National Museum **27**(1): 53-59.

BROADLEY, D.G. (1998): A review of the genus *Atheris* COPE (Serpentes: Viperidae), with the description of a new species from Uganda. Herpetological Journal **8**(3): 117-135.

DOBIEY, M. & G. VOGEL (2007): Venomous Snakes of Africa - Giftschlangen Afrikas. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt (Terralog **15**), 148 pp.

MALLOW, D., D. LUDWIG & G. NILSON (2003): True Vipers: Natural History and Toxinology of Old World Vipers. Krieger Publishing, Malabar, Florida, 410 pp.

MEIDINGER, R. (1998): Erstnachzucht von *Atheris desaixi* ASHE, 1968, Mount-Kenya-Buschviper. Elaphe **6**(3): 15-17.

MENEGON, M., S.P. LOADER, S.J MARSDEN, W.R. BRANCH, T.R.B. DAVENPORT & S. URSENBACHER (2014): The genus *Atheris* (Serpentes: Viperidae) in East Africa: Phylogeny and the role of rifting and climate in shaping the current pattern of species diversity. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution **79**: 12-22.

SPAWLS, S. (1990): Further comments on Atheris. British Herpetological Society Bulletin **34**: 44-45.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

SPAWLS, S. & P. MALONZA, (2019): *Atheris desaixi*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2019: e.T44980116A44980121.

Author: Christian Langner

28.08.2019

Bitis worthingtoni PARKER, 1932

Kenya Horned Viper

German: Worthingtons Viper, Kenia-Hornpuffotter



Bitis worthingtoni

Photo credit: Ralph Braun

Morphology

Total length: max. 50 mm.

A notable characteristic of this small viper are the supra-ocular spinelike scales. The ground color varies from light grey to powder blue or even different shades of brown. Two light, thin, white to beige bands are running along the dorsum. Within those two thin lines, half-moon shaped dark flecking occurs. Along the flanks an ingot formed pattern occurs, often shifted arranged to the halfmoon shaped fleckings.

The dorsal color is grey, interspersed with numerous dark mottlings.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Bitis worthingtoni is endemic to the highlands of the central Rift Valley in Kenya, above 1500 m asl.

Type locality: Coast of Lake Naivasha in Kenya.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Annex II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 35).

EU Regulation 2017/160 [EG] Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected under BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN- Red List status: VU - Vulnerable B1ab(iii) (assessed 28 January 2014).

The species is considered threatened, due to its patchy distribution and the numerous habitat destructions. Parts of its habitat are protected by Hell's Gate National Park. The introduction of carps (*Cyprinus carpio*) in Lake Naivasha few years ago, caused an ecological catastrophe in the area. Direct negative impacts on the snake population and other land-dwelling vertebrates have not been observed so far.

	-
Secondary sexual traits	The tail of $\sigma\sigma$ is longer than of QQ ; cloacal probing is a more accurate method
Sexual maturity	At an age of 3 - 4 years
Reproduction	Viviparous
Mating season	October / November
Birth season	March
Litter size (Min. – Max.)	3 - 16
Clutch / year	1
Lifespan in captivity	A female is being kept since 2008
proportion of individuals reaching maturity	> 50 % (estimated)
F2 Generation bred	Yes
Offspring size / weight	Ca. 12 - 14 cm
Sex ratio at hatching	No detailed information is available. Usually slightly more males than females

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Trigger for reproduction	Mating starts in autumn when the temperatures begin to drop
Keeping difficulty	Since <i>Bitis worthingtoni</i> occurs in the central Rift Valley, at ca. 1800 m asl, temperatures drop considerable at night. Morning dew is important for water balance since these snakes do not drink from water bowles but from water droplets, formed by dew and spraying. Therefore, they should be sprayed regularly

General characteristics, difficulties with keeping and breeding	<i>Bitis worthingtoni</i> should be kept individually and only put together for mating in autumn. Cases of successful reproduction when kept always as pair or in a group of three have been recorded. A second male increases the reproduction success by fighting rituals (comment fighting)
Security measures required	General security regulations, and eventually keeping limitations for venomous snakes, regulated by state law, should be considered. There is no specific antiserum available. It is recommended to keep polyvalent antiserum (central-south Africa) which should cover the genus <i>Bitis</i> . Alternatively, choose membership of a serum depot. However, the efficacy of polyvalent antiserum is unknown. Bite cases are very seldom. A bite of this species should be considered dangerous, but it is not life threatening. A bite leads to local swelling, bleeding and pain. General symptoms are headache, nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain, diarrhea, dizziness, cardiovascular problems, up to collapse. No evidence of blood coagulation exists. The "pressure- immobilization" method should not be used as this method could have harmful consequences. The part of the body which has been bitten should be kept immobile and calm, and the patient should be taken to a hospital laying if possible. Patients should be monitored for at least 12 hours
Breeding difficulty evaluation	For experienced keepers of venomous snakes
Estimation of the frequency of breeding in captivity	Rarely
Number of evaluated questionnaires/interviewed persons (private person/zoological institutions/commercial breeders)	2 (privates)

References

BARLOW A., W. WUSTER, C.M.R. KELLY, W.R. BRANCH, T. PHELPS & K.A. TOLLEY (2019): Ancient habitat shifts and organismal diversification are decoupled in the African viper genus *Bitis* (Serpentes: Viperidae). Journal of Biogeography **46**(6): 1234-1248.

DOBIEY, M. & G. VOGEL (2007): Venomous Snakes of Africa – Giftschlangen Afrikas. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt (Terralog **15**), 148 pp.

FLECK, J. (2000): Bemerkungen zur Kenia-Hornpuffotter, *Bitis worthingtoni*, sowie Beobachtungen bei der Haltung und Vermehrung. Elaphe **8**(3): 20-23.

LENK, P., H.W. HERRMANN, U. JOGER & M. WINK (1999): Phylogeny and taxonomic subdivision of *Bitis* (Reptilia: Viperidae) based on molecular evidence. Kaupia (Darmstädter Beiträge zur Naturgeschichte) **8:** 31-38.

MAZUCH, T. (2006): Taxonomie, rozšíření a biologie v přírodě zmije wortingtonovi – *Bitis (Keniabitis) worthingtoni* [Taxonomy, distribution and biology of the Kenya Horned Viper – *Bitis (Keniabitis) worthingtonii*]. Online-Publikation: http://www.megasphera.cz/africanvenomoussnakes/_private/Moje články.htm (accessed 04.09.2019).

PARKER, H.W. (1932): Scientific results of the Cambridge Expedition to the East African Lakes, 1930-1. 5. Reptiles and Amphibians. Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society **38**(258): 213-229.

SPAWLS, S., K. HOWELL, H. HINKEL & M. MENEGON (2018): Field Guide to East African Reptiles. Bloomsbury, London, 624 pp.

SPAWLS, S. & P. MALONZA (2019): *Bitis worthingtoni*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2019: e.T22473714A22473718.

WITTENBERG, R.D., R.C. JADIN, A.M. FENWICK & R L. GUTBERLET (2014): Recovering the evolutionary history of Africa's most diverse viper genus: morphological and molecular phylogeny of *Bitis* (Reptilia: Squamata: Viperidae). Organisms Diversity & Evolution **15**(1): 115-125.

Author: Christian Langner

28.08.2019

Turtles – Trionychidae

Cyclanorbis elegans (GRAY, 1869)

Nubian Flapshell Turtle

German: Gefleckte Klappen-Weichschildkröte, Nubische Klappen-Weichschildkröte



Cyclanorbis elegans female in South Sudan

Photo credit: Luca Luiselli

Morphology

Very large softshell turtle, maximum carapace length more than 70 cm.

The carapace of hatchlings is dark olive brown with large irregular blotches of yellow, the periphery sometimes with a few, scattered, somewhat smaller, roundish, yellow spots. The carapace of adults is light brown to olive green with light green spots near the edges.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Former range: Cameroon; Central African Republic; Chad; Ghana; Nigeria; South Sudan; Sudan; Togo. The IUCN assessment document (BAKER *et al.* 2016) contains a detailed distribution map. It appears that *Cyclanorbis elegans* has disappeared from several, if not most, of the major river systems that the species is historically known to have inhabited. Living individuals were rediscovered in 2018 in White Nile River course between the towns of Juba and Mongalla in South Sudan.

The two *Cyclanorbis* species, *C. elegans* and *C. senegalensis*, co-occur throughout much of their distribution, and for non-specialists the two species are not easy to tell apart.

While no reliable habitat information is available for *Cyclanorbis elegans*, it is generally understood that this is a species that inhabits large rivers with muddy substrates. The habitats of the rediscovered turtles were very large stretches of the riverbed, with the presence of ponds and swamps in the surroundings and abundant bank vegetation.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 36).

EU regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected by BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List: CE (Critically Endangered A2bcd+4bcd, assessment 20 May 2016).

These turtles are hunted and eaten by local communities for subsistence and traditional medicine and are under serious threat due to overfishing and habitat loss. This species is not relevant for the international pet trade.

DEMAYA *et al.* (2019) consider that the creation of a new or expanded protected area for *Cyclanorbis elegans* should be an urgent conservation priority and the establishment of a captive assurance colony should also be realized.

Secondary sexual characteristics	For $\sigma \sigma$, the tail is visible beyond the rim of the carapace in ventral view and is wide and blunt, while that of the QQ is tapered and concealed beneath the caudal flap
Sexual maturity	Unknown
Nesting sites	Sandy banks of rivers. The nests can be located by the local people by observing the activity of monitor lizards (<i>Varanus niloticus</i>), which are very efficient turtle egg predators at the study area
Reproductive season	Likely towards the end of the dry season (December to March)
Clutch size	One of the rediscovered females contained 27 oviductal eggs
Egg size / hatchling size	In this female the largest vitellogenic follicle was 5.1 cm in length
Incubation duration	Hatching and emergence from the nest may coincide with the beginning of the rainy season (April to November)
Sex determination	Unknown
Sperm storage	Unknown

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding X

The last known captive individual died in 2012 in a private collection in the United States, and the species has not been recorded in zoos. Keeping is not difficult, according to the report of this private owner. These turtles, like all softshell turtles, need large tanks or ponds with soft substrate bottom to dig in. Recommended feeding is with fish, whole small mammals and even trout pellets.

The CITES trade database records a total of 27 imports of live *C. elegans* from Benin into the US in 2017, whereof 20 specimens were labeled with source code "R", and seven were confiscated/seized. These specimens might have been misidentified.

References

BAKER, P.J., T. DIAGNE & L. LUISELLI (2015): *Cyclanorbis elegans* (GRAY 1869) – Nubian Flapshell Turtle. In: RHODIN, A.G.J., P.C.H. PRITCHARD, P.P. VAN DIJK, R.A. SAUMURE, K.A. BUHLMANN, J.B. IVERSON & R.A. MITTERMEIER (Eds.). Conservation Biology of Freshwater Turtles and Tortoises: A Compilation Project of the IUCN/SSC Tortoise and Freshwater Turtle Specialist Group. Chelonian Research Monographs **5**(8):089.1–7, doi:10.3854/crm.5.089.elegans.v1.2015, http://www.iucn-tftsg.org/cbftt/.

BAKER, P.J., L. LUISELLI & T. DIAGNE (2016): *Cyclanorbis elegans*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T6004A3086539. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-2.RLTS.T6004A3086539.en

DEMAYA, G.S., J.S. BENANSIO, T.F. LADO, T. DIAGNE, D. DENDI & L. LUISELLI (2019): The Rediscovery of *Cyclanorbis elegans* in South Sudan. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **18**(1): 62-67.

GRAMENTZ, D. (2008): African Flapshell Turtles: The Genera *Cyclanorbis* and *Cycloderma*. Frankfurt (Chimaira) 192 pp.

A more comprehensive list of references can be found in the appendix.

Authors: Beate Pfau & Ronny Bakowskie

07.07.2019

Our thanks for the review go to Luca Luiselli

Cyclanorbis senegalensis (DUMÉRIL & BIBRON, 1835)

Senegal Flapshell Turtle, Sahelian Flapshell Turtle German: Senegal Klappen-Weichschildkröte



Cyclanorbis senegalensis

Photo credit: Felix Hulbert

Morphology

Rather small flapshell turtle, rarely exceeding 35 cm CL, at which size it weighs just under 5 kg.

The head is olive green, grey or brownish with several whitish or yellowish spots, the carapace is brownish or olive green with large patches of dark olive color which forms a pattern of darker and lighter olive green.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Cyclanorbis senegalensis ranges through most of the sub-Saharan Sahel-Savannah zone, including southern Senegal, Gambia, Guinea-Bissau, Mali, Burkina Faso, Liberia, Ivory Coast (Côte d'Ivoire), Ghana, Togo, Benin, Niger, Nigeria, Cameroon, Chad, Central African Republic, South Sudan, Sudan, and Ethiopia. It may also occur peripherally in adjacent Guinea, and conceivably in northern Uganda. It has also recently been recorded in Sierra Leone.

There appear to be three large, disjunct populations: one in West Africa from Senegal to western Nigeria; one in central Africa from Lake Tchad to northern Central African Republic; and one in eastern Africa in Sudan and South Sudan extending into western Ethiopia. Genetic analyses (comparison of sequences of three mitochondrial DNA blocks) revealed slight

differences between the population in Ethiopia and the other two, which are rather similar, however this method seems not suitable for discerning the geographic origin of a specimen with adequate accuracy. The IUCN assessment document (DIAGNE *et al.* 2016) contains a detailed distribution map of this species.

Adults inhabit predominantly large permanent ponds as well as deeper, relatively calm parts in riverine forests within the savanna zone, whereas hatchlings and juveniles may be found far from these habitats in temporary savannah waters. In contrast to other African softshell turtles *Cyclanorbis senegalensis* can to travel large distances over land and may be found in remote, small water bodies with high productivity.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 36).

EU regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected by BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List: VU Vulnerable A2bcd+4bcd, (assessment 20 May 2016).

This is a widespread African species perceived to be declining across much of its range, especially in West Africa. Declines are due to a combination of exploitation for local consumption and fetish purposes plus some international pet trade; with habitat impacts including, in particular, aridification due to climate change and intensive use of water resources for agriculture.

Secondary sexual characteristics	The largest animals that had been found were females
Sexual maturity	Unknown
Nesting sites	Sandbars appearing in the dry season
Reproductive season	Mid to late dry season, in Sudan in mid of April, in Togo January to beginning of February
Clutch size	6 - 25 eggs per clutch, more detailed data are lacking
Egg size / hatchling size	The eggs are round and hard-shelled, with a diameter of ca. 36 mm, the smallest hatchling found in nature had a CL of 40.6 mm
Incubation duration	Unknown, the hatchlings appear at the onset of the rainy season
Sex determination	Unknown
Sperm storage	Unknown

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding 🦯

Captive husbandry is not difficult, but the conditions needed to induce captive reproduction are still unknown. Like all Softshell turtles *Cyclanorbis senegalensis* need rather large tanks with good water quality and soft bottom substrates to bury themselves. They accept all kinds of animal food, even fish food pellets. Even though the animals seem to be not aggressive cases of intraspecific cannibalism has been observed.

Cyclanorbis senegalensis is imported in small numbers, and occasionally a few captive bred juveniles have been offered on trade platforms, but up to now the breeders did not react to our requests for more information.

References

DIAGNE, T., L. LUISELLI, J.-F. TRAPE, M.-O. RÖDEL, P.J. BAKER, L. CHIRIO, F., PETROZZI & G. SEGNIAGBETO (2016): *Cyclanorbis senegalensis. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2016: e.T6005A96447114.

FARKAS, B. (1999): *Cyclanorbis senegalensis* (DUMÉRIL & BIBRON, 1835), eine wenig bekannte Klappen-Weichschildkröte. Emys **6**(4) 15-26.

GRAMENTZ, D. (2008): African Flapshell Turtles – The Genera *Cyclanorbis* and *Cycloderma*., Frankfurt am Main (Edition Chimaira): 117 pp.

MAZUCH, T., V. TRAILIN, U. FRITZ & M. VAMBERGER (2016): Senegal Flapshell Turtle (*Cyclanorbis senegalensis*) in Ethiopia (Testudines: Trionychidae). Amphibian and Reptile Conservation **10**(2): 1-5.

A more comprehensive list of references can be found in the appendix.

Authors: Beate Pfau & Ronny Bakowskie

07.07.2019

Cycloderma aubryi (DUMÉRIL, 1856)

Aubry's Flapshell Turtle German: Rotrückige Klappen-Weichschildkröte



Cycloderma aubryi

Photo credit: Tomas Diagne

Morphology

Medium to large softshell turtle, females to 55 cm CL, males to 40 cm CL, weight to 18.5 kg.

Juveniles have conspicuously orange colored heads and necks with a narrow dark stripe running from the nostrils through the irises and along the neck, and a reddish carapace with black dots. Adults are usually brownish, male's heads turning red in the mating season. The upper lips of this species are conspicuously enlarged, and helpful for the suction feeding behavior of this species.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Cycloderma aubryi inhabits the Congo River basin of the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), Congo (ROC), and southwestern Central African Republic, as well as the lower Ogooué River basin and coastal regions of Gabon. It possibly occurs in southeastern Cameroon, and may conceivably occur in extreme northern Angola and Cabinda.

Adults live in side branches and tributaries of slow-flowing rivers, and in large reed areas. Juveniles utilize flooded forest habitats. These turtles feed mainly on fish, crabs and crayfish. Juveniles probably take also insects as food.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 36).

EU regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected by BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List VU (Vulnerable A2bd+4bd, assessment 13 June 2016).

The sustained collection of eggs and adults of *Cycloderma aubryi* for local consumption is understood to be the leading cause of decline of the species. There are no reports on trade of animals, meat or eggs across national boundaries.

Inclusion or upgrading its status, in national legislation is probably warranted, possibly supported by monitoring of international trade for the pet market.

Secondary sexual characteristics	Only visible on adults: Tip of the tail of males slightly protruding beyond the carapace rim, females have a convex plastron. Adult males are smaller, usually 40 cm (max. 46.6 cm at 9,5 kg) carapace length, than adult females with about 43 - 50 cm (max. 61 cm at 18.5 kg)
Sexual maturity	In both sexes with > 30 - 35 cm carapace length, and at 3 - 4.5 kg
Nesting sites	Nesting probably takes place in the woods in sandy substrate
Reproductive season	Minor dry season, January to March
Clutch size	17 - 34 eggs per clutch, at least 2 clutches per year
Egg size / hatchling size	Eggs are round and hard shelled, 30 - 35 mm in diameter, between 17 - 22 g. Hatchlings have ca. 55 mm carapace length and ca. 44 mm carapace width
Incubation duration	The eggs hatch in the rainy season between March and May
Sex determination	Unknown
Sperm storage	Unknown

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding X

Adult wild caught turtles acclimate easily to captivity, but they are prone to skin infections. They usually accept live or dead fish and fish meat cut in pieces, but crabs and crayfish should also be offered. These turtles are tolerant to each other, and they never show any aggression like scratching or biting when handled. Mating could be observed in a large aquarium in a zoo, and at a private breeder's even (infertile) eggs could be found, but there is no record of captive breeding.

Specimens showing signs of having been wild caught recently, laundered as being captive bred, have already been confiscated at JFK airport (B. HORNE pers. comm. in CHIRIO *et al.* 2017).

References

CHIRIO, L., T. DIAGNE, & O.S.G. PAUWELS (2017): *Cycloderma aubryi*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2017: E.T163448A1009393.

GRAMENTZ, D. (2008): African Flapshell Turtles – The Genera *Cyclanorbis* and *Cycloderma*. Frankfurt am Main (Edition Chimaira): 117 pp.

A more comprehensive list of references can be found in the appendix.

Authors: Beate Pfau & Ronny Bakowskie

05.07.2019

Our thanks for the review go to Luca Luiselli

Update July 2021: In the meantime, photos of captive hatchlings of *Cycloderma aubryi* could be seen in the social media. The breeding success has not yet been published.

Cycloderma frenatum PETERS, 1854

Zambezi Flapshell Turtle

German: Graue Klappen-Weichschildkröte, Sambesi-Klappenweichschildkröte



Cycloderma frenatum

Photo credit: Tomas Diagne

Morphology

Fairly large flapshell turtle, in both sexes usually up to 56 cm CL and weighing ca. 14 kg.

Coloration olive-gray, head and neck with dark, longitudinal lines. The carapace of the young turtles has a moderate vertebral keel and numerous, wavy, longitudinal ridges, the carapace of adults is smooth.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Rivers and lakes in eastern Africa, from the Rufiji River basin in Tanzania in the north through Lake Malawi and the Rufiji, Rovuma, and Lower Zambezi river basins, extending south to the lower Save (Sabi) river of southeastern Zimbabwe and central Mozambique. Recorded also from Zambia. The IUCN assessment document (VAN DIJK *et al.* 2016) contains a detailed distribution map.

Adults turtles live mainly in large rivers and lakes with sandy bottoms. The juveniles emerge from the nests within only three weeks in January, at the beginning of the rainy season, and they first inhabit temporarily flooded areas. The juveniles prey on fish using suction feeding, while the larger turtles also may eat fish, which they actively stalk, but their main foods are mussels, clams and snails, which they dig up with the powerful claws on the forefeet from the substrate of rivers and lakes, and then crush them open.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 36).

EU regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected by BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List EN (Endangered A3d, assessed 3. June 2016).

Eggs and nesting females are known to be collected / captured and used for local consumption. Reports have emerged in recent years, that large numbers of adults are caught, slaughtered, and processed locally for export of shells and dried meat to China and East Asia. Water pollution has additionally been suggested as a potential impact on the species, and the crocodiles in this region may have shifted their prey in part to large flapshell turtles, because their normal prey animals have been reduced due to human exploitation.

The species has been reported in the international pet trade, but not in any great numbers. Monitoring of key populations and surveillance of trade developments of live animals, as well as meat and dried shells, are needed as priority actions.

Kepioduction	
Secondary sexual characteristics	Only visible in adult turtles, the tail tip of the male is a bit longer than the rim of the carapace and is carried bent upwards
Sexual maturity	Unknown
Nesting sites	Nesting occurs at night, in the shadow area under trees or bushes, usually less than 200 m from the water, in rather shallow pits
Reproductive season	December to March, locally extended until end of April
Clutch size	15 - 25 eggs per clutch, several clutches per year
Egg size / hatchling size	Eggs are round and hard shelled, 32 - 35 mm in diameter. Hatchlings have 40 - 48 mm carapace length and 30 - 35 mm carapace width and weigh ca. 15 g
Incubation duration	205 - 209 days, the hatchlings emerge from the nests simultaneously after 8 - 11 months, in the first days of the rainy season

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding X

A few Zambezi flapshelled turtles have been reported from captivity. Freshly caught imports are said to be reluctant to feed in captivity and very susceptible to microbial infections. When they grow large one must carefully observe pugnacious incompatibilities. Captive breeding hat not been reported.

It has been suggested that the Wild Life authorities of Zimbabwe and Mozambique could task the local crocodile farms to collect and incubate the eggs of these turtles, and later release head-started juveniles into suitable natural habitats (BROADLEY & SACHSSE 2011). It is not known whether this plan has been realized.

References

BROADLEY, D.G. & W. SACHSSE (2011): *Cycloderma frenatum* PETERS 1854 – Zambezi Flapshell Turtle, Nkhazi. In: RHODIN, A.G.J., J.B. IVERSON, P.P. VAN DIJK, R.A. SAUMURE, K.A., BUHLMANN, P.C.H. PRITCHARD & R.A. MITTERMEIER (Eds.). Conservation Biology of Freshwater Turtles and Tortoises: A Compilation Project of the IUCN/SSC Tortoise and Freshwater Turtle Specialist Group. Chelonian Research Monographs **5**(9):055.1–5.

CHEUNG, S.M. & D. DUDGEON (2006): Quantifying the Asian turtle crisis: market surveys in southern China, 2000-2003. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems **16**: 751-770.

GRAMENTZ, D. (2008): African Flapshell Turtles. The Genera *Cyclanorbis* and *Cycloderma*. Frankfurt am Main (Edition Chimaira), 191 pp.

VAN DIJK, P.P. (2016): *Cycloderma frenatum*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T6009A3088072.

A more comprehensive list of references can be found in the appendix.

Authors: Ronny Bakowskie & Beate Pfau

14.07.2019

Update July 2021: In the meantime photos of captive hatchlings of *Cycloderma frenatum* could be seen in the social media. The breeding success has not yet been published.

Rafetus euphraticus (DAUDIN, 1801)

Euphrates Softshell Turtle, Mesopotamian Softshell Turtle German Names: Euphrat-Weichschildkröte, Mesopotamische Weichschildkröte



Rafetus euphraticus (in the wild)

Photo credit: Barbod Safaei-Mahroo

Morphology

Large softshell turtle, maximum carapace length 68 cm at a weight of more than 20 kg.

Mainly olive-green turtles with cream-colored spots on the head. The snout is proportionally shorter and thicker than that of *Trionyx triunguis* or *Pelodiscus sinensis*, which look superficially similar.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The Mesopotamian Softshell turtle lives in the river basin of the Euphrates and Tigris rivers, in southeastern Turkey, Syria, Iraq and southwestern Iran. The IUCN assessment document (GHAFFARI *et al.* 2017) contains a detailed distribution map.

Rafetus euphraticus is almost exclusively riverine, inhabiting various freshwater habitats, preferably permanent and temporary tributaries and oxbow lakes, as well as slow-flowing sections of the main river channel.

The species is particularly thermophilic.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 36).

EU regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Amendment: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected by BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List EN (Endangered A4c, assessment 28 May 2016).

Anthropogenic fragmentation, alteration, and destruction of suitable habitat throughout its range are the main threats to *Rafetus euphraticus*.

No trade or widespread consumption of this species has been reported. A few animals are consumed by various ethnic groups, or by the workers of the Chinese dam construction projects in this region.

Throughout its distribution in Iran, the killing or capture of *Rafetus euphraticus* is legally prohibited. In Turkey, the species is under protection of national law.

Secondary sexual characteristics	Not discernible on external view, males and females attain the same size. Females tend to have a broader carapace than males, and a slightly shorter tail
Sexual maturity	At about 20 cm CL
Nesting sites	Sandy riverbanks close to the waterline (< 5m from the waterline)
Reproductive season	Mating in Iran in March, nesting from late April to early June. Possibly several clutches per year
Clutch size	From 4 - 5 eggs per nest (Iran) up to more than 30 (Iraq, Turkey). It is unknown whether the eggs of one clutch can be distributed into several nests
Egg size / hatchling size	Eggs spherical and 29.5 mm in diameter, average weight 13.6 g. Mean size of hatchlings 41.5 mm and mean weight 10.8 g.
Incubation duration	Unknown, hatchlings emerge from their nest in early July
Sex determination	Probably genetic
Sperm storage	Unknown

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

This species is rarely kept in captivity. The turtles are quite susceptible for skin infections and need large tanks or ponds with soft bottom substrate to dig in. The water quality requirements are high, but feeding is rather easy, usually with freshly killed fish.

Rafetus euphraticus has been successfully kept and bred at the Ege University, Izmir, Turkey, but detailed information is missing. Large scale breeding or even farming for the pet trade is unlikely due to the intraspecific aggression of this species.

References

GHAFFARI, H., E. TAŞKAVAK, O. TÜRKOZAN & A. MOBARAKI (2017): *Rafetus euphraticus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2017: e.T19070A1956551.

GRAMENTZ, D. (1991): Beobachtungen an der Euphrat-Weichschildkröte *Trionyx euphraticus* (DAUDIN, 1802) in Ost-Anatolien. – Salamandra **27**(1): 1-16.

TAŞKAVAK, E., M.K. ATATÜR, H. GHAFFARI & P.A. MEYLAN (2016): *Rafetus euphraticus* (DAUDIN 1801) – Euphrates Softshell Turtle. In: RHODIN, A.G.J., J.B. IVERSON, P.P. VAN DIJK, R.A. SAUMURE, K.A., BUHLMANN, P.C.H. PRITCHARD & R.A. MITTERMEIER (Eds.). Conservation Biology of Freshwater Turtles and Tortoises: A Compilation Project of the IUCN/SSC Tortoise and Freshwater Turtle Specialist Group. – Chelonian Research Monographs **5**(9):098.1–11.

A more comprehensive list of references can be found in the appendix.

Authors: Beate Pfau & Ronny Bakowskie

11.07.2019

Our thanks for the review go to Hanyeh Ghaffari and Ertan Taşkavak

Trionyx triunguis (FORSKAL, 1775)

Nile Softshell Turtle, African Softshell Turtle German Names: Nil-Weichschildkröte, Afrikanische Weichschildkröte



Trionyx triunguis im Alexander River, Israel

Photo credit: Job Stumpel

Morphology

Very large softshell turtle, maximum carapace length more than 80 cm.

Mainly olive to brown turtles, younger specimens often show a spattering of white spots, which may be ringed in yellow. Three conspicuous claws on each limb.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

The African Softshell turtle ranges widely the eastern Mediterranean (Turkey, Israel, Syria, Lebanon, Egypt) and in Africa (from Sudan westwards to Senegal and south-eastwards to Somalia, in southwestern Africa into northern Namibia). Vagrant to Greece.

References to occurrences in other European countries are mainly misidentifications of the species. The IUCN assessment document (VAN DIJK *et al.* 2017) contains a detailed distribution map.

Trionyx triunguis inhabits fairly deep water in permanent lakes, rivers, estuaries, coastal lagoons and coastal waters, down to 80 m depth. It is highly tolerant of full seawater conditions for some time.

Several local forms can be differentiated by genetic methods.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 2016 (CoP17 Proposal 36).

EU regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected by BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List VU (Vulnerable A4bcd, assessment 21 June 2016). The West African populations likely warrant regional listing as Critically Endangered.

Trionyx triunguis is widely collected for consumption in the Sub-Saharan part of its distribution, mainly at local subsistence level. It is also hunted by fishermen for the bushmeat trade in West Africa, but the trade level remains low because this species is very rarely encountered in the field. Nonetheless, the meat is highly valued, and the prices are considerable. Hatchlings are occasionally sold as pets.

Secondary sexual characteristics	Uncertain in living animals. Tip of the tail of males may be slightly protruding beyond the carapace rim
Sexual maturity	Unknown
Nesting sites	Exposed sandbanks and grassy banks with heavier soil along rivers, also marine beaches
Reproductive season	About two months, in Africa (Gabon) in the minor dry season, December to February, in the eastern Mediterranean in early summer, May to August, depending on the local climate
Clutch size	In Turkey usually 25 - 40 eggs per clutch, maximum clutch size is 52. Clutch size of African populations is unknown. Several clutches per female and year seem possible
Egg size / hatchling size	Eggs are round and hard shelled, ca. 32 mm in diameter and between 20 - 23 g. Hatchlings carapaces are 42 - 54 mm long and weigh 8 - 17 g
Incubation duration	65 - 75 days in natural nests, at constant 27 °C it takes 82 days until hatching, at constant 33 °C the incubation duration is 55 days
Sex determination	Genetic
Sperm storage	Unknown

Reproduction

Husbandry and captive breeding

Sometimes shown in zoos, or kept as pets, must be housed individually, except in very large ponds with hiding places in appropriate climate. Under these conditions, hatchlings may be found occasionally. Prof. MENDELSSOHN had maintained such a reproductive group at the University of Tel Aviv.

Regular captive breeding or even commercial farming for pet turtle production is unlikely because of the aggressive behavior of this species towards conspecifics.

Most publications on captive breeding are on misidentified other softshell turtle species.

References

DOLEV, A. & A. PEREVOLOTSKY (2004): The Red Book: Vertebrates in Israel. Israel Nature and Parks Authority, 318 pp.

GRAMENTZ, D. (2005): Die Nilweichschildkröte Trionyx triunguis. Frankfurt (Chimaira) 166 pp.

GÜÇLÜ, Ö., S.H. DURMUŞ, K. CANDAN, N. BEŞER, S. TÜRKYILMAZ, S. YERLI & B. BOZDOĞAN (2015): Development and characterization of new polymorphic microsatellite loci for *Trionyx triunguis* (Testudines: Trionychidae) in the Mediterranean Basin. Amphibia-Reptilia 36(3): 318-324.

LESHEM, A., A. AR & R.A. ACKERMAN (1991): Growth, Water, and Energy Metabolism of the Soft-Shelled Turtle (*Trionyx triunguis*) Embryo: Effects of Temperature. Physiological Zoology 64(2): 568-594.

VAN DIJK, P.P., T. DIAGNE, L. LUISELLI, P.J. BAKER, O. TURKOZAN & E. TASKAVAK (2017): *Trionyx triunguis*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2017: e.T62256A96894956.

http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2017-3.RLTS.T62256A96894956.en

A more comprehensive list of references can be found in the appendix.

Beate Pfau & Ronny Bakowskie

07.07.2019

Our thanks for the review go to Luca Luiselli

Testudo horsfieldii GRAY, 1844

Steppe Tortoise, Central Asian Tortoise, Afghan Tortoise, Four-toed Tortoise, Horsfield's Tortoise

German Names: Steppenschildkröte, Vierzehen-Landschildkröte, Russische Landschildkröte



Testudo horsfieldii, female, captive bred in Germany Photo credit: Beate Pfau

Morphology

Females may attain a CL of 30 cm, but the usual size of adult females is 20 - 25 cm CL, males are smaller than females.

There are several recognized subspecies: *Testudo h. horsfieldii, T.h. bogdanovi, T.h. kazachstanica, T.h. kuznetzovi* and *T.h. rustamovi* (RHODIN *et al.* 2017). Other authors published different subspecies names. It is not known whether there are major differences in natural history between the subspecies. *Testudo horsfieldii kazachstanica* is the subspecies, which is most frequently imported into Central Europe.

The round to oval shaped carapace is yellowish-brown and in younger tortoises, there are darker markings in the central area of each shield. These tortoises have four claws on the toes of the forelegs and the scales on the forearms are strongly developed.

Geographic distribution, Habitat

Testudo horsfieldii naturally occurs in Afghanistan, China (Xinjiang), Iran, Kazakhstan, Kirghizia, Pakistan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan. The rather large distribution area stretches from East to West approximately 2.500 km and from North to South ca. 1.500 km. Abandoned pet turtles may build up smaller populations in other areas, as reported for Lithuania, for example.

This tortoise species lives in sparsely covered steppes. The activity period is restricted to about three months (100 days) per year, because of the harsh, arid climate with very hot summer months and very cold winters. Tortoises dig dens up to 2 m undergrounds, where they reside during the inactive period. Steppe tortoises are almost exclusively herbivores, but they like to chew on old bones and snail shells for calcium uptake.

Conservation status and main threats

CITES Appendix II since 1976 (CoP1 Proposal 443).

EU regulation 2017/160 [EG]: Annex: B.

In Germany strictly and particularly protected by BNatSchG [BG] Status: b.

IUCN-Red List VU (Vulnerable (Vulnerable A2d - assessed 1 August 1996).

This species is protected by local regulations in Kazakhstan since 2003, and in Tajikistan since 2009. Collecting licences are available, and this is justified with data on high population density, but there is no possibility for plausibility checks for these data. There are also quite some reports on illegal collecting in large extent.

In other countries within the natural range (i.e. Uzbekistan) the species is not specifically protected.

Steppe tortoises are also exported from countries outside their natural range, particularly from Ukraine. According to the CITES trade database wild caught specimens without indication of source have been exported, and after the Animals Committee meeting in 2011 only captive bred or captive born tortoises (Source Code "C" or "F") have been registered in this database.

Secondary sexual characteristics	The tails of $\sigma\sigma$ are conspicuously longer and thicker than the tails of $\varsigma\varsigma$
Sexual maturity	Uzbekistan: 99 with more than 11 cm plastron length, but mostly with about 15 cm plastron length. do with more than 9 cm plastron length, mostly with 12 cm pastron length; both sexes at ca. 10 years of age
	Kazakhstan: ହହ with 13 - 14 cm and 13 - 14 years, ଟଟ with 11 - 12 cm and 11 - 12 years
Nesting sites	The eggs are buried in the soil. No more details are known
Reproductive season	First week of May thru third week of June in Uzbekistan. The females do not use the lipid storage of the previous year for yolk production like many other tortoises do, but they provide

Reproduction

	the yolk substances from the nutritients they have just taken up after hibernation
Clutch size	Usbekistan: 1 - 5 eggs per clutch, up to 3 clutches per year at intervals of about two weeks. On average one female produces 2.3 clutches per year and on average 5.8 eggs per year. In Kazakhstan females lay two clutches and usually 5 eggs per year, the maximum number of eggs per year is 9
Egg size / hatchling size	Eggs are 45 - 50 mm long, 33 - 34 mm wide and weigh between 21 and 25 g
Incubation duration	90 - 105 days
Sex determination	Temperature dependent, the pivotal temperature is near 30 °C, it has not yet been determined precisely
Sperm storage	Probable. Multiple paternity within clutches of several eggs is common

Ranching and Farming in Uzbekistan

The name of the large breeding facility is Zoocomplex – these data have been compiled from literature and from the internet page http://zoocomplex.com/index.php

Maximum length of females	Depending on the abundance of food plants in their habitat 16.25 - 21.73 cm, females from areas at higher altitude are larger due to better food availability
Management of the breeding groups	3 enclosures with a total of > 1.000 tortoises (σ : \mathfrak{P} = 1:3), approximately 1 m ² per animal, additional feeding with grass and some fruits. Under these conditions the $\mathfrak{P}\mathfrak{P}$ produce usually 1 to maximum 2 clutches, with 3 - 4 eggs per year. Because feeding is not reduced in summer, the tortoises do not estivate, in autumn they directly enter hibernation. Every year in spring the tortoises have to be dewormed
Obtaining the eggs for ranching	The females are caught in areas with high population density, after oxytocin injections they lay 1 - 6, usually 2 eggs. Then they are marked and released back into their natural habitat. Some females have been caught regularly for up to ten years. There is no difference between the eggs from wild caught and captive females
Average size eggs / hatchlings	Zaarmin (400 m asl): Eggs from the first clutch 25.5 g, hatchlings 40.2 mm. Eggs from the second clutch 25.3 g, hatchlings 39.1 mm. Nurata (150 m asl): Eggs from the first clutch 23.2 g, hatchlings 38,1 mm. Eggs from the second clutch 21.7 g, hatchlings 36.8 mm
Incubation	28 - 32 °C, 70 - 80 % relative humidity, first clutches 90 - 110 days, second clutches 75 - 95 days, hatching rate of eggs from captive breeding groups 72 - 75 %, from wild caught

	females (ranching) 68 %, malformations < 1 %, including viable and dead twins
Rearing (7 months)	Daytime temperatures 30 - 36 °C, night temperatures 24 - 26 °C; feeding is five times a week with food containing 21 % protein; stocking density 70 - 80 animals / m ² ; mortality during rearing 5 % (mostly within the first month); since hatching is in autumn the tortoises are soaked regularly to prevent them from entering hibernation
Sexual maturity	The tortoises are active year round without hibernation. Under these conditions the first mating activities are observed when they are 3 - 4 years old, fertilized eggs are laid at 5 years of age, but hatchlings are expected only from females that are at least 8 years old
Production	17.000 hatchlings per year, 20 % thereof from captive breeding (C) and 80 % from eggs laid by wild caught females (ranching: R); the juvenile tortoises are exported at about 6 cm CL
Release of captive bred tortoises into the natural habitats	Juvenile tortoises with 6 cm CL have a low survival rate in their natural habitat; In future 3 - 5 % of the hatchlings will be head-started until they reach a CL of 8 cm CL and subsequently released
Distinguishing characters	Farm raised tortoises have less abraded carapace surfaces and therefore a more nuanced coloration than the usually quite even-colored wild caught tortoises

Husbandry and captive breeding

Many of these data are from the publication by JASSER-HÄGER & WINTER (2007) which had used a questionnaire rather similar to the questionnaire we used for theses fact sheets.

First offspring after acquisition	Often the eggs of the very first clutch of imported females (no matter whether imported or captive reared) hatch, but then it will take several years to get the next hatchlings from eggs of that female. After that there are usually hatchlings every year
Breeding in captivity to F2 generation	Yes, several breeders reported F2 or subsequent generations. No specific characteristics of inbreeding like higher malformation rate or color mutations are known from captive breeding in several subsequent generations
Eggs	Usually 1 - 8 eggs per female / year, in exceptionally large females possibly more. In small clutches of 1 - 2 eggs the average egg weight is 24 g, in larger clutches 21 g on average. The eggs of small females (800 g) sometimes weigh only 13 g, but they may still be viable. Minimum egg weight is 11, maximum 28 g

Clutches / year	1 - 4 clutches per year, third and fourth clutches are rare. The interval between clutches is usually only 16 - 18 days. A female produces eggs at 15 % of its own weight
Fertilization rate	The fertilization rate is 90 % when the sexes are kept separate (at optimum temperature range) and there is only a short mating time per year. If males and females are kept together year-round the fertilization rate drops to about 70 %
Mortality	When incubation the eggs under high humidity conditions up to 26 % of the fertilized eggs may die. There is a higher proportion of dead embryos in eggs from females with high egg production. Only about 3 % of the hatchlings show anomalies like extra scutes
Proportion of captive bred tortoises reaching maturity	No exact data: Under good husbandry conditions most of the tortoises will survive to maturity, but with poorly informed keepers, and especially in indoor keeping conditions without hibernation, the mortality may be quite high
Hatchling weight	18 - 21 g, on average the hatchling weighs 5.5 g less than its egg
Longevity in captivity	> 50 years
Incubation duration	At 29 °C and 60 - 70 % relative air humidity ca. 68 days, at 32 °C and 70 - 80 % humidity 59 days. Incubation with a daily temperature cycle takes longer. It can happen that one embryo from a clutch takes up to 14 days longer to hatch than its clutch mates
Incubation temperature	28 - 33 °C
Trigger for reproduction	Mating begins directly after hibernation and is obviously triggered by the raising temperatures. When the sexes are kept separated the males should be active approximately two weeks earlier than the females. Under these conditions the females will be receptive for mating directly after hibernation. Unlike in other <i>Testudo</i> species, <i>T. horsfieldii</i> has no mating period in autumn. When keeping the sexes together year round keepers report unwillingness to copulate in their tortoise groups, but on the other hand mating injuries occur frequently in this species
Husbandry conditions	Sufficiently large outdoor enclosures with poor, friable soils, the tortoises are sensitive to high humidity conditions. If necessary, provide greenhouses or cold frames
Sex ratio at hatching	The pivotal temperature for a 1:1 hatching rate is not exactly known; it will be near 31 °C when incubating at constant temperatures. If incubation takes place with a more naturalistic daily temperature cycle (recommended!) the daytime temperature should raise to at least 33 °C to produce females. Humidity and CO2 concentration may impact the sexual development of the embryos, and perhaps even the nutrition status of both parents and the nesting date make a difference

Special aspects of the husbandry of this species	Separation of the sexes strongly recommended, the male should be introduced to the female for three weeks after hibernation. The males are aggressive among each other (in nature they are territorial) and the females are not always mutually compatible, too. Food should be low in proteins and high in fiber, and matching the natural growth cycle of the plants, which means much food in spring and a sparse feeding from late spring on, because otherwise the tortoises could get too fat and develop gout. Avoid mixed groups with other tortoise species. Quarantine: At least one year in strict separation is recommended, during this time repeated check for viruses is necessary, and also fecal analyses and perhaps deworming
Estimation of the frequency of captive reproduction	Rather common
Estimation of the difficulty of captive reproduction	Not difficult for well-informed keepers
Care of the young, technical and time effort	In well-structured outside enclosures with greenhouse / cold frame there is not much work for the keeper: Usual health check of the animals, changing the water and in spring giving additional food
Security measures necessary	No, but the tortoises are persistent excavators and agile climbers and they happen to sneak out of their enclosures, even getting quickly over high wire-mesh fences
Sperm storage	Yes, probably several years, but more information is lacking

References

BYKOVA, E., V. SOROCHINSKY, G. SOROCHINSKY, I. SOROCHINSKAYA & E. PEREGONTSEV (2013): Results of long-term studies of the Central Asian tortoise *Agrionemys horsfieldii* (GRAY, 1844) under conditions of captivity. Bulletin de la Société Herpétologique de France **145/146**: 169-187.

FRITZ, U., M. AUER, M. CHIRIKOVA, T. DUYSEBAYEVA, V. EREMCHENKO, H.G. KAMI, R.D. KASHKAROV, R. MASROOR, Y. MOODLEY, A. PINDRANI, P. ŠIROKÝ & A.K. HUNDSDÖRFER (2009): Mitochondrial diversity of the widespread Central Asian steppe tortoise (*Testudo horsfieldii* GRAY, 1844): implications for taxonomy and relocation of confiscated tortoises. Amphibia-Reptilia **30**(2): 245-257.

HENEN, B.T., K.A. NAGY, X. BONNET & F. LAGARDE (2002): Clutch size and fecundity of wild Horsfield's tortoises (*Testudo horsfieldii*): Time and body size effects. Chelonii **3**: 135-143.

JASSER-HÄGER, I. & A. WINTER (2007): Ergebnisse des Inkubationsprojektes für Landschildkröten von 2002 bis 2007. Radiata **16**(3): 2-39.

JOHNSTON, E.E., M.S. RAND & S.G. ZWEIFEL (2006): Detection of multiple paternity and sperm storage in a captive colony of the central Asian tortoise, *Testudo horsfieldii*. Canadian Journal of Zoology **84**(4): 520-526.

KAMI, H.G. (1999): On the biology of the Afghan Tortoise, *Testudo horsfieldii*, in north-eastern Iran (Reptilia, Testudines). Zoology in the Middle East **19**: 43-54.

KIRSCHE, W. (1971): Zur Pflege und Zucht der Steppenschildkröte, *Testudo horsfieldii* GRAY. Teil 1 - 4. Aquarien-Terrarien **18**(3): 84-86; **18**(4): 118-120; **18**(5): 158-160; **18**(6): 198-200.

LAGARDE, F., X. BONNET, B.T. HENEN, J. CORBIN, K.A. NAGY & G. NAULLEAU (2001): Sexual size dimorphism in steppe tortoises (*Testudo horsfieldi*): growth, maturity, and individual variation. Canadian Journal of Zoology **79**(8): 1433-1441.

LAGARDE, F., X. BONNET, B.T. HENEN, A. LEGRAND, J. CORBIN, K.A. NAGY & G. NAULLEAU (2003): Sex divergence in space utilisation in the steppe tortoise (*Testudo horsfieldi*). Canadian Journal of Zoology **81**(3): 380-387.

PEREGONTSEV, E. (2003): Horsfield's tortoise (Testudo (Agrionemys) horsfieldi GRAY, 1884) in Uzbekistan - its current status, conservation and sustainable use of the species. Chelonii **3**: 293-299.

RHODIN, A.G.J., J.B. IVERSON, R. BOUR, U. FRITZ, A. GEORGES, H.B. SHAFFER & P.P. VAN DIJK (2017): Turtles of the World: Annotated Checklist and Atlas of Taxonomy, Synonymy, Distribution, and Conservation Status (8th Ed.). In: RHODIN, A.G.J., J.B. IVERSON, P.P. VAN DIJK, R.A. SAUMURE, K.A., BUHLMANN, P.C.H. PRITCHARD & R.A. MITTERMEIER (Eds.). Conservation Biology of Freshwater Turtles and Tortoises: A Compilation Project of the IUCN/SSC Tortoise and Freshwater Turtle Specialist Group. Chelonian Research Monographs **7**: 1-292.

SMITH, L.O. & L. PORSCH (2015): Evaluation of the Costs and Impacts of Environmental Crime: CITES trade of the Horsfieldii Tortoise. This study was completed as part of the EFFACE project. Ecologic Institute, Berlin Germany, 27 pp.

TTFSG TORTOISE & FRESHWATER TURTLE SPECIALIST GROUP (1996): *Testudo horsfieldii*, Central Asian Tortoise. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species **1996**: e.T21651A9306759

A more comprehensive list of references can be found in the appendix.

Beate Pfau & Ronny Bakowskie

07.07.2019

Bibliography on Shinisaurus crocodilurus

AHL, E. (1930): Beiträge zur Lurch- und Kriechtierfauna Kwangsi's. Sitzungsberichte der Gesellschaft naturforschender Freunde vom 1. April 1930; Berlin: 310-332.

AULIYA, M., S. ALTHERR, D. ARIANO-SANCHEZ, E.H. BAARD, C. BROWN, R. BROWN, J.-C. CANTU, G. GENTILE, P. GILDENHUYS, E. HENNINGHEIM, J. HINZMANN, K. KANARI, M. KRVAVAC, M., LETTNIK, J. LIPPERT, L. LUISELLI, G. NILSON, T.Q. NGYEN, V. NIJMAN, J.F. PARHAM, S.A. PASACHNIK, M. PEDRONO, A. RAUHAUS, D.R. CORDOVA, M.-E. SANCHEZ, U. SCHEPP, M. VAN SCHINGEN, N. SCHNEEWEISS, G.H. SENGINAGBETO, R. SOMAWEERA, E. SY, O. TÜRKOZAN, S. VINKE, T. VINKE, R. VYAS, S. WILLIAMSON & T. ZIEGLER (2016): Trade in live reptiles, its impact on wild populations, and the role of the European market. Biological Conservation **204**(Part A): 103-119.

BEVER, G. S., C.J. BELL & J.A. MAISANO (2005): The Ossified Braincase and Cephalic Osteoderms of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* (Squamata, Shinisauridae). Palaeontologia Electronica **8**(4A): 36 pp. http://digimorph.org/specimens/Shinisaurus_crocodilurus/adult accessed on 26.09.2019.

BHULLAR, B.-A.S. (2011): The power and utility of morphological characters in systematics: a fully resolved phylogeny of *Xenosaurus* and its fossil relatives (Squamata: Anguimorpha). Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology **160**(3):65–181.

BÖHM, M., B. COLLEN, J.E.M. BAILLIE, P. BOWLES, J. CHANSON, N. COX, G. HAMMERSON, M. HOFFMANN, S.R. LIVINGSTONE, M. RAM, A.G.J. RHODIN, S.N. STUART, P.P. VAN DIJK, B.E. YOUNG, L.E. AFUANG, A. AGHASYAN, A. GARCÍA, C. AGUILAR, R. AJTIC, F. AKARSU, L.R.V. ALENCAR, A. ALLISON, N. ANANJEVA, S. ANDERSON, C. ANDRÉN, D. ARIANO-SÁNCHEZ, J.C. ARREDONDO, M. AULIYA, C.C. AUSTIN, A. AVCI, P.J. BAKER, A.F. BARRETO-LIMA, C.L. BARRIO-AMORÓS, D. BASU, M.F. BATES, A. BATISTELLA, A. BAUER, D. BENNETT, W. BÖHME, D. BROADLEY, R. BROWN, J. BURGESS, A. CAPTAIN, S. CARREIRA, M. DEL R. CASTAÑEDA, F. CASTRO, A. CATENAZZI, J.R. CEDEÑO-VÁZQUEZ, D.G. CHAPPLE, M. CHEYLAN, D.F. CISNEROS-HEREDIA, D. COGALNICEANU, H. COGGER, C. CORTI, G.C. COSTA, P.J. COUPER, T. COURTNEY, J. CRNOBRNJA-ISAILOVIC, P.-A. CROCHET, B. CROTHER, F. CRUZ, J.C. DALTRY, R.J.R. DANIELS, I. DAS, A. DE SILVA, A.C. DIESMOS, L. DIRKSEN, T.M. DOAN, C.K. DODD JR., J.S. DOODY, M.E. DORCAS, J. DUARTE DE BARROS FILHO, V.T. EGAN, E.H. EL MOUDEN, D. EMBERT, R.E. ESPINOZA, A. FALLABRINO, X. FENG, Z.-J. FENG, L. FITZGERALD, O. FLORES-VILLELA, F.G.R. FRANÇA, D. FROST, H. GADSDEN, T. GAMBLE, S.R. GANESH, M.A. GARCIA, J.E. GARCÍA-PÉREZ, J. GATUS, M. GAULKE, P. GENIEZ, A. GEORGES, J. GERLACH, S. GOLDBERG, J.C.T. GONZALEZ, D.J. GOWER, T. GRANT, E. GREENBAUM, C. GRIECO, P. GUO, A.M. HAMILTON, K. HARE, S.B. HEDGES, N. HEIDEMAN, C. HILTON-TAYLOR, R. HITCHMOUGH, B. HOLLINGSWORTH, M. HUTCHINSON, I. INEICH, J.B. IVERSON, F.M. JAKSIC, R. JENKINS, U. JOGER, R. JOSE, Y. KASKA, U. KAYA, J.S. KEOGH, G. KÖHLER, G. KUCHLING, Y. KUMLUTAŞ, A. KWET, E. LA MARCA, W. LAMAR, A. LANE, B. LARDNER, C. LATTA, G. LATTA, M. LAU, P. LAVIN, D. LAWSON, M. LEBRETON, E. LEHR, D. LIMPUS, N. LIPCZYNSKI, A.S. LOBO, M.A. LÓPEZ-LUNA, L. LUISELLI, V. LUKOSCHEK, M. LUNDBERG, P. LYMBERAKIS, R. MACEY, W.E. MAGNUSSON, D.L. MAHLER, A. MALHOTRA, J. MARIAUX, B. MARITZ, O.A.V. MARQUES, R. MÁRQUEZ, M. MARTINS, G. MASTERSON, J.A. MATEO, R. MATHEW, N. MATHEWS, G. MAYER, J.R. MCCRANIE, G.J. MEASEY, F. MENDOZA-QUIJANO, M. MENEGON, S. MÉTRAILLER, D.A. MILTON, C. MONTGOMERY, S.A.A. MORATO, T. MOTT, A. MUÑOZ-ALONSO, J. MURPHY, T.Q. NGUYEN, G. NILSON, C. NOGUEIRA, H. NÚÑEZ, N. ORLOV, H. OTA, J. OTTENWALDER, T. PAPENFUSS, S. PASACHNIK, P. PASSOS, O.S.G. PAUWELS, N. PÉREZ-BUITRAGO, V. PÉREZ-MELLADO, E.R. PIANKA, J. PLEGUEZUELOS, C. POLLOCK, P. PONCE-CAMPOS, R. POWELL, F. PUPIN, G.E. QUINTERO DÍAZ, R. RADDER, J. RAMER, A.R. RASMUSSEN, C. RAXWORTHY, R. REYNOLDS, N. RICHMAN, E.L. RICO, E. RISERVATO, G. RIVAS, P.L.B. DA ROCHA, M.-O. RÖDEL, L. RODRÍGUEZ SCHETTINO, W.M. ROOSENBURG, J.P. ROSS, R. SADEK, K. SANDERS, G. SANTOS-BARRERA, H.H. SCHLEICH, B.R. SCHMIDT, A. SCHMITZ, M. SHARIFI, G. SHEA, H.-T. SHI, R. SHINE, R. SINDACO, T. SLIMANI, R. SOMAWEERA, S. SPAWLS, P. STAFFORD, R. STUEBING, S. SWEET, E. SY, H.J. TEMPLE, M.F. TOGNELLI, K. TOLLEY, P.J. TOLSON, B. TUNIYEV, S. TUNIYEV, N. ÜZÜM, G. VAN BUURT, M. VAN SLUYS, A. VELASCO, M. VENCES, M. VESELÝ, S. VINKE, T. VINKE, G. VOGEL, M. VOGRIN, R.C. VOGT, O.R. WEARN, Y.L. WERNER, M.J. WHITING, T. WIEWANDT, J. WILKINSON, B. WILSON, S. WREN, T. ZAMIN, K. ZHOU & G. ZUG (2013): The conservation status of the world's reptiles. Biological Conservation **157**: 372-385.

CONRAD, J.L. (2004): Skull, mandible, and hyoid of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL (Squamata, Anguimorpha). Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society **141**(3): 399–434.

CONRAD, J. L. (2006a): An Eocene shinisaurid (Reptilia, Squamata) from Wyoming, U.S.A. Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology **26**(1): 113–126.

CONRAD, J.L. (2006b): Postcranial skeleton of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* (Squamata: Anguimorpha). Journal of Morphology **267**(7): 759-775.

CONRAD, J.L., J.J. HEAD & M.T. CARRANO (2014): Unusual Soft-Tissue Preservation of a Crocodile Lizard (Squamata, Shinisauria) From the Green River Formation (Eocene) and Shinisaur Relationships. Anatomical Record **297**(3): 545–559.

COSTELLI, J. & M.K. HECHT (1971): The postcranial osteology of the lizard *Shinisaurus*: the appendicular skeleton. Herpetologica **27**(1): 87–98.

FRESNO CHAFFEE ZOO (2007): North American Regional Studbook Chinese Crocodile Lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*). 64 pp.

GAO, J., Q. LI, Z. WANG, Y. ZHOU, P. MARTELLI, F. LI, Z. XIONG, J. WANG, H. YANG & G. ZHANG (2017): Sequencing, de novo assembling and annotating the genome of the endangered Chinese crocodile lizard *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. GigaScience **6**(7), 2017, 1–6.

GAO, K. & M. NORELL (1998): Taxonomic revision of Carusia (Reptilia: Squamata) from the Late Cretaceous of the Gobi Desert and phylogenetic relationships of anguimorphan lizards. American Museum Novitates **3230**: 1-51.

GOOKIN HODSKINS, L. (1998): Chinese Crocodile Lizard PMP (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*): 264–265 *In*: AZA - THE AMERICAN ZOO AND AQUARIUM ASSOCIATION (*ed*.): Annual report on conservation and science 1997-1998.

GRITIS, P. (1990): Observations on the lizard *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* in captivity. Herpetological Review **21**(4): 81-83.

GRYCHTA, U. (1993): *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL 1930 - Haltung, Ernährung, Geburt und neue Erkenntnisse über die Krokodilschwanzhöckerechse. Sauria **15**(1): 9-10.

HAAS, G. (1960): On the trigeminus muscles of the lizards *Xenosaurus grandis* and *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. American Museum Novitates **2017**: 1-54.

HECHT, M.K. & J. COSTELLI (1969): The postcranial osteology of the lizard *Shinisaurus*. 1. The vertebral Column. American Museum Novitates **2378**: 1-21.

HECHT, V.L., C.T. PHAM, T.T. NGUYEN, T.Q. NGUYEN, M. BONKOWSKI & T. ZIEGLER (2013): First report on the herpetofauna of Tay Yen Tu Nature Reserve, northeastern Vietnam. Biodiversity Journal **4**(4): 507-552.

HERPIN, D. & I. ZONDERVAN (2006): De *Shinisaurus* een geheimzinnige oosterling. Stichting Sauria, Den Haag Publicious.

HERPIN, D. & I. ZONDERVAN (2006): Der *Shinisaurus*. Der Geheimnisvolle aus dem Osten. Stichting Sauria, Den Haag Publicious.

HOFFMAN, E.G. (2000): Chinese Crocodile Lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) Information, Care, and Breeding. Reptiles Magazine **8**(4). http://www.reptilesmagazine.com/Lizard-Species/Complete-Chinese-Crocodile-Lizard/ accessed on 26.09.2019.

HU, Q., Y. JIANG & E. ZHAO (1984): A Study on the taxonomic status of *Shinisaurus* crocodilurus. Acta Herpetologica Sinica 3(1): 1-7.

HUANG, H., D. LUO, C. GUO, T. TANG, Z. WU & J. CHEN (2015): Genetic Analysis of Multiple Paternity in an Endangered Ovoviviparous Lizard *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. Asian Herpetological Research **6**(2): 150-155.

HUANG, C.M., H. YU, Z.J. WU, Y.B. LI, F.W. WEI & M.H. GONG (2008): Population and conservation strategies for the Chinese crocodile lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) in China. Animal Biodiversity and Conservation **31**(2): 63-70.

HUANG, H., H. WANG, L. LI, Z. WU & J. CHEN (2014). Genetic Diversity and Population Demography of the Chinese Crocodile Lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) in China. PLOS ONE **9**(3): e91570.

JIANG H.Y., L.B. LIN, M.W. HUANG, Y.A. ZANG & J.P. CHEN (2019): Genome sequence of *Morganella morganii* DG56-16, isolated from *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. Microbiology Resource Announcements **8**: e01301-18.

JIANG H.Y., J.E. MA, J. LI, X.J. ZHANG, L.M. LI, N. HE, H.Y. LIU, S.Y. LUO, Z.J. WU, R.C. HAN & J.P. CHEN (2017): Diets Alter the Gut Microbiome of Crocodile Lizards. Frontiers in Microbiology **8**: 2073.

JIANG H.Y., X. ZHANG, L. LI, J. MA, N. HE, H. LIU, R. HAN, H. LI, Z. WU & J. CHEN (2019): Identification of *Austwickia chelonae* as cause of cutaneous granuloma in endangered crocodile lizards using meta taxonomics. PeerJ **7**: e6574

KLEMBARA, J. (2008): A new anguimorph lizard form the Lower Miocene of north-west Bohemia, Czech Republic. Palaeontology **51**(1): 81–94.

KUDRAJAWTSEW, S.W. & D.B. WASILJEW (1991). Haltung und Zucht der Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechse *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL, 1930 im Moskauer Zoo Salamandra **27**(3): 219-221.

KUDRAJAWTSEW, S.W. & D.B. WASILJEW (1998) Reproduction of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL, 1930 at the Moscow Zoo. Russian Journal of Herpetology **5**(1), 15-16.

LANGERWERF, B. (2008): Shinisaurus Secrets. Reptiles 16(4): 40-46.

LANGERWERF, B. (2008): Three More Chinese Crocodile Lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) Secrets: Supplement to the April 2008 Reptiles magazine article "Shinisaurus Secrets".

LAU, M.W.N., G. ADES, N. GOODYER & F.S. ZOU (1996): Wildlife Trade in Southern China including Hong Kong and Macao, pp. 141-159. *In*: MACKINNON, J & S. WANG (eds.): Conserving China's Biodiversity, China Environmental Science Press. Beijing.

LEE, K.S., W.M.N. LAU & B.P.L. CHAN (2004): Wild animal trade monitoring at selected markets in Guangzhou and Shenzen, South China, 2000-2003. Kadoorie Farm & Botanic Garden Technical Report **2**, KFBG, Hong Kong SAR. 36 pp.

LONG, Q., Y. ZHANG, W. LIANG, P. SU, B. LUO & J. HUANG (2007): Monitoring earlier activities of released Chinese Crocodile Lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*). Sichuan Journal of Zoology **26**: 308-310.

LU, Z., Z. FANG, X. BANGJIE & L. YAOXING (2003): Discovery of imminent rare *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* in Zhaoping County, Guangxi Autonomous Region. Sichuan Journal of Zoology **2003**(2): 85-85.

MÄGDEFRAU, H. (1987): Zur Situation der Chinesischen Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechse, *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL 1930. Herpetofauna **9**(51): 6-11.

MÄGDEFRAU, H. (1997): Biologie, Haltung und Zucht der Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechse. Zeitschrift des Kölner Zoo **40**(2): 55-60.

MÄGDEFRAU, H. & B. SCHILDGER (1993): Neues von *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL, 1930. Herpetofauna **15**(87): 11-16.

Mo, Y.M. & Y. Zou (2000): The present situation and protection of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. Journal of Northeast Forestry University **28**(6) 121-122 (in Chinese).

NGUYEN, S.V., C.T. HO & T.Q. NGUYEN (2009): Herpetofauna of Vietnam. Chimaira, Frankfurt, 768 pp.

NGUYEN, T.Q., P. HAMILTON & T. ZIEGLER (2014): *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T57287221A57287235

NGUYEN, T.T., H.T. NGO, T.Q. NGUYEN, T. ZIEGLER, M. VAN SCHINGEN, V.T.H. NGUYEN & M.D. LE (2017): Application of microsatellite to population genetic study of the Crocodile lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL, 1930) in Vietnam. Tap Chi Khoa Hoc **33**: 100-108.

NING, J., C. HUANG, H. YU, D. DAI, Z. WU & Y. ZHONG (2006): Summer habitat characteristics of the Chinese Crocodile Lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) in the Loukeng Nature Reserve, Guangdong. Zoological Research **27**: 419-426.

QUYET, L.K. & T. ZIEGLER (2003): First record of the Chinese Crocodile Lizard from outside of China: Report on population of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL, 1930 from north-eastern Vietnam. Hamadryad **27**(2): 193-199.

RAY, J. M. & H.D. WALLEY (2003): A behavioral study on *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society **38**(1): 7-11.

REINHARDT, T., M. VAN SCHINGEN, H.S. WINDISCH, T.Q. NGUYEN, T. ZIEGLER & P. FINK (2018): Monitoring the loss: Detection of the semi-aquatic crocodile lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) in inaccessible habitats via environmental DNA. Aquatic Conservation **29**(3): 353-360.

Rogner, M. (2001): Zur Lebensweise, Haltung, Pflege und Vermehrung der Krokodilschwanzhöckerechse. Reptilia **6**(5): 55-61.

ROGNER, M. (2002): Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechse *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* ist eine für das Aquaterrarium gut geeignete Echse. Das Aquarium **400**: 67-72.

saczoo.org (ohne Jahr): Fact sheet – Chinese Crocodile Lizard *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. The Sacramento Zoological Society. Online Publication. https://www.saczoo.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/Chinese-Crocodile-Lizard-Factsheet.pdf
SHEN, L. & H. LI (1982): Notes on the distribution and habits of the lizard Shinisaurus crocodilurus AHL 1930. Acta Herpetologica Sinica, Chengdu, N.S. **1**: 84–85. [In Chinese. Translated by D.-T. Yang (1987) Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society, **22**(1): 4–5.]

SMITH, K.T. (2017): First crocodile-tailed lizard (Squamata: Pan-*Shinisaurus*) from the Paleogene of Europe. Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology **37**(3): e1313743

SNIDER, A. (2010): North American Regional Studbook for the Chinese Crocodile Lizard, *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*, 4th Edition. Fresno Chaffee Zoo.

SNIDER, A. (2012): AZA Regional Collection Plan Lizard Advisory Group Managed Population Accounts - Exhibit & Education - Yellow SSP- Shinisauridae: Crocodile Lizard, *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*.

SPRACKLAND, R.G. (1989a): The Chinese Crocodile Lizard. Tropical Fish Hobbyist **38**(2): 102-109.

SPRACKLAND, R.G. (1989b): An Enigmatic Dragon Brought to Light; The Chinese Crocodile Lizard in Captivity *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. The Vivarium **2**(2): 12-24.

SPRACKLAND, R.G. (1991): The Biology of the Chinese Crocodile Lizard in Captivity. NCHS Captive Propagation and Husbandry Conference. 45-52.

SPRACKLAND, R.G. (1996): The biology of the Chinese crocodile lizard in captivity. Reptilian **4**(2): 9-15.

UYEDA, L. (2011): Husbandry and Breeding of the Crocodile Lizard (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) at Woodland Park Zoo, Seattle, Washington, USA. Conference Paper.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., C.T. PHAM, H.T. AN, M. BERNARDES, V. HECHT, T.Q. NGUYEN, M. BONKOWSKI & T. ZIEGLER (2014): Current status of the crocodile lizard *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL, 1930 in Vietnam with implications for conservation measures. Revue Suisse de Zoologie **121**: 425-439.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., F. IHLOW, T.Q. NGUYEN, T. ZIEGLER, M. BONKOWSKI, Z. WU & D. RÖDDER (2014): Potential distribution and effectiveness of the protected area network for the crocodile lizard, *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* (Reptilia: Squamata: Sauria). Salamandra **50**(2): 71-76.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., C.T. PHAM, H.A. THI, T.Q. NGUYEN, M. BERNARDES, M. BONKOWSKI & T. ZIEGLER (2015): First Ecological Assessment of the Endangered Crocodile Lizard, *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*, AHL, 1930 in Vietnam: Microhabitat Characterization and Habitat Selection. Herpetological Conservation and Biology **10**(3): 948-958.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., U. SCHEPP, C.T. PHAM, T.Q. NGUYEN & T. ZIEGLER (2015): Last chance to see? Review on the threats to and use of the crocodile Lizard. TRAFFIC Bulletin **27**, 19-26.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., T. REINHARDT, T. ZIEGLER & P. FINK (2016): Nachweis von bedrohten Reptilienpopulationen in schlecht zugänglichem Habitat mittels "environmental DNA" (eDNA): Eine neue nicht-invasive Methode, etabliert und optimiert für die semiaquatische Krokodilschwanzechse (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) in den letzten Tieflandwäldern Vietnams. Terraria/Elaphe **2016**(3): 94-95.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., M.D. LE, H.T. NGO, C.T. PHAM, Q.Q. HA, T.Q. NGUYEN & T. ZIEGLER (2016): Is there more than one Crocodile Lizard? An Integrative Taxonomic Approach Reveals Vietnamese and Chinese *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* Represent Separate Conservation and Taxonomic Units. Der Zoologische Garten **85**(2): 240-260.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., Q.Q. HA, C.T. PHAM, T.Q. LE, Q.T. NGUYEN, M. BONKOWSKI & T. ZIEGLER (2016): Discovery of a new crocodile lizard population in Vietnam: Population trends, future prognoses and identification of key habitats for conservation. Revue Suisse de Zoologie **123**(2): 241-251.

VAN SCHINGEN, M., T. ZIEGLER, M. BONER, B. STREIT, T.Q. NGUYEN, V. CROOK & S. ZIEGLER (2016): Can isotope markers differentiate between wild and captive reptile populations? A case study based on crocodile lizards (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) from Vietnam. Global Ecology and Conservation **6**: 232.241.

VAN SCHINGEN, M. & F. BÖHMER (2018): Eignung der Fotodokumentation als Kennzeichnungsmethode für die Krokodilschwanzechse. ZGAP Mitteilungen **34**(2): 16-20.

VAN SCHINGEN, M. & T. REINHARDT (2018): Auf den Spuren der Krokodilschwanzechse (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) in den Tieflandwäldern Vietnams. Terraria-Elaphe **2018**(6): 64-67.

VISSER, G. (1989): Chinese krokodilstaarthagedissen (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) in Diergaarde Blijdorp. Lacerta **47**(4): 98-105.

WALLS, J.G. (1998): Shinisaurus: The Enigmatic Lizard. Reptile Hobbyist 4(4): 67-73.

WCS (2012): In Plain Sight: An Analysis of Transnational Wildlife Crimes in Quang Ninh Province, Viet Nam. Wildlife Conservation Society. Viet Nam Program, Hanoi, Vietnam.

WERMUTH, H. (1985): Who is who: Die Krokodischwanz-Höckerechse (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*). DATZ **38**(5): 235-236.

WILL, H., M. HOFFMANN & U.GRÄTZ (1999): Chronologischer Abriss der Haltung, Zucht und Aufzucht von Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechsen (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus*) im Zoo Dresden. Der Zoologische Garten **69**(2): 126-132.

WILKE, H. (1985a): Eingewöhnung, Haltung und Geburt der seltenen Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechsen, *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*, AHL, 1930. Sauria **7**(1): 3-4.

WILKE, H. (1985b): Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechsen im Vivarium Darmstadt. DATZ 38(5): 234.

WILKE, H. (1985c): Erfolgreiche Eingewöhnung von seltenen Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechsen im Vivarium, Darmstadts Tiergarten, gelungen. Herpetofauna **34**: 30.

WÖLFEL, H. (2003): Neuigkeiten von der Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechse *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* (AHL 1930). Elaphe N.F. **11**(1): 22-29.

WU, C. & Z. HUANG (1986): Morphological comparison of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* and *Xenosaurus grandis*. Sinozoologia **4**(4): 41-50 (Chinesisch, englische Übersetzung von W. Downs, (2000), Bilby Resarch Center, Northern Arizona University).

WU, Z., D.L. DAI, C. HUANG, H. YU, J. NING & Y. ZHONG (2007): Selection of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* on forest type in mountain streams in Luokeng Nature Reserve of Guangdong Province. Chinese Journal of Ecology **26**: 1777-1781.

YU, S., Z. WU, J. WANG, I. CHEN, C.M. HUANG & H. YU (2009): Courtship and mating behavior of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* bred in Luokeng Nature Reserve, Guangdong. Chinese Journal of Zoology **44**(5): 38-44.

ZANG Y.X. (1987): Threats and conservation of Crocodile Lizard in Yui Shan. Great Nature **4**: 18-19.

ZHANG Y. (1991): *Shinisaurus* – The Chinese Crocodilian Lizard (Osteology). China Forestry Publishing House: 9-18 (english translation by W. DOWNS, (2000), Bilby Resarch Center, Northern Arizona University).

ZHANG, Y. (2006): The reproduction of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* species of China and its reintroduction in the nature. China, Forestry Publishing House, Guilin.

ZHAO, E. & K. ADLER (1993): Herpetology of China. SSAR Contributions to Herpetology **10**: 1-522.

ZHAO, E., K. ZHAO & K. ZHUO (1999): Shinisauridae - A Major Project of the National Natural Science Foundation of China. Fauna Sinica **2**: 205-209.

ZHENCHANG, X.Z. (2002): Discovery of *Shinisaurus crocodilurus* in Guangdong Province. Chinese Journal of Zoology **2002**(5): 76-77.

ZIEGLER, S. (2016): Monitoring Lizards Part 2 - Pilot study testing the applicability of isotopic markers in scales to discriminate between captive and wild individuals. Final report for BfN funded project. TRAFFIC UK 17-39.

ZIEGLER, T., L.K. QUYET, V.N. THANH, R. HENDRIX & W. BÖHME (2008): A comparative study of crocodile lizards (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL 1930) from Vietnam and China. Raffles Bulletin of Zoology **56**(1): 181-187.

ZIEGLER, T. (2015): In situ and ex situ reptile projects of the Cologne Zoo: implications for research and conservation of South East Asia's herpetodiversity. International Zoo Yearbook **49**: 8-21.

ZIEGLER, T., A. RAUHAUS, F. MUTSCHMANN, P.H. DANG, C.T. PHAM & T.Q. NGUYEN (2015): Building up of keeping facilities and breeding projects for frogs, newts and lizards at the Me Linh Station for Biodiversity in northern Vietnam, including improvement of housing conditions for confiscated reptiles and primates. Der Zoologische Garten 85(3-4): 91-120.

ZIEGLER, T. & T.Q. NGUYEN (2016): The Vietnamese Crocodile Lizard Represents a Separate Taxonomic Unit: Implications for Conservation WAZA **3/16**: 35-36.

ZOLLWEG, M. (2010): Neues zur Geschlechtsbestimmung bei der Krokodilschwanzhöckerechse, *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. Reptilia **15**(85): 66-71.

ZOLLWEG, M. (2012): Erfolgreiches Projekt zum Schutz der Krokodilschwanz-Höckerechse in China. ZGAP Mitteilungen **28**.

ZOLLWEG, M. (2014): ESP Zuchtbuch / Zuchtprogramm Shinisaurus crocodilurus.

ZOLLWEG, M. (2015):"No news are good news" – keine Nachrichten sind gute Nachrichten. ZGAP Mitteilungen **31**.

ZOLLWEG, M. (2016): Anmerkungen zum erweiterten Schutzstatus (CITES Anhang I) für Krokodilschwanzechsen (*Shinisaurus crocodilurus* AHL, 1930) Sauria **38**(4): 32-40.

ZOLLWEG, M. & H. KÜHNE (2013): Krokodilschwanzechsen – *Shinisaurus crocodilurus*. Natur und Tier Verlag, Münster, 95 pp.

Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for Cyclanorbis elegans

BAKER, P.J., T. DIAGNE & L. LUISELLI (2015): *Cyclanorbis elegans* (GRAY 1869) – Nubian Flapshell Turtle. In: RHODIN, A.G.J., P.C.H. PRITCHARD, P.P. VAN DIJK, R.A. SAUMURE, K.A. BUHLMANN, J.B. IVERSON & R.A. MITTERMEIER (Eds.). Conservation Biology of Freshwater Turtles and Tortoises: A Compilation Project of the IUCN/SSC Tortoise and Freshwater Turtle Specialist Group. Chelonian Research Monographs **5**(8):089.1–7, doi:10.3854/crm.5.089.elegans.v1.2015, http://www.iucn-tftsg.org/cbftt/.

BAKER, P.J., L. LUISELLI & T. DIAGNE (2016): *Cyclanorbis elegans*, Nubian Flapshell Turtle. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T6004A3086539. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-2.RLTS.T6004A3086539.en.

BAWA, S. (2018): Population Status and Conservation of the Critically Endangered Nubian Flap-shell Turtle (*Cyclanorbis elegans*); Ghana. The Rufford Foundation Final Report. **20274**: 6 pp.

BOMBI, P., L. LUISELLI & M. D'AMEN (2011): When the method for mapping species matters: defining priority areas for conservation of African freshwater turtles. Diversity and Distributions **17**(4): 581 - 592.

BRANCH, W. (2008): Tortoises, Terrapins and Turtles of Africa. Cape Town, Struijk Publishers.

CHIRIO, L. & M. LEBRETON (2007): Atlas des Reptiles du Cameroun. Paris, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle.

DEMAYA, G.S., J.S. BENANSIO, T.F. LADO, T. DIAGNE, D. DENDI & L. LUISELLI (2019): The Rediscovery of *Cyclanorbis elegans* in South Sudan. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **18**(1): 62 - 67.

DEMAYA, G.S., J.S. BENANSIO, T.F. LADO, S.K. JUBARAH, J.L. C. LADU & L. LUISELLI (2019): Local Ecological Knowledge in South Sudan Can Help Conservation and Management of Cyclanorbis elegans. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **18**(2), in press.

FARKAS, B. (1999): *Cyclanorbis senegalensis* (DUMÉRIL & BIBRON, 1835), eine wenig bekannte Klappen-Weichschildkröte. Emys 6(4) 15-26

GRAMENTZ, D. (2008): African Flapshell Turtles: The Genera *Cyclanorbis* and *Cycloderma*. Frankfurt, Edition Chimaira.

HUGHES, B. (1979): Occurrence of the freshwater trionychid turtles *Cyclanorbis elegans* and *C. senegalensis* in Ghana. Bulletin de l'Institut français d'Afrique noire **41**: 193–205.

LOVERIDGE, A. & E.E. WILLIAMS (1957): Revision of the African tortoises and turtles of the suborder Cryptodira. Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology at Harvard College **115**: 163 - 557.

LUISELLI, L. (2009): A model assessing the conservation threats to freshwater turtles of Sub-Saharan Africa predicts urgent need for continental conservation planning Biodiversity and Conservation **18**(5): 1349 - 1360.

LUISELLI, L., F. CIVETTA, S. MASCIOLA, G. MILANA & G. AMORI (2012): Spatial turnover and knowledge gaps for African chelonians mirror those of African small mammals: conservation implications. Tropical Conservation Science **5**(3): 365 - 380.

LUISELLI, L., F. PETROZZI & G.C. AKANI (2013): Long-term comparison reveals trends in turtle trade in bushmeat markets of southern Nigeria (Testudines: Pelomedusidae, Testudinidae, Trionychidae). Herpetozoa **26**(1/2): 57 - 64.

MAZUCH, T., V. TRAILIN, U. FRITZ & M. VAMBERGER (2016): Senegal Flapshell Turtle (*Cyclanorbis senegalensis*) in Ethiopia (Testudines: Trionychidae). Amphibian and Reptile Conservation **10**(2): 1-5.

PRITCHARD, P.C.H. (2001): Observations on body size, sympatry, and niche divergence in softshell turtles (Trionychidae). Chelonian Conservation & Biology **4**(1): 5 - 27.

SEGNIAGBETO, H.G., R. BOUR, A. OHLER, A. DUBOIS, M.-O. RÖDEL, J.-F. TRAPE, J. FRETEY, F. PETROZZI & L. LUISELLI (2014): Turtles and Tortoises of Togo: Historical Data, Distribution, Ecology, and Conservation. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **13**(2): 152 - 165.

WEBB. R.G. (1975): Types of Two Names of African Softshell Turtles of the Genus Cyclanorbis (Testudines: Trionychidae). Herpetologica **31**(3): 348-350.

Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for *Cyclanorbis senegalensis*

AKANI, G.C., E.A. ENIANG, N. AMADI, D. DENDI, E.M. HEMA, T. DIAGNE, G.H. SÉGNIAGBETO, M. DI VITTORIO, S. BAWA GBEWAA, O.S G. PAUWELS, L. CHIRIO & L. LUISELLI (2018): Macrohabitat and microhabitat usage by two softshell turtles (*Trionyx triunguis* and *Cyclanorbis senegalensis*) in West & Central Africa. Herpetological Conservation & Biology **13**(3): 642-651.

BAKER, P.J. (2000): Ontogenetic changes in plastral callosities of the Senegal flapshell turtle, *Cyclanorbis senegalensis*. American Zoologist **40**(6): 934.

BOMBI, P., L. LUISELLI & M. D'AMEN (2011): When the method for mapping species matters: defining priority areas for conservation of African freshwater turtles. Diversity & Distributions **17**(4): 581-592.

BRANCH, B. (2008): Tortoises, Terrapins & Turtles of Africa. Cape Town, Struijk Publishers.

CHIRIO, L. & M. LEBRETON (2007): Atlas des Reptiles du Cameroun. Paris, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle.

DIAGNE, T., L. LUISELLI, J.-F. TRAPE, M-O. RÖDEL, P.J. BAKER, L. CHIRIO, F. PETROZZI & G. SEGNIAGBETO (2016): *Cyclanorbis senegalensis*, Senegal Flapshell Turtle. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species.

DIAGNE, T. & N. BOH (2011): TSA Africa: nuovo progetto di conservazione presso Tocc Tocc natural reserve-Lac de Guiers Senegal. Testudo Magazine **6**(21): 34-36.

FARKAS, B. (1999): *Cyclanorbis senegalensis* (DUMÉRIL & BIBRON, 1835), eine wenig bekannte Klappen-Weichschildkröte. Emys **6**(4): 15-26.

GRAMENTZ, D. (2008): African Flapshell Turtles: The Genera *Cyclanorbis* & *Cycloderma*. Frankfurt, Edition Chimaira.

HUGHES, B. (1979): Occurrence of the freshwater trionychid turtles *Cyclanorbis elegans* & *C. senegalensis* in Ghana. Bulletin de l'Institut français d'Afrique noire **41**: 193-205.

HUGHES, B. (1989): Longevity records of African captive amphibians & reptiles: Part 1. Introduction & species list 1-Amphibians & Chelonians. Journal of the Herpetological Association of Africa **32**(1): 1-9.

INEICH, I., L. CHIRIO, M. ASCANI, T. RABEIL & J. NEWBY (2014): Herpetofauna of Termit Massif & neighbour areas in Tenere Desert, southeastern Niger, West Africa. Herpetology Notes **7**: 375-390.

JOGER, U. (1981): Zur Herpetofaunistik Westafrikas. Bonner Zoologische Beiträge **32**(3/4): 297-340.

JOGER, U. & M.R.K. LAMBERT (1996): Analysis of the herpetofauna of the Republic of Mali, I. Annotated inventory, with description of a new Uromastyx (Sauria: Agamidae). Journal of African Zoology **110**: 21-51.

LUISELLI, L. (2009): A model assessing the conservation threats to freshwater turtles of Sub-Saharan Africa predicts urgent need for continental conservation planning Biodiversity & Conservation **18**(5): 1349-1360.

LUISELLI, L., F. CIVETTA, S. MASCIOLA, G. MILANA & G. AMORI (2012): Spatial turnover & knowledge gaps for African chelonians mirror those of African small mammals: conservation implications. Tropical Conservation Science **5**(3): 365-380.

MARAN, J. (2009): Nouvelles observations sur la distribution des tortues de la République du Bénin, de la Côte d'Ivoire et du Togo. Chéloniens **15**: 12-25.

MAZUCH, T., V. TRAILIN, U. FRITZ & M. VAMBERGER (2016): Senegal Flapshell Turtle (*Cyclanorbis senegalensis*) in Ethiopia (Testudines: Trionychidae). Amphibian & Reptile Conservation **10**(2): 1-5.

MINUTH, E. & U. THIEME (2004): Die Schildkrötenfauna Gambias. Marginata 1(4): 43-47.

NICKL, S. & S. SZYMANSKI (2017): Erste Erfahrungen bei der Aufzucht von Senegal-Klappenweichschildkröten (*Cyclanorbis senegalensis*) Marginata **14**(3): 36-39.

PRITCHARD, P.C.H. (2001): Observations on body size, sympatry, & niche divergence in softshell turtles (Trionychidae). Chelonian Conservation & Biology **4**(1): 5-27.

RIVAL, F. & J.H. DESROIS (1994): Cas clinique: Un cas de "septicémie cutanée ulcéreuse" chez deux tortues molles (*Cyclanorbis senegalensis*). Point Veterinaire **25**(156): 67-71.

RÖDEL, M.-O. & K. GRABOW (1995): Die Schildkröten und Krokodile des Comoè-Nationalparks, Elfenbeinküste (Reptilia: Testudines et Crocodylia). Faunistische Abhandlungen-Staatliches Museum für Tierkunde Dresden **20**(8): 133-144.

SEGNIAGBETO, G.H., F. PETROZZI, A. AÏDAM & L. LUISELLI (2013): Reptiles traded in the Fetish Market of Lomé, Togo (West Africa). Herpetological Conservation & Biology **8**(2): 400-408.

SEGNIAGBETO, G.H., K. AFIADEMAGNO, G.C. AKANI, F. PETROZZI & L. LUISELLI (2015): Sex ratio, size structure & morphometrics of turtle populations from Togo, West Africa (Testudines: Testudinidae, Pelomedusidae). Herpetozoa **28**(1/2): 29-38.

SEGNIAGBETO, G.H., R. BOUR, A. OHLER, A. DUBOIS, M.-O. RÖDEL, J. F. TRAPE, J. FRETEY, F. PETROZZI & L. LUISELLI (2014): Turtles & Tortoises of Togo: Historical Data, Distribution, Ecology, & Conservation. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **13**(2): 152-165.

WEBB, R.G. (1975): Types of Two Names of African Softshell Turtles of the Genus *Cyclanorbis* (Testudines: Trionychidae) Herpetologica **31**(3): 348-350.

Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for Cycloderma aubryi

BOMBI, P., L. LUISELLI & M. D'AMEN (2011): When the method for mapping species matters: defining priority areas for conservation of African freshwater turtles Diversity and Distributions **17**(4): 581-592.

BRANCH, W. (2008): Tortoises, Terrapins and Turtles of Africa. Cape Town, Struijk Publishers.

CARLINO, P. & O.S.G. PAUWELS (2015): An updated reptile list of Ivindo National Park, the herpetofaunal hotspot of Gabon. Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society **50**(3): 25-39.

CHIRIO, L., T. DIAGNE & O.S.G. PAUWELS (2017): *Cycloderma aubryi*, Aubry's Flapshell Turtle. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species.

CHIRIO, L. & M. LEBRETON (2007): Atlas des Reptiles du Cameroun. Paris, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle.

DIAGNE, T., F.B. ENGALENZIBO & M.M. KALISYA (2013): Turtle and tortoise surveys in the Democratic Republic of the Congo. Turtle Survival **2013**: 45-46.

GRAMENTZ, D. (1998): Zur Morphologie und Merkmalsvariation von *Cycloderma aubryi* (DUMÉRIL, 1856). Salamandra **34**(4): 333-348.

GRAMENTZ, D. (1998): Zur Prädation und Antiprädatorstrategie von *Cycloderma aubryi* (DUMÉRIL, 1856). Salamandra **34**(4): 349-358.

GRAMENTZ, D. (1999): Schwere Zeiten für Reptilien in Gabun. Elaphe N.F. 7(2): 57-61.

GRAMENTZ, D. (1999): Zur Ökologie von *Cycloderma aubryi* (DUMÉRIL, 1856) in Gabun. Salamandra **35**(3): 147-164.

GRAMENTZ, D. (2001): Zum Wachstum und Verhalten von *Cycloderma aubryi* (DUMÉRIL, 1856). Sauria **23**(1): 17-22.

GRAMENTZ, D. (2008): African Flapshell Turtles: The Genera *Cyclanorbis* and *Cycloderma*. Frankfurt, Edition Chimaira.

KÖHLER, G. & H. NIGL (2008): Die Rotrückige Klappen-Weichschildkröte (*Cycloderma aubryi*) - eine besondere Schönheit aus dem Kongo. Marginata **5**(3): 16-21.

LUISELLI, L. (2009): A model assessing the conservation threats to freshwater turtles of Sub-Saharan Africa predicts urgent need for continental conservation planning. Biodiversity and Conservation **18**(5): 1349-1360.

LUISELLI, L., F. CIVETTA, S. MASCIOLA, G. MILANA & G. AMORI (2012): Spatial turnover and knowledge gaps for African chelonians mirror those of African small mammals: conservation implications. Tropical Conservation Science **5**(3): 365-380.

MARAN, J. (2006): Beobachtungen an den kontinentalen Schildkröten Gabuns. Emys **13**(1): 5-26.

MARAN, J. (2006). Observations on Gabonese chelonians. Turtles. Proceedings: International Turtle & Tortoise Symposium Vienna 2002. Edition Chimaira. Frankfurt am Main, Andreas S. Brahm: 351-373.

MARAN, J. (2010): Nouvelles observations sur la distribution des tortues du Cameroun (Chelonii: Pelomedusidae, Trionychidae, Testudinidae). Chéloniens **14**: 16-32.

MARAN, J. & O.S.G. PAUWELS (2005): Etat des connaissances sur les tortues continentales du Gabon: distribution, ecologie et conservation. Bulletin de l'Institut Royal des Sciences Naturelles de Belgique Biologie **75**: 47-60.

MARAN, J. & O.S.G. PAUWELS (2007): Nouvelles observations sur la distribution des tortues de Centrafrique. Chéloniens 8: 24-38.

MARAN, J. & O.S.G. PAUWELS (2009): Nouvelles observations sur la distribution des tortues de la République du Congo (Chelonii: Pelomedusidae, Trionychidae & Testudinidae). Chéloniens **13**: 12-36.

PAUWELS, O.S.G. (2009): Les parcs nationaux au travers de leurs espèces. Les tortues d'eau douce et de forêt. Tendances & Infos Magazine **74**: 6.

PAUWELS, O.S.G., J.-L ALBERT, H. ARROWOOD, C. MVELE, M. CASANOVA, J.-B. DODANE, J. MORGAN, L. PRIMAULT, L. THEPENIER & J.N. FENNER (2017): Miscellanea Herpetologica Gabonica X. Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society **52**(8): 133-138.

PAUWELS, O.S.G., J.-F. GILLET, Y.G.O. SONNET & L. CHIRIO (2018): Miscellanea Herpetologica Gabonica XII. Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society **53**(5): 105-110.

PAUWELS, O.S.G. & J. MARAN (2007): Occurrence of tortoises and freshwater turtles (Pelomedusidae, Testudinidae, and Trionychidae) in the National Parks of Gabon - 2006 status of knowledge. Turtle and Tortoise Newsletter **10**: 21-26.

Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for Cycloderma frenatum

BOMBI, P., L. LUISELLI & M. D'AMEN (2011): When the method for mapping species matters: defining priority areas for conservation of African freshwater turtles. Diversity & Distributions **17**(4): 581-592.

BRANCH, W. (2008): Tortoises, Terrapins and Turtles of Africa. Cape Town, Struijk Publishers.

BRANCH, W. E.H.W. BAARD, W.D. HAACKE, N. JACOBSEN, J.C. POYNTON & D.G. BROADLEY (1988): A provisional & annotated checklist of the herpetofauna of southern africa. African Journal of Herpetology **34**(1): 1-19.

BRANCH, W., M.-O.RÖDEL & J. MARAIS (2005): Herpetological survey of the Niassa Game Reserve, northern Mozambique-Part I: Reptiles. Salamandra **41**(4): 195-214.

BROADLEY, D.G. (1990): The Zambezi flapshelled turtle or nkhazi (*Cycloderma frenatum*). Zimbabwe Science News **24**(10-12): 100-101.

BROADLEY, D.G. & W. SACHSSE (2011): *Cycloderma frenatum* PETERS 1854 – Zambezi Flapshell Turtle, Nkhazi. In: RHODIN, A.G.J., J.B. IVERSON, P.P. VAN DIJK, R.A. SAUMURE, K.A., BUHLMANN, P.C.H. PRITCHARD & R.A. MITTERMEIER (Eds.). Conservation Biology of Freshwater Turtles and Tortoises: A Compilation Project of the IUCN/SSC Tortoise and Freshwater Turtle Specialist Group. Chelonian Research Monographs 5(9):055.1–5.

FRITZ, U., F.-J. OBST & R. GÜNTHER (1994): Kritischer Typen-Katalog der Schildkrötensammlung (Reptilia: Testudines) des Zoologischen Museums Berlin. Mitteilungen aus dem Museum für Naturkunde in Berlin. Zoologisches Museum und Institut für Spezielle Zoologie (Berlin) **70**(1): 157-175.

GRAMENTZ, D. (2008): African Flapshell Turtles: The Genera *Cyclanorbis* & *Cycloderma*. Frankfurt, Edition Chimaira.

HAAGNER, G.V.& D.R. MORGAN (1991): *Cycloderma frenatum*, Zambesi soft-shelled terrapin - reproduction. Journal of the Herpetological Association of Africa **39**(1): 26-27.

JUBBER, W.R. & M. LEYENDECKER (2016): Distribution record of a xanthic Zambezi Flap-shelled Terrapin *Cycloderma frenatum* at the Rufiji River, Tanzania. Biodiversity Observations **7**(46): 1-6.

LOVERIDGE, A. (1942): Scientific results of a fourth expedition to forested areas in east & central Africa. IV. Reptiles. Bulletin of the Museum of Comparative Zoology at Harvard College **91**(4): 237-373.

LUISELLI, L. (2009): A model assessing the conservation threats to freshwater turtles of Sub-Saharan Africa predicts urgent need for continental conservation planning Biodiversity & Conservation **18**(5): 1349-1360.

LUISELLI, L., F. CIVETTA, S. MASCIOLA, G. MILANA & G. AMORI (2012): Spatial turnover & knowledge gaps for African chelonians mirror those of African small mammals: conservation implications. Tropical Conservation Science **5**(3): 365-380.

MITCHELL, B.L. (1959): Some notes on the Nkhasi-or Nyasa Soft-shelled turtle (*Cycloderma frenatum*). Journal of the Herpetological Association of Rhodesia **6**: 5-6.

SWEENEY, R.C.H. (1960): The chelonia of Nyasaland Protectorate. The Nyasaland Journal **13**(1): 35-50.

VAN DIJK, P.P. (2016): *Cycloderma frenatum*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T6009A3088072.

Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for *Rafetus euphraticus*

AL-BARWARI, S.E. & I. SAEED (2007): On the Helminth Fauna of Some Iraqi Reptiles. Türkiye Parazitoloji Dergisi **31**(4): 330-336.

ANDERSON, S.C. (1974): Preliminary Key to the Turtles, Lizards & Amphisbaenians of Iran. Fieldiana: Zoology **65**(4): 27-44.

AYAZ, D. & Y. BAYRAKÇI (2015): Gaziantep ili Fırat Kaplumbağası (*Rafetus euphraticus*) tür eylem planı (Species Action Plan of Euphrates turtle in Gaziantep) [In Turkish]. The Ministry of Water & Forestry, Gaziantep. Authority for the Conservation of Nature & National Parks: 34 pp.

BACHMANN, A., V. TICE, L.A. AL-OBEIDI & D.T. KILIÇ (2019): Tigris-Euphrates River Ecosystem: A Status Report. Mesopotamia Water Forum 2019. Sulaymaniyah, Kurdistan Region of Iraq.

BANNAI, M.A.A., E.T. MOHAMMAD, A.J. SHAMARY, K.A. AL-NAJJAR, F.M. AL-KHWAJA & M.A. ALDOGHACHI (2017): A contribution & pathology of *E.coli* & *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* bacterial infection on Soft shell turtle *Rafetus euphraticus* (Gray, 1864) East Hammar marshes, Iraq. Russian Journal of Parasitology **40**(2): 174-178.

BASOGLU, M. & I. BARAN (1972): A new record of *Trionyx euphraticus* (Trionychidae, Testudines) from Turkey. Scientific Reports of the Faculty of Science, Ege Üniversity, Izmir, **144**: 8 pp.

BERTHON, R. (2011): Animal exploitation in the Upper Tigris River valley (Turkey) between the 3rd & the 1st millennia BC. Dr. rer. Nat., Christian- Albrechts- Universität, Kiel.

BERTHON, R., Y.S. ERDAL, M. MASHKOUR & G. KOZBE (2016): Buried with turtles: the symbolic role of the Euphrates soft-shelled turtle (*Rafetus euphraticus*) in Mesopotamia. Antiquity **90**(349): 111-125.

BIRICIK, M. & Ş. TURĞA (2011): Description of an Euphrates Softshell Turtle (*Rafetus euphraticus*) nest from the Tigris River (SE Turkey). Salamandra **47**(2): 99-102.

BOUR, R., J.-L. MARTELLI & R. BOYER (2007): Catalogue des Collections de Reptiles du Muséum de Lyon (Musée des Confluences): Septième note: Chéloniens et Crocodiliens. Cahiers scientifiques-Muséum d'histoire naturelle de Lyon **14**: 85-115.

BUHLMANN, K.A., R. HUDSON & A.G.J. RHODIN (2002): TURTLE CONSERVATION FUND 2002. A Global Action Plan for Conservation of Tortoises & Freshwater Turtles. Strategy & Funding Prospectus 2002. Washington, DC, Conservation International & Chelonian Research Foundation: 30 pp.

ÇIÇEK, K. & O. CUMHURIYET (2017). Amphibians & Reptiles of the Mediterranean Basin. Mediterranean Identities-Environment, Society, Culture. Borna Fuerst-Bjelis, InTech: 203-237.

DAUDIN, F.M. (1802): Description of *Testudo euphratica* (= *Rafetus euphraticus*). Histoire Naturelle, Générale et Particulière des Reptiles; ouvrage faisant suit à l'Histoire naturell générale et particulière, composée par Leclerc de Buffon; et rédigee par C.S. Sonnini, membre de plusieurs sociétés savantes **2**: 305-308.

DOGU, Z., F. ARAL, E. ŞAHINÖZ & E. TAŞKAVAK (2015): Penile Prolapse in Euphrates soft-shelled turtle (*Rafetus euphraticus* DAUDIN, 1802). Ege Journal of Fisheries & Aquatic Sciences **32**(3): 169-172.

EISELT, J. (1976): Ergebnisse zoologischer Sammelreisen in der Türkei: Bemerkenswerte Funde von Reptilien, II. Annalen des Naturhistorischen Museums zu Wien **80**: 803-814.

EISELT, J. & F. SPITZENBERGER (1967): Ergebnisse zoologischer Sammelreisen in die Türkei: Testudines. Annalen des Naturhistorischen Museums zu Wien **70**: 357-378.

FAZAA, N.A., J.C. DUNN & M.J. WHITTINGHAM (2015): Status of Euphrates Soft-shelled Turtle *Rafetus euphraticus* in the Iraqi Central Marsh. International Conference on Latest Trends in Food, Biological & Ecological Sciences (ICLTFBE'15) Dubai (UAE): 44-49.

GHAFFARI, H., E. TAŞKAVAK & M. KARAMI (2008): Conservation Status of the Euphrates Softshell Turtle, *Rafetus euphraticus*, in Iran Chelonian Conservation & Biology **7**(2): 223-229.

GHAFFARI, H. (2011): Public awareness, education & research for protection Euphrates softshell turtle in Khuzestan province of Iran. The Rufford Foundation Final Report. **7916-1:** 6 pp.

GHAFFARI, H., M.V. PLUMMER, M. KARAMI, B. SAFAEI-MAHROO, F. AHMADZADEH & D. RÖDDER (2013): Notes on a Nest & Emergence of Hatchlings of the Euphrates Softshell Turtle (*Rafetus euphraticus*) at the Dez River, Iran. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **12**(2): 319-323.

GHAFFARI, H., F. IHLOW, M.V. PLUMMER, M. KARAMI, N. KHORASANI, B. SAFAEI-MAHROO & D. RÖDDER (2014): Home Range & Habitat Selection of the Endangered Euphrates Softshell Turtle *Rafetus euphraticus* in a Fragmented Habitat in Southwestern Iran. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **13**(2): 202-215.

GHAFFARI, H. (2016): Enhancing Community Participation in Euphrates Softshell Turtle Conservation. The Rufford Foundation Final Report. **17713-2:** 8 pp.

GHAFFARI, H., E. TAŞKAVAK, O. TÜRKOZAN & A. MOBARAKI (2017): *Rafetus euphraticus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2017.

GRAMENTZ, D. (1991): Beobachtungen an der Euphrat-Weichschildkröte *Trionyx euphraticus* (DAUDIN, 1802) in Ost-Anatolien. Salamandra **27**(1): 1-16.

GRAMENTZ, D. (1993): Vernichtung einer Population von *Rafetus euphraticus* am Oberlauf des Euphrat. Salamandra **29**(1): 86-89.

GRAMENTZ, D. (2009): Zum Wachstum verschiedener Weichschildkrötenarten in Menschenobhut. Radiata **18**(1): 28-44.

GRIEHL, K. (1981): Die Sonnenanbeter vom Euphrat. Sielmanns Tierwelt 5(1): 24-29.

IHLOW, F., H. GHAFFARI, M.V. PLUMMER, B. SAFAEI-MAHROO & D. RÖDDER (2013): Home range & habitat selection of *Rafetus euphraticus*. 11th Annual Symposium on the Conservation & Biology of Tortoises & Freshwater Turtles, St. Louis.

IHLOW, F., F. AHMADZADEH, H. GHAFFARI, T. HARTMANN, C. ETZBAUER & D. RÖDDER (2013): Where to move? Assessment of habitat suitability & effectiveness of reserves for future conservation planning of *Rafetus euphraticus*. 49th Annual Meeting of the German Society for Herpetology & Herpetoculture (DGHT), Bonn.

IHLOW, F., F. AHMADZADEH, H. GHAFFARI, E. TAŞKAVAK, , T. HARTMANN, C. ETZBAUER & D. RÖDDER (2014): Assessment of genetic structure, habitat suitability & effectiveness of reserves for future conservation planning of the Euphrates soft-shelled turtle *Rafetus euphraticus* (DAUDIN, 1802). Aquatic Conservation **24**: 831-840.

KARAMI, M., B. RIAZI, H. GHAFFARI & E. TAŞKAVAK (2006): The study of Mesopotamian Softshell turtle (*Rafetus euphraticus*) & its Habitat in Iran. Journal of Environmental Sciences & Technology **27**: 74.

KHADEMI, T.G. (2014): Study the biological status of two species of endangered turtles of Iran: Euphrates softshell turtle (*Refetus euphraticus*) & Hawksbill sea turtle (*Eretmochelys imbricata*). Journal of Middle East Applied Science & Technology (JMEAST) **12**(3): 350-354.

KINZELBACH, R. (1986): Recent records of the Nile Soft-shelled Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, & of the Euphrates Soft-shelled Turtle, *Trionyx euphraticus*,in the Middle East. Zoology in the Middle East **1**: 83-87.

MEYLAN, P.A. (1985): The phylogenetic relationships of soft-shelled turtles (family Trionychidae), University of Florida.

MOBARAKI, A. (2007): A short report on Mesopotamian soft-shell turtle *Rafetus euphraticus* (DAUDIN 1802) from Iran. Turtle Survival Alliance 2007 Annual Meeting.

MOBARAKI, A. (2011): Mesopotamian Softshell Turtles in Iran. Year of the Turtle News **2011**(3): 9.

MOBARAKI, A. & A. MOTA (2011): Mesopotamian Soft Shell Turtle (*Rafetus euphraticus*) the strangest turtle of the Middle East. Wildlife Middle East **5**(4): 6.

MOHAMMAD, M.K. (2016): Haematozoa of some Reptiles in the Middle of Iraq. Advances in Bioresearch **7**(3): 34-37.

NIAYESH, U. (2014): Chinese workers illegally hunt & eat rare turtle species in Iran. Trend News Agency **Feb. 4**.

OZTURK, M., U. KEBAPCI, S. GUCEL, E. CETIN & E. ALTUNDAG (2012): Biodiversity & land degradation in the lower Euphrates subregion of Turkey. Journal of Environmental Biology **33**: 311-323.

SAFAEI-MAHROO, B., H GHAFFARI, H. FAHIMI, S. BROOMAND, M. YAZDANIAN, E.N. MAJID, S.S.H. YOUSEFKHANI, E. REZAZADEH, M.S. HOSSEINZADEH, M: RAJABIZADEH, M. MAYASEKHI, A. MOTESHAREI, A. NADERI & S.M. KAZEMI (2015): The Herpetofauna of Iran: Checklist of Taxonomy, Distribution & Conservation Status. Asian Herpetological Research **6**(4): 257-290.

SALMAN, N.A. (2019): A Review of Southern Iraq Herpetofauna. Biological & Applied Environmental Research **3**(1): 61-71.

SIEBENROCK, F. (1913): Schildkröten aus Syrien und Mesopotamien. Annalen des k. k. naturhistorischen Hofmuseums **27**: 171-225.

STUMPEL, A., R. PODLOUCKY, K. CORBETT, C. ANDREN, A. BEA, G. NILSSON & M.E OLIVEIRA (1991): Threatened reptiles in Europe requiring special conservation measures. Proceedings of 6th Ordinary General Meeting, Budapest, Societas Europaea Herpetologica.

TAŞKAVAK, E. (1998): Comparative morphology of the Euphrates soft-shelled turtle, *Rafetus euphraticus* (DAUDIN, 1802) (Reptilia, Testudines) in Southeastern Anatolia Amphibia-Reptilia **19**(3): 281-291.

TAŞKAVAK, E. (1999): Cranial morphology of *Rafetus euphraticus* (DAUDIN, 1801) from Southeastern Anatolia. Amphibia-Reptilia **20**(1): 35-53.

TAŞKAVAK, E. (2007): The Euphrates Soft-shelled Turtle, *Rafetus euphraticus*, in the Tigris River & its Tributaries, Turkey: Two New Projects, Ilisu Dam & the Improvement of the Tigris Valley. Turtle Survival Alliance 2007 Annual Meeting.

TAŞKAVAK, E., M.K. ATATÜR, H. GHAFFARI & P.A. MEYLAN (2016). *Rafetus euphraticus* (DAUDIN 1801) – Euphrates Softshell Turtle. In: RHODIN, A.G.J., J.B. IVERSON, P.P. VAN DIJK, R.A. SAUMURE, K.A., BUHLMANN, P.C.H. PRITCHARD & R.A. MITTERMEIER (Eds.). Conservation Biology of Freshwater Turtles and Tortoises: A Compilation Project of the IUCN/SSC Tortoise and Freshwater Turtle Specialist Group. – Chelonian Research Monographs 5(9):098.1–11.

TAŞKAVAK, E. & M.K. ATATÜR (1996): Threats to survival of Euphrates soft-shelled turtle, (*Rafetus euphraticus* DAUDIN, 1802) in southeastern Anatolia. International Congress of Chelonian Conservation, Gonfaron, France, Editions SOPTOM.

TAŞKAVAK, E. & M.K. ATATÜR (1998): Distribution & Habitats of the Euphrates Softshell Turtle, *Rafetus euphraticus*, in Southeastern Anatolia, Turkey, with Observations on Biology & Factors Endangering its Survival. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **3**(1): 20-30.

TAŞKAVAK, E. & M. REIMANN (1998): Ein gigantisches Projekt und eine bedauernswerte Schildkröte. Fachmagazin Schildkröte **1**(2): 4-9.

TAŞKAVAK, E. & M. REIMANN (1998): A giant project & a miserable turtle. Reptilia GB **3**(June): 64-67.

TAŞKAVAK, E. & S.C. Akcinar (2005): Nouvelles menaces sur le statut déjà précaire du Trionyx de l'Euprate, *Rafetus euphraticus*. Manouria **8**(28): 12-16.

YOUSEFI, S., M. IZADIAN, T. VALINASSAB & N. KHERADPIR (2018): Observation & studying the morphometerical characteristics in Euphrates turtle. Journal of Wildlife & Biodiversity **2**(1): 12-18.

YOUSIF, U.H. (2014): Spatial & temporal distribution of *Rafetus euphraticus* & *Mauremys caspica caspica* at Basra Province, Southern Iraq. Amphibian & Reptile Conservation **9**(2): 10-16.

Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for *Trionyx triunguis*

AKANI, G.C., D. CAPIZZI & L. LUISELLI (2001): Diet of the softshell turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, in an Afrotropical forested region. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **4**(1): 200-201.

AKANI, G.C., E.A. ENIANG, N. AMADI, D. DENDI, E.M. HEMA, T. DIAGNE, G.H. SÉGNIAGBETO, M. DI VITTORIO, S. BAWA GBEWAA, O.S.G. PAUWELS, L. CHIRIO & L. LUISELLI (2018): Macrohabitat and microhabitat usage by two softshell turtles (*Trionyx triunguis* and *Cyclanorbis senegalensis*) in West and Central Africa. Herpetological Conservation and Biology **13**(3): 642-651.

AKÇINAR, S.C. & E. TAŞKAVAK (2017): Population size and structure of the African Softshell Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, in Dalaman, southwestern Turkey. Zoology in the Middle East **63**(3): 202-209.

AMER, S.A.M. & Y. KUMAZAWA (2009): Complete sequence of the mitochondrial genome of the endangered Nile soft-shelled turtle Trionyx triunguis. Egyptian Journal of Experimental Biology (Zoology) **5**: 43-50.

AULIYA, M., S. ALTHERR, D. ARIANO-SANCHEZ, E.H. BAARD, C. BROWN, R.M.BROWNE, J.-C. CANTU, G. GENTILE, P. GILDENHUYS, E. HENNINGHEIM, J. HINTZMANN, K. KANARI, M. KRVAVAC, M. LETTINK, J. LIPPERT, L. LUISELLI, G. NILSON, T.Q. NGUYEN, V. NIJMAN, J.F. PARHAM, S.A. PASACHNIK, M. PEDRONO, A. RAUHAUS, D.R. CÓRDOVA, M.-E. SANCHEZ, U. SCHEPP, M. VAN SCHINGEN, N. SCHNEEWEISS, G.H. SEGNIAGBETO, R. SOMAWEERA, E.Y. SY, O. TÜRKOZAN, S. VINKE, T. VINKE, R. VYAS, S. WILLIAMSON & T. ZIEGLER (2016): Trade in live reptiles, its impact on wild populations, and the role of the European market. Biological Conservation **204** (A: Advancing reptile conservation: Addressing knowledge gaps and mitigating key drivers of extinction risk): 103-119.

BOLAU, H. (1900): Die Dreiklauen-Schildkröte. Nerthus 2(43): 717-718.

BOMBI, P., L. LUISELLI & M. D'AMEN (2011): When the method for mapping species matters: defining priority areas for conservation of African freshwater turtles. Diversity and Distributions **17**(4): 581-592.

BOUSSAC, B. (2006): Eclosion de Trionyx du Nil Trionyx triunguis. Chéloniens 1: 10 - 11.

BRANCH, W. (2008): Tortoises, Terrapins and Turtles of Africa. Cape Town, Struijk Publishers.

BRANCH, W., E.H.W. BAARD, W.D. HAACKE, N. JACOBSEN, J.C. POYNTON & D.G. BROADLEY (1988): A provisional and annotated checklist of the herpetofauna of southern Africa. African Journal of Herpetology **34**(1): 1-19.

BURGHARDT, G.M., B. WARD & R. ROSSCOE (1996): Problem of reptile play: Environmental enrichment and play behavior in a captive Nile soft-shelled turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*. Zoo Biology **15**: 223-238.

CANDAN, O. (2018): The Nile Softshell Turtle (*Trionyx triunguis*): Nest parameters and a new nesting site. Süleyman Demirel Üniversitesi Eğirdir Su Ürünleri Fakültesi Dergisi **14**(4): 9 pp.

CARLINO, P., N. MSAYLEB, H. HAMZA & O.S.G. PAUWELS (2019): A New Record of the Nile Softshelled Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, in Lebanon. Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society **54**(5): 101-103.

CARLINO, P. & O.S.G. PAUWELS (2015): An updated reptile list of Ivindo National Park, the herpetofaunal hotspot of Gabon. Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society **50**(3): 25-39.

CARR, T. & N. CARR (1985): *Trionyx triunguis* (Nile softshell turtle). Habitat. Herpetological Review **16**(1): 30.

CHIRIO, L. & M. LEBRETON (2007): Atlas des Reptiles du Cameroun. Paris, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle.

ÇIÇEK, K. & O. CUMHURIYET (2017). Amphibians and Reptiles of the Mediterranean Basin. Mediterranean Identities - Environment, Society, Culture. Borna Fuerst-Bjelis, InTech: 203-237.

CORSINI-FOKA, M. & M. MASSETI (2008): On the oldest known record of the Nile Soft-shelled Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis* (FORSKAL, 1775), in the Eastern Aegean islands (Greece). Zoology in the Middle East **43**(1): 108-110.

DATHE, F. & O. CZUPALLA (1998): Bemerkenswertes Alter eines Afrikanischen Dreiklauers, *Trionyx triunguis* (FORSKÅL, 1775). Milu **9**(4): 402-404.

DAUM, W. (1970): Trionyx triunguis in Gefangenschaft. DATZ 23, 351.

DIAGNE, T. (2010): Tortoise and terrapin survey in Benin, West Africa. Turtle Survival **2010**: 36-39.

DOLEV, A. & A. PEREVOTLOTSKY (2004): The Red Book: Vertebrates in Israel. Israel Nature and Parks Authority, 318 pp.

Eiselt, J. (1976): Ergebnisse zoologischer Sammelreisen in der Türkei: Bemerkenswerte Funde von Reptilien, II. Annalen des Naturhistorischen Museums zu Wien **80**: 803-814.

ELLENA, I.., R. SINDACO, G. TESSA & M. FAVELLI (2008): Le testuggini acquatiche alloctone in Piemonte: distribuzione e proposte d'intervento [Non-native Freshwater Turtles in Piedmont: distribution and management]. Memorie della Società Italiana di Scienze Naturali e del Museo Civico di Storia Naturale di Milano **36**(1): 57.

FLOWER, S.S. (1933): Notes on the Recent Reptiles and Amphibians of Egypt, with a List of the Species recorded from that Kingdom. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London **103**(3): 735-851.

GIDIS, M., P.Q. SPINKS, E. ÇEVIK, Y. KASKA & H.B. SHAFFER (2010): Shallow genetic divergence indicates a Congo- Nile riverine connection for the softshell turtle *Trionyx triunguis*. Conservation Genetics **12**(2): 589-594.

GIDIS, M. & Y. KASKA (2004): Population size, reproductive ecology and heavy metal levels in eggshells of the Nile soft-shell turtle (*Trionyx triunguis*) around thermal Lake Kükürtlü (Sulphurous), Muğla-Turkey. Fresenius Environmental Bulletin **13**(5): 405-412.

GIRGIS, S. (1961): Aquatic respiration in the common nile turtle *Trionyx triunguis* (FORSKÅL). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology **3**(3): 206-217.

GRAMENTZ, D. (1990): Beobachtungen an der Afrikanischen Weichschildkröte *Trionyx triunguis* (FORSKÅL, 1775), in der Türkei. Herpetofauna **12**(67): 22-26.

GRAMENTZ, D. (1993): Beobachtungen und Untersuchungen zur Ethologie und Ökologie von *Trionyx triunguis* in West-Anatolien. Salamandra **29**(1): 16-43.

GRAMENTZ, D. (1994): Zur Thermoregulation von *Trionyx triunguis* am Kükürt Gölü in West-Anatolien. Salamandra **30**(2): 143-154.

GRAMENTZ, D. (2000): Zur Biologie von *Trionyx triunguis* (FORSKÅL, 1775) in Gabun. Sauria **22**(1): 19-24.

GRAMENTZ, D. (2009): Zum Wachstum verschiedener Weichschildkrötenarten in Menschenobhut. Radiata **18**(1): 28-44.

GREENBAUM, E. & J.L. CARR (2005): The Herpetofauna of Upper Niger National Park, Guinea, West Africa. Scientific Papers, Natural History Museum, The University of Kansas **37**: 1-21.

GRIFFIN, M. (2002): Annotated checklist and provisional conservation status of Namibian reptiles. Tech. Rpt. Sci. Ser. Windhoek, Namibia Wissenschaftliche Gesellschaft: 169 pp.

GRIFFIN, M. & A. CHANNING (1991). Wetland-associated reptiles and amphibians of Namibia - a national review. The status and conservation of wetlands in Namibia. R.E. Simmons, C.J. Brown and M. Griffin, Madoqua. **17**.

GÜÇLÜ, Ö., C. ULGER, O. TÜRKOZAN, R. GEMEL, M. REIMANN, Y. LEVY, S. ERGENE, A. H. UÇAR & C. AYMAK (2009): First Assessment of Mitochondrial DNA Diversity in the Endangered Nile Softshell Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, in the Mediterranean. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **8**(2): 222-226.

GÜÇLÜ, Ö., C. ULGER & O. TÜRKOZAN (2011): Genetic Variation of the Nile Soft-Shelled Turtle (*Trionyx triunguis*). International Journal of Molecular Sciences **12**(10): 6418-6431.

GÜÇLÜ, Ö., S.H. DURMUŞ, K. CANDAN, N. BEŞER, S. TÜRKYILMAZ, S. YERLI & B. BOZDOĞAN (2015): Development and characterization of new polymorphic microsatellite loci for *Trionyx triunguis* (Testudines: Trionychidae) in the Mediterranean Basin. Amphibia-Reptilia **36**(3): 318-324.

HERZ, M. & M. RUDOLPHI (2006): Die Schildkröten am Kükürt Gölü und im Dalyan Delta in der Türkei - eine Momentaufnahme. Radiata **15**(3): 19-32.

HRAOUI-BLOQUET, S., R.A. SADEK, R. SINDACO & A. VENCHI (2002): The herpetofauna of Lebanon: new data on distribution. Zoology in the Middle East **27**: 35-46.

ILGAZ, Ç. (2006): A Short Report on the Nile Soft-Shell Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis* (FORSKÅL, 1775), at Dalyan Beach, Turkey. Russian Journal of Herpetology **13**(1): 47-52.

JOGER, U. & M.R.K. LAMBERT (1996): Analysis of the herpetofauna of the Republic of Mali, I. Annotated inventory, with description of a new *Uromastyx* (Sauria: Agamidae). Journal of African Zoology **110**: 21-51.

KANTZ, H. (2017): Die Schildkröten der Südwesttürkei – ein Ausflug in die Herpetofauna der türkischen Südküste. Schildkröten im Fokus **14**(2): 14-21.

KASKA, Y., E. BAŞKALE, Y. KATILMIŞ, D. SÖZBILEN, Ç. SEZGIN, A.Y. CANDAN & F. POLAT (2017): Monitoring and Conservation of Sea Turtles (*Caretta caretta, Chelonia mydas*) and Soft-Shelled Nile Turtle (*Trionyx triunguis*) Populations within the Scope of Köyceğiz – Dalyan Specially Protected Area Monitoring Species and Habitat Project 2014, TC Çevre ve Şehircilik Bakanlığı.

KASKA, Y., D. SÖZBILEN, E. BAŞKALE, Y. KATILMIŞ & M. AZMAZ (2017): Monitoring and Conservation Studies on Nile Soft-Shelled Turtle (*Trionyx triunguis*) During 2016 Nesting Season on Dalaman and Dalyan Nesting Beaches, Turkey. 3rd International Symposium on EuroAsian Biodiversity, Minsk, Belarus.

KASPAREK, M. (1994): Die Nil-Weichschildkröte - eine stark bedrohte Reptilienart im Mittelmeergebiet. Herpetofauna **16**(89): 8-13.

KASPAREK, M. (1999): An assessment on the status of the Nile Soft-shelled turtle *Trionyx triunguis*) in Turkes with recommendations for conservation. BCG Testudo **5**(1): 40-52.

KASPAREK, M. (2000): Status of the Nile Soft-shelled Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, in Turkey: An assessment in the Çukurova Delta with Recommendations for Conservation Management, Report for the 20th Meeting of the Standing Committee of the Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and Natural Habitats (Bern Convention).

KASPAREK, M. (2001): Priorities for the Conservation of the Nile Soft-shelled Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, in the Mediterranean. BCG Testudo **5**(3): 49-59.

KASPAREK, M. (2001): Towards an Action Plan for the Conservation of the Nile soft-shelled turtle, *Trionyx triunguis* in the Mediterranean, Report to the 21st Meeting of the Standing Committee of the Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and Natural Habitats (Bern Convention): 10 pp.

KASPAREK, M. & R. KINZELBACH (1991): Distribution and bionomics of the Nile Soft-Shelled Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, in the Eastern Mediterranean. Zeitschrift für Angewandte Zoologie **78**: 137-159.

KATILMIŞ, Y. & R. URHAN (2007): Insects and mites infestation on eggs and hatchlings of the Nile Soft-shelled Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, in Kukurtlu Lake (Turkey). Zoology in the Middle East **40**: 39-44.

KELLER, M. (2005): Die Nil-Weichschildkröte, *Trionyx triunguis* in der Türkei - ein Überblick, Aktionsgemeinschaft Artenschutz: 7 pp.

KINZELBACH, R. (1986): Recent records of the Nile Soft-shelled Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, and of the Euphrates Soft-shelled Turtle, *Trionyx euphraticus*, in the Middle East. Zoology in the Middle East **1**: 83-87.

KRAUSE, M.A., G.M. BURGHARDT & A. LENTINI (1999): Improving the lives of captive reptiles: Object provisioning in Nile soft-shelled turtles (*Trionyx triunguis*). Laboratory Animal **28**(7): 38-41.

LANZA, B. & A. SASSI (1966): Le testuggini terrestri e d'acqua dolce della Somalia (Reptilia, Testudines). Monitore Zoologico Italiano **74**(Supplemento): 257-272.

LESHEM, A., A. AR & R.A. ACKERMAN (1991): Growth, Water, and Energy Metabolism of the Soft-Shelled Turtle (*Trionyx triunguis*) Embryo: Effects of Temperature. Physiological Zoology **64**(2): 568-594.

LESHEM, A. & R. DMI'EL (1986): Water loss from *Trionyx triunguis* eggs incubating in natural nests. Herpetological Journal **1**: 115-117.

LUISELLI, L., G.C. AKANI, E. POLITANO, E. ODEGBUNE & O. BELLO (2004): Dietary shifts of sympatric freshwater turtles in pristine and oil-polluted habitats of the Niger Delta, southern Nigeria. Herpetological Journal **14**(2): 57-64.

LUISELLI, L., G.C. AKANI& E. POLITANO (2006): Effects of habitat alteration caused by petrochemical activities and oil spills on the habitat use and interspecific relationships among four species of Afrotropical freshwater turtles. Biodiversity and Conservation **15**(11): 3751-3767.

LUISELLI, L. (2008): Linnaeus Fund Research Report: Assessing the home range and oviposition site selection in freshwater turtles from pristine and oil-polluted habitats in the Niger Delta, Nigeria. Turtle and Tortoise Newsletter **12**: 23-27.

LUISELLI, L. (2008): Linnaeus fund research report: Oil industry development and freshwater turtle conservation: comparing the diversity, abundance, and functioning of turtle communities inhabiting pristine habitats and oil-poluted areas in the Niger Delta, Nigeria. Turtle and Tortoise Newsletter **12**: 18-21.

LUISELLI, L. (2008): Resource partitioning in freshwater turtle communities: A null model metaanalysis of available data Acta Oecologica **34**(1): 80-88.

LUISELLI, L. (2009): A model assessing the conservation threats to freshwater turtles of Sub-Saharan Africa predicts urgent need for continental conservation planning Biodiversity and Conservation **18**(5): 1349-1360.

LUISELLI, L., F. CIVETTA, S. MASCIOLA, G. MILANA & G. AMORI (2012): Spatial turnover and knowledge gaps for African chelonians mirror those of African small mammals: conservation implications. Tropical Conservation Science **5**(3): 365-380.

LUISELLI, L., F. PETROZZI & G.C. AKANI (2013): Long-term comparison reveals trends in turtle trade in bushmeat markets of southern Nigeria (Testudines: Pelomedusidae, Testudinidae, Trionychidae). Herpetozoa **26**(1/2): 57-64.

LUISELLI, L. & G.C. AKANI (2003): An indirect assessment of the effects of oil pollution on the diversity and functioning of turtle communities in the Niger Delta, Nigeria. Animal Biodiversity and Conservation **26**(1): 57-65.

MARAN, J. (2006): Beobachtungen an den kontinentalen Schildkröten Gabuns. Emys **13**(1): 5-26.

MARAN, J. (2006): Die Schildkröten der Elfenbeinküste inklusive eines Berichtes von meiner Gefangennahme in Liberia. Radiata **15**(2): 3-20.

MARAN, J. (2006). Observations on Gabonese chelonians. Turtles. Proceedings: International Turtle & Tortoise Symposium Vienna 2002. Edition Chimaira. Frankfurt am Main, Andreas S. Brahm: 351 - 373.

MARAN, J. (2009): Nouvelles observations sur la distribution des tortues de la République du Bénin, de la Côte d'Ivoire et du Togo. Chéloniens **15**: 12-25.

MARAN, J. (2010): Nouvelles observations sur la distribution des tortues du Cameroun (Chelonii : Pelomedusidae, Trionychidae, Testudinidae). Chéloniens **14**: 16-32.

MARAN, J. & O.S.G. PAUWELS (2005): Etat des connaissances sur les tortues continentales du Gabon: distribution, ecologie et conservation. Bulletin de l'Institut Royal des Sciences Naturelles de Belgique Biologie **75**: 47-60.

MARAN, J. & O.S.G. PAUWELS (2009): Nouvelles observations sur la distribution des tortues de la République du Congo (Chelonii: Pelomedusidae, Trionychidae & Testudinidae). Chéloniens **13**: 12-36.

NADA, M. (2002): An Assessment of the Nile Soft-shelled Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, in the Nile Delta and its Lagoons BCG Testudo **5**(5): 22 - 29.

OGUNSOLA, J., R.E. ANTIA, B.O. EMIKPE & O.A. MORENIKEJI (2019): Audit of Captive Breeding in a University Zoo Facility in Nigeria: Challenges and Prospects. Veterinary Sciences: Research and Reviews **5**(1): 12-15.

OLIVEIRA, A.F.S., A.O. ROSSI, L.F.R. SILVA, M.C. LAU & R.E. BARRETO (2009): Play behaviour in nonhuman animals and the animal welfare issue Journal of Ethology **28**(1): 1-5.

PAUWELS, O.S.G. (2009): Les parcs nationaux au travers de leurs espèces. Les tortues d'eau douce et de forêt. Tendances & Infos Magazine **74**: 6.

PAUWELS, O.S.G., J.-L ALBERT, H. ARROWOOD, C. MVELE, M. CASANOVA, J.-B. DODANE, J. MORGAN, L. PRIMAULT, L. THEPENIER & J.N. FENNER (2017): Miscellanea Herpetologica Gabonica X. Bulletin of the Chicago Herpetological Society **52**(8): 133-138.

PAUWELS, O.S.G. & J. MARAN (2007): Occurrence of tortoises and freshwater turtles (Pelomedusidae, Testudinidae, and Trionychidae) in the National Parks of Gabon - 2006 status of knowledge. Turtle and Tortoise Newsletter **10**: 21-26.

PENRITH, M.J. (1971): *Trionyx triunguis* (FORSKÅL), a reptile new to the South West African Fauna. Madoqua **1**(3): 77-79.

PHILIPPEN, H.-D. (2010): Nilweichschildkröte *Trionyx triunguis*. Marginata **7**(4): 31 - 34.

PRITCHARD, P.C.H. (2001): Observations on body size, sympatry, and niche divergence in softshell turtles (Trionychidae). Chelonian Conservation & Biology **4**(1): 5-27.

RÖDEL, M.-O. (1990): Beitrag zur Kenntnis einiger kenianischer Schildkröten und ihrer Lebensräume. Sauria **12**: 25-28.

SCHLEICHER, A. (2006): Die Nilweichschildkröte *Trionyx triunguis* (FORSKÅL 1775). Testudo **15**(1): 19 - 22.

SEGNIAGBETO, H.G., R. BOUR, A. OHLER, A. DUBOIS, M.-O. RÖDEL, J.F. TRAPE, J. FRETEY, F. PETROZZI & L. LUISELLI (2014): Turtles and Tortoises of Togo: Historical Data, Distribution, Ecology, and Conservation. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **13**(2): 152-165.

SHANAS, U., M. GIDIS, Y. KASKA, Y. KIMALOV, O. ROSNER & R. BEN-SHLOMO (2012): The Nile Soft-shell Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, of Israel and Turkey: Two genetically indistinguishable populations? Zoology in the Middle East **57**: 61-68.

TAŞKAVAK, E., M.J. REIMANN & W.N. POLDER (1999): First record of the Nile soft-shelled turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, from Kos Island, Greece, with comments on its occurrence in the eastern Mediterranean. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **3**(3): 510.

TAŞKAVAK, E. (2007): Population structure of syntopic *Trionyx triunguis* and *Mauremys rivulata* in Dalaman, Mugla and some aspect of the *Trionyx triunguis*' subpopulation in Erdemli, Mersin. 1er Congrès méditerranéen d'herpétologie. Marrakech, Maroc.

TAŞKAVAK, E. & S.C. AKÇINAR (2008): Observation marine de la tortue à carapace molle du Nil, *Trionyx triunguis*. Chéloniens **9**: 18 - 24.

TAŞKAVAK, E. & S.C. AKÇINAR (2009): Marine records of the Nile soft-shelled turtle, *Trionyx triunguis* from Turkey. Marine Biodiversity Records **2**: e9.

THIEME, U. (2005): Herpetologische Beobachtungen im Dalyandelta. Reptilia **10**(4): 44-50.

TÜRKOZAN, O., C. ILGAZ & C. YILMAZ (2006): A short report on the Nile soft-shell turtle, *Trionyx triunguis* (FORSKAL 1775), at Dalyan Beach, Turkey. Russian Journal of Herpetology **13**(1): 47-52.

TÜRKOZAN, O. (2008): *Trionyx triunguis*, die Nil-Weichschildkröte. Reptilia **12**(6): 29-33.

Türkozan, O. (2008): Trionyx triunguis, the Nile Softshell turtle. Reptilia GB 14(55): 17-23.

VAN DER WINDEN, J., S. BOGAERTS, H. STRIJBOSCH & V. VAN DEN BERK (1994): The Nile Softshelled Turtle, *Trionyx triunguis*, in the Göksu Delta, Turkey. Zoology in the Middle East **10**(1): 57-62.

VAN DIJK, P.P., T. DIAGNE, L. LUISELLI, P.J. BAKER, O. TURKOZAN & E. TASKAVAK (2017): *Trionyx triunguis*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2017: e.T62256A96894956. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2017-3.RLTS.T62256A96894956.en.

VAN ZYL, B.J. (1991). Wetlands of the Cunene River. The status and conservation of wetlands in Namibia. Madoqua **17**: 125-128.

VENIZELOS, L. & M. KASPAREK (2006): *Trionyx triunguis*: The brackish water turtle that also lives in the Mediterranean Sea. 26th Annual Symposium on Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation.

VILLIERS, A. (1962): West african tortoises, turtles and terrapins. African Wildlife 16: 39-52.

Bibliography on natural history and reproduction for Testudo horsfieldii

ALTHERR, S. & D. FREYER (2000): Asian turtles are threatened by extinction. Turtle & Tortoise Newsletter **1**(1): 7-11.

ANDERSON, S.C. (1979): Synopsis of the turtles, crocodiles & amphisbaenians of Iran. Proceedings of the California Academy of Sciences **41**(22): 501-528.

ANSORGE, H., U. FRITZ, KH. TERBISH & S. SHAR (2012): "*Agrionemys horsfieldii terbishi*" or the two-faced Mongolian steppe tortoise. Erforschung biologischer Ressourcen der Mongolei **12**: 213-218.

ASADI, F., A. ROSTAMI, M. POURKABIR & A. SHAHRIARI (2007): Serum lipid & lipoprotein profile of Asian tortoise (*Agrionemys horsfieldi*) in prehibernation state. Comparative Clinical Pathology **16**(3): 193-195.

ATAEV, C.A. (1985): Reptiles of the autonomous republic of Turkmenistan (Translation by B. FARKAS 1997). Chelonian Conservation & Biology **2**(4): 627-634.

AUER, M. & M. HERZ (2007): Die Landschildkröten des Iran. Steppenschildkröten in Persien. Draco **32**: 56-60.

AULIYA, M. (2003): Hot trade in cool creatures. A review of the live reptile trade in the European Union in the 1990s with a focus on Germany. Brussels, Belgium, TRAFFIC Europe: 112 pp.

BAILEY, S.W. (1986): The status of Horsfield's tortoise *Agrionemys horsfieldii*, in the U.S.S.R. Testudo **2**(4), 54-59.

BAUR, M. & T. FRIZ (2009): Physiologie der Ruhephasen bei Reptilien, insbesondere Schildkröten. Teil 1: Winterruhe (Hibernation)-eine Literaturübersicht. Marginata **6**(4): 48-56.

BAUR, M. & T. FRIZ (2010): Physiologie von Ruhephasen bei Reptilien, insbesondere Schildkröten. Teil 2: Trockenruhe (Aestivation)- eine Literaturübersicht. Marginata **7**(2): 46-53.

BENDER, C. & K. HENLE (2007): Kennzeichnung von Landschildkröten der Gattung *Testudo*: Richtinien für die Fotodokumentation von Jungtieren- Kurzfassung. Elaphe N.F. **15**(1): 51-54.

BENYR, G. (2008): Animal welfare aspects associated with the marking of specimens of the genus *Testudo* with transponders [Tierschutzrelevante Aspekte der Markierung von Arten der Gattung *Testudo* mit Transpondern (Chelonia: Testudinidae)]. Herpetozoa **21**(1/2): 41-48.

BLAHAK, S. (2000): Erste Ergebnisse zum Vorkommen von *Mycoplasma agassizii* bei Landschildkröten. Tagung der AG ARK. Arbeitskreis Amphibien- und Reptilienkrankheiten der DGHT. Gießen.

BLAHAK, S. (2004): Herpesvirus im Schildkrötenbestand-was ist zu tun? Übertragungsprophylaxe und Desinfektion. Schildkröten im Fokus **1**(3): 17-20.

BLAHAK, S. & M. STEINER (2010): Epidemiological investigations into the persistence of antibodies against tortoise herpesvirus strains in the species *T. graeca, T. hermanni & T. horsfieldii*. Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Reptile & Amphibian Medicine 25-31.

BONDARENKO, D.A., U.H. ERGASHEV & T.A. NAJMUDINOV (2014): Contemporary state of the Central Asian tortoise *Agrionemys horsfieldii* (GRAY, 1844) populations, in southern Tajikistan. Bulletin of Moscow Society of Naturalists **119**(4): 19-29.

BONDARENKO, D.A. & E.A. PEREGONTSEV (2003): Perspectives of study & protection of Steppe tortoise in Usbekistan. Second Congrès International sur la Conservation des Chéloniens, Saly, Senegal, Editions Soptom.

BONDARENKO, D.A. & E.A. PEREGONTSEV (2006): Distribution of Horsfield's tortoise (*Agrionemys horsfieldi* GRAY, 1844) in Uzbekistan (Range, Regional & Landscape Distribution, Populations Density) [in Russian]. Current Studies in Herpetology **17**(3-4): 124-146.

BONDARENKO, D.A. & E.A. PEREGONTSEV (2006): Distribution of Horsfield's tortoise (*Agrionemys horsfieldi* GRAY, 1844) in virgin & anthropogenic landscapes of South Uzbekistan. Byulleten' Moskovskogo Obshchestva Ispytatelei Prirody Otdel Biologicheskii **111**(2): 10-17.

BONDARENKO, D.A. & E.A. PEREGONTSEV (2009): Peculiarities of landscape distribution of the Central Asian Tortoise, *Agrionemys horsfieldii*, in Iran. Zoology in the Middle East **48**: 49-62.

BONDARENKO, D.A. & E.A. PEREGONTSEV (2012): Results of Studying the Feeding of Central Asian Tortoise (*Agrionemys horsfieldii*). Russian Journal of Zoology **91**(11): 49-62.

BONDARENKO, D.A. & E.A. PEREGONTSEV (2018): Features of seasonal activity of central asian tortoise *Agrionemys horsfieldii* (GRAY, 1844) [in russ. with engl. summ.). Zoosociology of terrestrial vertebrates. Materials of the Conference dedicated to the 80th anniversary of birth of Professor Oleg Vilevich Mitropolskiy. Tashkent: 32-36.

BONDARENKO, D.A., E.A. PEREGONTSEV & G.B. MUKHTAR (2008): Current state of steppe tortoise (*Agrionemys horsfieldii* GRAY, 1844) populations in landscapes of southern Kazakhstan. Russian Journal of Ecology **39**(3): 210-215.

BONDARENKO, D.A., E.A. PEREGONTSEV & V.V. NERONOV (2011): Ecological & Geographical Feeding Peculiarities of the Central Asian Tortoise (*Agrionemys horsfieldii* GRAY, 1844) in Desert Landscapes. Russian Journal of Herpetology **18**(3): 175-184.

BONNET, X., F. LAGARDE, B.T. HENEN, J. CORBIN, K.A. NAGY, G. NAULLEAU, K. BALHOUL, O. CHASTEL, A. LEGRAND & R. CAMBAG (2001): Sexual dimorphism in steppe tortoises (*Testudo horsfieldii*): influence of the environment & sexual selection on body shape & mobility. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society **72**(3): 357-372.

BONNET, X., F. LAGARDE, D. CHARFALLOT, A. LEGRAND & J. CORBIN (2002): Population size, Sex ratio & catchability in Steppe tortoise (*Testudo horsfieldii*): Consequences for conservation concerns. Proceedings of the International Congress on Testudo Genus, 2001, Hyeres.

BORKIN, L.J., V. CHERLIN UND A.J. ZELLARIUS (1977): Einige Beobachtungen zur Ökologie von Landschildkröten. Aquarien-Terrarien **26**: 92-93.

BRAUN, E.M. (2014): Bemerkungen zur Vergesellschaftung verschiedener Arten der Europäischen Landschildkröten. Sacalia **12**(43): 39-42.

BRAUN, P. (1986): Abszesse bei der Vierzehen-Steppenschildkröte (*Agrionemys horsfieldii*). Elaphe **8**(3): 53.

BROSDA, A. (2011): Untersuchungen zur Infektion mit Oxyuren bei mediterranen Landschildkröten in menschlicher Obhut und ihr Einfluss auf die Entwicklung juveniler *Testudo graeca*. Doktor der Veterinärmedizin, Freie Universität Berlin.

BROWN, S. (2006): Rhododendron species intoxication in *Testudo* species tortoises. Veterinary Record **158**: 742.

BRUSHKO, Z.K. (1981): Données sur la reproduction de la tortue d'Asie-générale (*Testudo horsfieldii*) dans le sud du Lac Baikal (1). Bulletin de la Société Herpétologique de France **18**: 19-24.

BRUSHKO, Z.K. (1981): The reproductive cycle of Horsfield's terrapin (*Testudo horsfieldii*) males in Kazakhstan. Zoologiceskij Zhurnal **60**(3): 410-417.

BRUSHKO, Z.K. & R.A. KUBYKIN (1882): Horsfield's tortoise (*Agrionemys horsfieldi* GRAY, 1844) & the ways of its rational utilization in Kazakhstan. Vertebrata Hungarica **21**: 55-61.

BRUSHKO, Z.K. & R.A. KUBYKIN (1994): Antropogenic traumatism of the Middie-Asian tortoise in Kazakhstan. Selevina **1**: 82-83.

BYKOVA, E., V. SOROCHINSKY, G. SOROCHINSKY, I. SOROCHINSKAYA & E. PEREGONTSEV (2013): Results of long-term studies of the Central Asian tortoise *Agrionemys horsfieldii* (GRAY, 1844) under conditions of captivity [Résultats d'études à long terme sur la tortue centrasiatique *Agrionemys horsfieldii* (GRAY, 1844) en captivité]. Bulletin de la Société Herpétologique de France **145-146**: 169-187.

BYKOVA, E.V., V.G. SOROCHINSKY, A.V. GOLENKEVICH, E.A. PEREGONTSEV, I.N. SOROCHINSKAYA & G.YA. SOROCHINSKY (2007): Ranching as a Method of Conservation of the Wild Population of Horsfield's Tortoise, *Agrionemys horsfieldii*. Russian Journal of Herpetology **14**(3): 232-236.

BYKOVA, E.V., V.G. SOROCHINSKIY, G.YA. SOROCHINSKIY, I.N. SOROCHINSKAYA & E.A. PEREGONTSEV (2008): On the practical experience of the hatching & rearing of *Agrionemys* (*Testudo*) *horsfieldii* GRAY at the Zoocomplex in Uzbekistan. 6th World Congress of Herpetology. Manaus, Brazil.

BYKOVA, E.V., V.G. SOROCHINSKIY, G.YA. SOROCHINSKIY, I.N. SOROCHINSKAYA & E.A. PEREGONTSEV (2009): Some aspects of successful reproduction of tortoise *Agrionemys* (*Testudo*) *horsfieldii* (GRAY, 1844). Current Studies in Herpetology **9**(1/2): 3-11.

CHARFALLOT, D., A. LEGRAND, X. BONNET & F. LAGARDE (2002): Does body size influence access to females in *Testudo horsfieldii*? Proceedings of the International Congress on Testudo Genus, 2001, Hyeres.

CHKHIKVADZE, V.M., CH. ATAEV & S. SHAMMAKOV (2009): New taxons of Central Asian tortoises (Testudinidae: *Agrionemys bogdanovi* & *A. kazachstanica kutznetzovi*) [in russ. language with english translation]. Problems of Desert Development **2009**(1/2): 49-54.

DARVISH, J. & E. RASTEGAR-POUYANI (2012): Biodiversity Conservation of Reptiles & Mammals in the Khorasan Provinces, Northeast of Iran. Progress in Biological Sciences **2**(1): 95-105.

DAS, I. (1989): Asian land tortoises. Sanctuary Asia 9(4): 40-47.

DATHE, F. (1976): Beobachtung der Überwinterung einer Steppenschildkröte, *Agrionemys horsfieldii*, im Freiland. Aquarien-Terrarien 23 (11), 384.

D'CRUZE, N. & D.W. MACDONALD (2016): A review of global trends in CITES live wildlife confiscations. Nature Conservation **15**: 47-63.

DEVAUX, B. (2013): Flux, migration et commerce des tortues terrestres en Europe et zone méditerranéenne [Flow, migration & trade of tortoises in Europa & Mediterranean zone]. Bulletin de la Société Herpétologique de France **145-146**: 143-156.

DŁUGOSZ, J., M. RAWSKI, B. KIEROŃCZYK & D. JÓZEFIAK (2015): Wstępne badanie preferencji żywieniowych żółwi stepowych (*Testudo horsfieldii*) w warunkach chowu terraryjnego [Initial study on nutritional preferences of Russian tortoise (*Testudo horsfieldii*) in Captivity] Nauka Przyroda Technologie **9**(4): #60.

DOMENGE, A. (2003): *Agrionemys horsfieldii* (ou *Testudo horsfieldii*) la tortue des steppes. Manouria **6**(20): 5-12.

DOMENGE, A. (2007): La tortue des steppes Agrionemys horsfieldii. Chéloniens 8: 40-51.

EGGENSCHWILER, U. (1998): Die Vierzehenschildkröte (*Testudo horsfieldi*). SIGS-Merkblätter. Schildkröten Interessengemeinschaft Schweiz SIGS. **Blatt 9:** 1-3.

EGGENSCHWILER, U. (1998): Frühjahrserwachen europäischer Landschildkröten. Fachmagazin Schildkröte **1**(1): 52-54.

EGLIS, A. (1962): Tortoise behavior: A taxonomic adjunct. Herpetologica 18(1): 1-8.

EGRETZBERGER, G. (1994): Meine Erfahrungen bei der Haltung und Zucht von Agrionemys horsfieldii. Emys 1(1): 8-9.

EGRETZBERGER, G. (1995): Auslösen der Eiablage bei einer Vierzehenschildkröte, *Agrionemys horsfieldii*, durch Oxytocin. Emys **2**(3): 12.

FASS, U. (2016): Unerwarteter Fund von Naturbruten der Steppenschildkröten im Gehege. Schildkröten im Fokus **13**(2).

FASS, U. (2018): Die Steppenschildkröte *Agrionemys horsfieldii* (GRAY 1844). Schildkröten im Fokus **15**(1): 4-13.

FIDDES, M. (2014): Use of deslorelin implants to suppress testosterone production & aggression in male Horsfield's tortoises (*Testudo horsfieldii*). BSAVA Congress 2014. Birmingham, UK, British Small Animal Veterinary Association, Quedgeley, UK: 522.

FISCHER, S., K. STRUTZBERG-MINDER, G. MÜLLER & M. HOMUTH (2006): Molekularbiologische Diagnostik einer Herpesvirusinfektion bei einer juvenilen Vierzehenschildkröte (*Agrionemys horsfieldii*) mit Haut- und Lungenveränderungen. Berliner und Münchener Tierärztliche Wochenschrift **119**(1/2): 28-34.

FRITSCHE, D. & W. HEMPEL (1990): Haltung und Zucht von *Agrionemys horsfieldii*. Aquarien-Terrarien 1990(1,2), 24-27, 58-60.

FRITZ, C. & B. PFAU (2002): Pflege und Vermehrung der Steppen- oder Vierzehenschildkröte *Testudo horsfieldii*. Radiata **11**(4): 21-41.

FRITZ, U., M. AUER, M. CHIRIKOVA, T. DUYSEBAYEVA, V. EREMCHENKO, H.G. KAMI, R.D. KASHKAROV, R. MASROOR, Y. MOODLEY, A. PINDRANI, P. ŠIROKÝ & A.K. HUNDSDÖRFER (2009): Mitochondrial diversity of the widespread Central Asian steppe tortoise (*Testudo horsfieldii* GRAY, 1844): implications for taxonomy & relocation of confiscated tortoises Amphibia-Reptilia **30**(2): 245-257.

FRITZ, U. & M. CHEYLAN (2001). *Testudo* LINNAEUS, 1758-Eigentliche Landschildkröten. Handbuch der Reptilien und Amphibien Europas. Uwe Fritz. Wiebelsheim, Aula-Verlag. **Band 3 / IIIA** Schildkröten (Testudines) I (Bataguridae, Testudinidae, Emydidae): 113-124.

FROLOV, V.E. (1989): Seasonal & diurnal activity of the Central Asian tortoise *Agrionemys horsfieldi* in Turkmenia. 1st World Congr. Herpetol. Canterbury.

GIEBNER, I. (1976): Zuchterfolg bei der Steppenschildkröte. Aquarien-Terrarien 23 (11), 389.

GIEBNER, I. (1989): Pflege und Zucht der Steppenschildkröte (*Agrionemys horsfieldii*). Elaphe **11**(3): 42-46.

GODENZI, P. (2007): Chemische Kastration bei Europäischen Landschildkröten. Testudo **16**(4): 5-7.

GOŁAWSKA, O., M. ZAJĄC, A. MALUTA, P. PRISTAS, Ľ. HAMAROVÁ & D. WASYL (2019): Complex bacterial flora of imported pet tortoises deceased during quarantine: Another zoonotic threat? Comparative Immunology, Microbiology & Infectious Diseases **65**: 154-159.

GOLENKEVITCH, A.V., E. PEREGONTSEV, G.Y. SOROCHINSKIY, I.N. SOROCHINSKAYA & V.G. SOROCHINSKIY (2003): Some data on the Steppe tortoise ranching program in Uzbekistan. Second Congrès International sur la Conservation des Chéloniens, Saly, Senegal, Editions Soptom.

GRAY, John Edward (1873): Notes on tortoises. Annals & Magazine of Natural History **4**(11): 143-149.

GRIFFIN, C., D.R. REAVILL, B.A. STACY, A.L. CHILDRESS & J.F.X. WELLEHAN (2010): Cryptosporidiosis caused by two distinct species in Russian tortoises & a Pancake tortoise. Veterinary Parasitology **170**(1-2): 14-19.

HALLINGER, M.J., A. TAUBERT, C. HERMOSILLA & F. MUTSCHMANN (2018): Occurrence of healthcompromising protozoan & helminth infections in tortoises kept as pet animals in Germany. Parasites & Vectors **11**(1): 352 (312 pp.). HEMPEL, W. (1988): Haltung und Nachzucht bei *Agrionemys horsfieldi*. Die Schildkröte N.F. **2**(2): 12-19.

HEMPEL, W. (1988): Haltung und Nachzucht von Agrionemys horsfieldi. Elaphe **10**(2): 21-23.

HEMPEL, W. (1991): Agrionemys horsfieldii (GRAY). Sauria-Beilage Amph./Rept.-Kartei 213-216.

HENEN, B.T., K.A. NAGY, X. BONNET & F. LAGARDE (1999): Reproductive Output of Female Central Asian Tortoises (*Testudo horsfieldi*). Desert Tortoise Council Symposium. St. George, Utah. **24:** 44.

HENEN, B.T., K.A. NAGY, X. BONNET & F. LAGARDE (2002): Clutch size & fecundity of wild Horsfield's tortoises (*Testudo horsfieldii*): Time & body size effects. Proceedings of the International Congress on Testudo Genus, 2001, Hyeres.

HENEN, B.T. (2004): Capital & income breeding in two species of desert tortoise Transactions of the Royal Society of South Africa **59**(2): 65-71.

HENNIG, A. (2018): *Testudo horsfieldii* GRAY, 1844 Steppenschildkröte, Vierzehenschildkröte. Marginata **15**(2): 41-44.

HERSCHE, H. & M. BAUR (1998): Herpes-tatsächlich noch nie was davon gehört? Fachmagazin Schildkröte **1**(4): 50-52.

HERVAS, J., P.J. SANCHEZ-CORDON, L.F. DE CHACON, L. CARRASCO & J.C. GOMEZ-VILLAMANDOS (2002): Hepatitis associated with herpes viral infection in the tortoise (*Testudo horsfieldii*). Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series B: Zoonoses & Public Health **49**(2): 111-114.

HIGHFIELD, A.C. (1993): The Horsfield's tortoise: *Testudo horsfieldi* (GRAY) 1844-a brief review of it's biology, ecology & captive breeding. Tortoise Trust Newsletter 1993 / 2, 2-3.

HIGHFIELD, A.C. (1996): Practical Encyclopedia of Keeping & Breeding Tortoises & Freshwater Turtles. London, Carapace Press.

Hindle, A.R. (1987): Aspects of the behaviour of Agrionemys horsfieldii. Rephiberary 110.

HITSCHFELD, E., M. AUER & U. FRITZ (2008): Phalangeal formulae & ontogenetic variation of carpal morphology in *Testudo horsfieldii* & *T. hermanni*. Amphibia-Reptilia **29**(1): 93-99.

HOFER, W. (2014): Haltung und Zucht der Steppenschildkröte in der Alpenregion. Marginata **11**(4): 16-20.

HOLZ, A. (2007): Bestimmung hämatologischer und biochemischer Parameter bei der gesunden Europäischen Landschildkröte: *Testudo hermanni, Testudo graeca, Testudo marginata, Testudo horsfieldii,* Dissertation, Tierärztliche Hochschule Hannover.

HUVE, J. (1984): Nachzucht: Agrionemys horsfieldii. Die Schildkröte 1/84: 34-63; 42.

JAKUBOWICZ, G. (2002): Le commerce des tortues du genre *Testudo* en Belgique. Proceedings of the International Congress on Testudo Genus, 2001, Hyeres.

JASSER-HÄGER, I. & A. WINTER (2007): Ergebnisse des Inkubationsprojektes für Landschildkröten von 2002 bis 2007. Radiata **16**(3): 2-39.

JOHNSTON, E.E., M.S. RAND & S.G. ZWEIFEL (2006): Detection of multiple paternity & sperm storage in a captive colony of the central Asian tortoise, *Testudo horsfieldii*. Canadian Journal of Zoology **84**(4): 520-526.

JOISTEN, F. (2013): Vierzehenschildkröten (*Agrionemys h. horsfieldii*) in Nord-Afghanistan. Marginata **10**(2): 54-55.

JUNGNICKEL, J. (2007): Einige kurze Bemerkungen zu einem ungewöhnlich gefärbten Exemplar der Vierzehenschildkröte *Agrionemys horsfieldii*. Radiata **16**(3): 63.

KABISCH, K. (2001): Bastardisierung von *Testudo horsfieldii* GRAY, 1844 und *Testudo graeca ibera* PALLAS 1814. Sauria **23**(2): 7-11.

KAMI, H.G. (1999): On the biology of the Afghan Tortoise, *Testudo horsfieldii*, in north-eastern Iran (Reptilia, Testudines). Zoology in the Middle East **19**: 43-54.

KHAN, M.S. (2003): Checkliste und Bestimmungsschlüssel der Schildkröten und Krokodile Pakistans. Testudo **12**(4): 9-22.

KHAN, M.S. (2005): Bemerkungen zu Morphologie, Biologie und Verbreitung der Belutsch-Schildkröte (*Agrionemys horsfieldii baluchiorum* (ANNANDALE, 1906)) Marginata **2**(4): 36-42.

KHOZATSKY, L.I. & M. MLYNARSKI (1966): *Agrionemys*-nouveau genre de tortue terrestris (Testudinidae). Bulletin de l'Academie Polonaise des Sciences **14**(2): 123-125.

KIRSCHE, W. (1971): Zur Pflege und Zucht der Steppenschildkröte, *Testudo horsfieldii* GRAY. Teil 1-4. Aquarien-Terrarien 18.

KIRSCHE, W. (1979): The housing & regular breeding of Mediterranean tortoises. International Zoo Yearbook **19**(1): 42-49.

KIRSCHE, W. (1980): Conservation of tortoises by breeding. ASRA-Journal 1, 27-44.

KIRSCHE, W. (1984): Bastardierung von *Testudo horsfieldii* und *Testudo h. hermanni*. Amphibia-Reptilia **5**(3-4): 311-322.

KIRSCHE, W. (1986): Zucht von Landschildkröten und Artenschutz. Der Zoologische Garten **56**: 389-402.

KIRSCHE, W. (1993): Haltung und Nachzucht von Landschildkröten im Zusammenhang mit dem Natur- und Artenschutz. DATZ 46 (3), 172-178.

KIRSCHE, W. (1997): Die Landschildkröten Europas. Melle, Mergus Verlag.

KIRSCHEY, T. (1995): Pflege und Nachzucht der Steppenschildkröte. DATZ 48 (7), 450-451.

KORNMANN, C. (2001): Die Russische Steppenschildkröte. DATZ 54(9): 54-57.

KOTENBEUTEL, J. (1987): Zum Beitrag: "Zur Freilandüberwinterung von *Agrionemys horsfieldii*". Aquarien-Terrarien 34, 173.

KOTENKO, T. (2002): About species of true tortoises (Testudinidae) in Ukraine. Proceedings of the International Congress on Testudo Genus, 2001, Hyeres.

KUBYKIN, R.A. (1995): Population density of the Steppe tortoise in some regions of the Almaty & Taldyqorgan districts, Kazakhstan. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **1**(3): 235-237.

KUGI, G. & M. KAYOKO (1999): Pinworm Infection on Terrestrial Tortoises, *Testudo horsfieldi*. Journal of the Veterinary Medicine **941**: 985-988.

LAGARDE, F., X. BONNET, G. NAULLEAU, J. CORBIN, K. BALHOUL, J. LAURENT & R. CAMBAG (1999). Short annual activity period in *Testudo horsfieldii*: Consequences on daily displacements pp. 249-253. In: MIAUD, C. & R. GUYETANT (eds.): Current Studies in Herpetology. Le Bourget du Lac, SEH.

LAGARDE, F. (2001): Divergences sexuelles dans les stratégies d'histoire de vie de la tortue des steppes (*Testudo horsfieldi*). Thèse de doctorat, Université de La Rochelle.

LAGARDE, F., X. BONNET, B.T. HENEN, J. CORBIN, K.A. NAGY & G. NAULLEAU (2001): Sexual size dimorphism in steppe tortoises (*Testudo horsfieldi*): growth, maturity, & individual variation. Canadian Journal of Zoology **79**(8): 1433-1441.

LAGARDE, F., X. BONNET, K. NAGY, B.T. HENEN, J. CORBIN & G. NAULLEAU (2002): A short spring before a long jump: the ecological challenge to the steppe tortoise (*Testudo horsfieldi*). Canadian Journal of Zoology **80**(3): 493-502.

LAGARDE, F., J. CORBIN, X. BONNET, A. LEGRAND & D. CHARFALLOT (2002): Steppe tortoise feeding ecology. Proceedings of the International Congress on Testudo Genus, 2001, Hyeres.

LAGARDE, F., X. BONNET, J. CORBIN, B. HENEN, K. NAGY, B. MARDONOV & G. NAULLEAU (2003): Foraging behaviour & diet of an ectothermic herbivore: *Testudo horsfieldi*. Ecography **26**(2): 236-242.

LAGARDE, F., X. BONNET, B. HENEN, K. NAGY, J. CORBIN, A. LACROIX & C. TROUVE (2003): Plasma steroid & nutrient levels during the active season in wild *Testudo horsfieldi*. General & Comparative Endocrinology **134**(2): 139-146.

LAGARDE, F., X. BONNET, B. HENEN, A. LEGRAND, J. CORBIN, K. NAGY & G. NAULLEAU (2003): Sex divergence in space utilisation in the steppe tortoise (*Testudo horsfieldi*). Canadian Journal of Zoology **81**(3): 380-387.

LAMBERT, M.R.K. (1984): Threats to Mediterranean (West Palaearctic) tortoises & their effects on wild populations: an overview. Amphibia-Reptilia **5**(1): 5-15.

LAMBERT, M.R.K. (2002): Preliminary observations on the herpetofaunal diversity in the Almaty region, Southern Kazakhstan (September 1998). Herpetological Bulletin **79**: 7-13.

LANGE, H., W. HERBST, J. WIECHERT & T. SCHLIEßER (1989): Elektronenmikroskopischer Nachweis von Herpesviren bei einem Massensterben von griechischen Landschildkröten (*T. hermanni*) und Vierzehenschildkröten (*Agrionemys horsfieldii*) [Electron microscopic detection of herpesviruses in a mass death of Greek tortoises (*Testudo hermanni*) & four-toed turtles (*Agrionemys horsfieldii*)]. Tierärztliche Praxis **17**: 319-321.

LEGRAND, A., X. BONNET, F. LAGARDE, D. CHARFALLOT & J. CORBIN (2002): Movement patterns & homing behaviour of *Testudo horsfieldii*. Proceedings of the International Congress on Testudo Genus, 2001, Hyeres.

MAKKEV, V.M., A.T. BOZHANSKI & V.E. FROLOV (1986): Distribution of the Central Asian tortoise (*Agrionemys horsfieldi* GRAY, 1844) in the south of the Turkmen SSR. in: Rocek, Z. (ed.): Studies in Herpetology, Prague, pp. 711-712.

MARSCHANG, R., S. MCARTHUR & R. BÖHM (2003): Comparison of five different methods for the detection of herpesvirus infection in a group of *Testudo horsfieldii* in Great Britain. Proceedings of the Association of Reptile & Amphibian Veterinarians **2003**: 15-18.

MARSCHANG, R. E., M. GRAVENDYCK, & E. F. KALETA (1999): Evidence for a new herpesvirus serotype associated with stomatitis in Afghan Tortoises, *Testudo horsfieldii*. Proceedings of the 6th ARAV Conference, Columbus Ohio: 77-79.

MARTÍNEZ SILVESTRE, A. (2007): ¿En qué especies es peligroso juntar dos machos? Animaliados **3**(11): 14-15.

MATHES, K.A., A. HOLZ & M. FEHR (2006): Blutreferenzwerte in Deutschland gehaltener europäischer Landschildkroten (*Testudo spp.*) [Blood reference values of terrestrial tortoises (*Testudo spp.*) kept in Germany]. Tierarztliche Praxis. Ausgabe K, Kleintiere / Heimtiere **34**(4): 268-274.

MEYER DE ROJAS, G. (2018): Naturnahe Überwinterung. Europäischer Landschildkröten. Marginata **15**(1): 52-61.

MICHEL, S. & M. STÖCK (1996): Untersuchungen zu Populationsdichte und -struktur der Steppenschildkröte *Agrionemys horsfieldii* (GRAY, 1844) in der südlichen Kysyl-Kum (Usbekistan) (Reptilia: Testudines: Testudinidae). Zoologische Abhandlungen, Dresden **49**(4): 73-82.

MINTON, S.A. (1966): A contribution to the herpetology of west Pakistan. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History **134**(2): 29-184.

NESSING, R. (1972): Berichtigung zur Pflege der Steppenschildkröte, *Testudo horsfieldii*. Aquarien-Terrarien 19, 172-173.

NIETZKE, G. (1974): Testudo horsfieldii-Vierzehen-Landschildkröte. Das Aquarium 9, 169-170.

NÖLLERT, A. (1981): Zur Regenerationsfähigkeit der Carapaxschilder bei einer Agrionemys horsfieldii. Elaphe **3**(3): 41-42.

NOWAKIEWICZ, A., G. ZIÓŁKOWSKA, P. ZIĘBA, K. STĘPNIEWSKA & S. TOKARZEWSKI (2011): Russian tortoises (*Agrionemys horsfieldi*) as a potential reservoir for Salmonella spp. Research in Veterinary Science **92**(2): 187-190.

NURIDJANOV, A.S., E.V. VASHETKO, D.A. NURIDJANOV & T.V. ABDURAUPOV (2016): Central Asian Tortoise (*Agrionemys horsfieldii* Grey, 1844) in Uzbekistan: Distribution, Abundance, Conservation Measures & Sustainable Use. Tyumen State University Herald. Natural Resource Use & Ecology **2**(1): 132-140.

OBST, F.J. (1976): Ein Siamesischer Zwilling bei der Vierzehen-Landschildkröte. Aquarien-Terrarien **23**(5/6): 174-175.

OBST, F.J. (1988): Die Vierzehen- oder Steppenschildkröte (*Agrionemys horsfieldii*) - Beobachtungen aus Freileben und Terrarienpflege. DGHT-Jahrestagung 1988 in Hannover.

OBST, F.J. & W. MEUSEL (1974): Die Landschildkröten Europas. Neue Brehm-Bücherei 319.

PAWLEY, R. (1994): Herping in the former USSR. The Vivarium 6 (2), 30-37.

PENDRY, S. & C. ALLAN (2003): "Selling like hot cakes". An Investigation into the Trade in Tortoises in Great Britain. Cambridge, TRAFFIC International / Defra: 21 pp.

PEREGONTSEV, E. (2002): Horsfield's tortoise (*Testudo (Agrionemys) horsfieldi* GRAY, 1884) in Uzbekistan-its current status, conservation & sustainable use of the species. Proceedings of the International Congress on Testudo Genus, 2001, Hyeres.

PETZOLD, H.-G. (1975): *Testudo (=Agrionemys) horsfieldi*; Vierzehen- oder Steppenschildkröte. Aquarien-Terrarien.

PHILIPPEN, H. – D. (2007): Commercial tortoise farming in Eastern Europe. Turtle Survival Alliance 2007 Annual Meeting.

PHILIPPEN, H. – D. (2014): Neues über Steppenschildkröten. Marginata **11**(4): 10-15.

PIEH, A., U. FRITZ & R. BERGLAS (2002): New data on morphology, distribution & nomenclature of *Testudo graeca armeniaca* CHKHIKVADZE & BARKRADZE, 1991 (Reptilia: Testudines: Testudinidae). Faunistische Abhandlungen Dresden **22**(2): 229-345.

PUPINA, A., M. PUPINS & A. PUPINA (2015): The first & the updated records of 9 exotic turtle species & subspecies in Latvia & remarks on their threats to the native small northern populations of the European pond turtle *Emys orbicularis*. 5th International Symposium on *Emys orbicularis* & the other European freshwater turtles. Kiten, Bulgaria.

PUPINS, M. & A. PUPINA (2013): Finding of alien turtles species in Latvia. Symposium on freshwater turtles conservation. Oporto, Parque Biológico Gaia Portugal.

RHODIN, A.G.J. (1974): Pathological lithophagy in *Testudo horsfieldi*. Journal of Herpetology **8**(4): 385-386.

RICHTER, M. (2018): Haltung und Nachzucht der Steppenschildkröte Marginata 15(3): 32-41.

ROBERTS, T.J. (1975): A note on *Testudo horsfieldii* GRAY, the Afghan tortoise or Horsfield's four-toed tortoise. Journal of the Bombay Natural History Society **72**(1): 206-209.

SAFAEI-MAHROO, B., H. GHAFFARI, H. FAHIMI, S. BROOMAND, M. YAZDANIAN, E.N. MAJID, SE.S.H. YOUSEFKHANI, E. REZAZADEH, M.S. HOSSEINZADEH, R. NASRABADI, M. RAJABIZADEH, M. MAYASEKHI, A. MOTESHAREI, A. NADERI & S.M. KAZEMI (2015): The Herpetofauna of Iran:

Checklist of Taxonomy, Distribution & Conservation Status. Asian Herpetological Research **6**(4): 257-290.

SASSENBURG, L. (1993): Massentransport von Landschildkröten - ein Fallbericht. Verhandlungsbericht Erkrankungen der Zootiere **35**: 151-154.

SCHUSTER, K. (1988): Nachzucht von Agrionemys horsfieldi. Die Schildkröte N.F. 2 (2), 9-11.

SERGEEV, A. (1941): On the biology & reproduction of the steppe tortoise (*Testudo horsfieldii* GRAY). Zoologicheskii Zhurnal **20**: 118-134.

SHI, H. & SHE-KE XE (2005): Untersuchungen zu Ökologie und Schutzstatus von *Agrionemys horsfieldii* in China. Marginata **2**(2): 28-30.

SIKORSKI, R. (1995): Gelungene Nachzucht der Steppenschildkröte. DATZ 48 (4), 239-241.

SJÖKVIST, A. (1983): A contribution to the biology of captive *Testudo (Agrionemys) horsfieldi*. Testudo 2 (2), 37-39.

SMITH, L.O. & L. PORSCH (2015): Evaluation of the Costs & Impacts of Environmental Crime: CITES trade of the Horsfieldii Tortoise. EFFACE. Berlin Germany, Ecologic Institute.

SOLER, J., A. MARTÍNEZ-SILVESTRE, J. BUDÓ, X. CAPALLERAS & J.L. JUÁREZ (2010): Análisis de la presencia de tortugas terrestres alóctonas y autóctonas asilvestradas en Catalunya (NE España). Boletin de la Asociación Herpetológica Española **21**(63-68).

SOROCHINSKIY, G.YA., M.A. CHIRIKOVA, Z.K. BRUSHKO, D.A. BONDARENKO & O.I. TSARUK (2017): The Central Asian Tortoise (*Agrionemys horsfieldii* GRAY, 1844) in Uzbekistan: Species Conditions in the Region. Opinions. Tyumen State University Herald. Natural Resource Use & Ecology **3**(1).

SPERL, J.W.K. (1993): Karakum, die Wüste Turkmenistans. DATZ 46 (12), 790-791.

STALMAKOVA, V. A. (2005): An albino of Steppe Tortoise (*Agrionemys horsfieldii* (GRAY, 1844) with an unusual shell anomaly. Modern Herpetology **3/4**: 117-120.

STRAUB, J. (2002): Zur aeroben Bakterienflora von Kornea, Rachen und Kloake vor und nach der Winterruhe von Landschildkröten der Arten *Testudo (T.) hermanni, T. graeca, T. marginata* und *T. horsfieldii*. Dissertation, Veterinärmedizinische Fakultät der Universität Leipzig.

STUBBS, D. (1989). *Testudo horsfieldi*-Horsfield's tortoise. Pp. 37-38. In: SWINGLAND, I.R. & IM.W. KLEMENS (eds.): The Conservation Biology of Tortoises. Gland, Switzerland.

STUMPEL, J. (2007): Eineiige Zwillinge bei einer Steppenschildkröte (*Testudo horsfieldii*). Schildkröten im Fokus **4**(4): 21-23.

THEILE, S. (2002): Ranching und Aufzucht von *Testudo horsfieldii* in Usbekistan. Radiata **11**(4): 2-21.

TIPPMANN, H. (2000): Die europäischen und mediterranen Landschildkröten der Gattung *Testudo* und ihre Nachzucht. Grosses Schildkrötensymposium. 5. Jahrestagung der Schildkrötenfreunde Österreich, Salzburg, Natur und Tier Verlag.

TORNEDE, C. (2007): Untersuchungen zur Differenzierung von Herpesviren bei Landschildkröten durch Restriktionsendonukleasen, Serumneutralisationstest und PCR, Justus-Liebig-Universität

TOROPOVA, V.I., T. HARDER & H. FINKE (2007): Hoffnung für die Vierzehen-Steppenschildkröte Kirgisistans. Beschlagnahme und Wiederauswilderung durch den NABU. Marginata **4**(1): 48-50.

TTFSG TORTOISE & FRESHWATER TURTLE SPECIALIST GROUP (1996): *Testudo horsfieldii*, Central Asian Tortoise. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species **1996**: e.T21651A9306759.

TÜRKOZAN, O., A. ÖZDEMIR & F. KIREMIT (2008): International Testudo Trade. Chelonian Conservation & Biology **7**(2): 265-269.

VAN DIJK, P.P., B.L. STUART & A. G.J. RHODIN, *Eds.* (2000): Asian Turtle Trade. Chelonian Research Monographs.

VAN UHM, D.P. (2018). Wildlife & laundering: interaction between the under & upper world, pp. 197-214. In: SPAPENS, T., R. WHITE, D.P. VAN UHM & W. HUISMAN: Green Crimes & Dirty Money. London, Routledge, 274 pp.

VASHETKO, E.V., A.S. NURIDJANOV, A.A.F. KHODJAEV & Y.A. CHIKIN (2002): Resources of *Testudo horsfieldii* in Usbekistan. Proceedings of the International Congress on Testudo Genus, 2001, Hyeres.

VASILYEV, V.A., D.A. BONDARENKO, E.A. PEREGONTSEV, A.S. VORONOV, A.P. RYSKOV & S. K. SEMENOVA (2008): Polymorphism of the 12S rRNA gene & phylogeography of the Central Asian tortoises *Agrionemys horsfieldii* GRAY, 1844. Russian Journal of Genetics **44**(6): 682-685.

VASILYEV, V.A., A.V. KORSUNENKO, S.L. PERESHKOLNIK, L.F. MANAZAEVA, A.A. BANNIKOVA, D.A. BONDARENKO, E.A. PEREGONTSEV & S. K. SEMYENOVA (2014): Differentiation of Tortoises of the Genera *Testudo* & *Agrionemys* (Testudinidae) Based on the Polymorphism of Nuclear & Mitochondrial Markers. Russian Journal of Genetics **50**(10): 1060-1074.

VELENSKÁ, N. (2005): Haltung und Zucht von *Agrionemys horsfieldii kazachstanica* (CHKHIKVADZE, 1988) im Zimmerterrarium. Marginata **2**(2): 16-21.

VELENSKY, P. (2005): Erfahrungen in der Schildkrötensteppe Usbekistans. Marginata **2**(2): 22-27.

VELENSKY, P. (2014): Weitere Hinweise auf die morphologische Variabilität der Steppenschildkröte. Marginata **11**(2): 54-56.

VELENSKY, P. & N. VELENSKA (2014): Naturidentische Panzerproportionen und -formen bei der Aufzucht von Steppenschildkröten. Marginata **11**(4): 21-24.

VETTER, H. (2018): Britische Agenten und mongolische Rätsel Marginata 16(1): 44-51.

VINKE, S. & T. VINKE (1998): Die Steppenschildkröte Testudo (*Agrionemys*) horsfieldii) ist ein anspruchsvoller Pflegling. Das Aquarium **352**: 56-60.

VINKE, T. & S. VINKE (2010): Ergibt es auch heute noch einen Sinn, Schildkröten zu vermehren? Schildkröten im Fokus **7**(1): 30-34.

WEIER, H. (1988): Über die Haltung und Nachzucht von *Agrionemys horsfieldi*, sowie Anmerkungen zu einem merkwürdigen Legeverhalten. Die Schildkröte N.F. 2 (2), 4-8.

WERNER, C. & R. WERNER (1980): Zur Zucht der Vierzehen- oder Steppenschildkröte *Agrionemys horsfieldii*. Elaphe **2**(1): 9-10.

WIECHERT, J. (2000): Die mediterrane Landschildkröte in der tierärztlichen Praxis. Draco **2**: Mediterrane Landschildkröten: 60-71.

WILMS, T. (2004): Die Steppen-Schildkröte *Testudo horsfieldii*. Münster, Natur und Tier-Verlag GmbH.

WILMS, T. & B. LÖHR (2000): Hinweise zur Überwinterung mediterraner Landschildkröten. Draco **2**: Mediterrane Landschildkröten: 48-51.

WILMS, T. & B. LÖHR (2000): Zur Haltung und Vermehrung der Steppenschildkröte (*Testudo horsfieldii*, GRAY 1844). Draco **2:** Mediterrane Landschildkröten: 56-59.

WOOD, E.M. (2012): A Potential Enforcement Tool for Regulating Trade in Tortoises: Stable Isotope Analysis. Masters by Research in Biosciences, University of Exeter.

WRIGHT, J. (1985): The Horsfield's tortoise (*Testudo horsfieldii*). Testudo 2(3), 26-30.

WUSSOW, W. (1916): Meine Erfahrungen mit *Testudo horsfieldi*. Wochenschrift für Aquarienund Terrarienkunde **13**: 169-172.